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Barnes & Noble, Inc.

BAR N ES & N O B LE 2018 LE T T E R T O S H A R E H O LD E R S
Dear Shareholder:
Fiscal 2018 was a challenging, but important year for the Company. While we
made great progress in many areas of the business, we also laid the groundwork
for what will be a multi-year strategic plan. The plan will center on how to better
serve our customers, re-imagine our bookstores in the form of a smaller footprint and a return to our bookselling roots, with a greater emphasis on books.
As we look back over the year, in Fiscal 2018, our comparable store sales declined
5.4% and we generated EBITDA of $145 million, excluding non-recurring or
unusual charges. While we were disappointed in these results, we made signiﬁcant strides in Fiscal 2018 to improve our performance and lay the foundation for
continued improvement.
As a part of this eﬀort, we strengthened our leadership team with several key
hires including Tim Mantel, our new Chief Merchandising Oﬃcer, and Carl
Hauch, our Vice President of Stores. They along with the management team are
focused on improving sales trends and identifying cost eﬃciencies.
While declining retail traﬃc has been the primary cause for our sales declines,
we have done and are doing all that we can to improve areas within our control.
For example, we have implemented a new labor model to increase customer
engagement and reduce non-productive tasks, leading to an immediate
improvement in our conversion rates. We have also tested various enhancements to our Membership program that grew our Membership base by over half
a million members. Our Café team has done a great job implementing a number
of initiatives to grow our Café business, which has resulted in positive comps in
the back half of the year. We have also improved our omni-channel oﬀerings and
launched a ship-from-store program for BN.com orders, which has resulted in
quicker deliveries for our customers at a lower cost to the Company.
These are just a few of the initiatives that we are looking at to improve our
performance. We are all committed to driving these eﬀorts forward, and in Fiscal
2019 we will continue to work hard to achieve our plan. In short, we are doing
everything possible to get back to growth, and I feel optimistic that we will. On
behalf of the 23,000 booksellers who serve our customers in communities across
the country, thank you for your continued support.
Sincerely,

Leonard Riggio
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S ELECTED CONS OL IDATED FIN AN CIAL D ATA
The selected consolidated ﬁnancial data of Barnes & Noble, Inc. and its subsidiaries (collectively, the Company) set forth on
the following pages should be read in conjunction with the consolidated ﬁnancial statements and notes included elsewhere
in this report. The Company’s ﬁscal year is comprised of 52 or 53 weeks, ending on the Saturday closest to the last day of
April. The Statement of Operations Data for the 52 weeks ended April 28, 2018 (ﬁscal 2018), 52 weeks ended April 29, 2017
(ﬁscal 2017) and 52 weeks ended April 30, 2016 (ﬁscal 2016), and the Balance Sheet Data as of April 28, 2018 and April 29,
2017 are derived from, and are incorporated by reference to, audited consolidated ﬁnancial statements which are included
elsewhere in this report. The Statement of Operations Data for the 52 weeks ended May 2, 2015 (ﬁscal 2015) and 53 weeks
ended May 3, 2014 (ﬁscal 2014), the Balance Sheet Data as of April 30, 2016, May 2, 2015 and May 3, 2014 are derived from
audited consolidated ﬁnancial statements not included elsewhere in this report.
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FISCAL YEAR

Fiscal 2018

Fiscal 2017

Fiscal 2016

Fiscal 2015

Fiscal 2014

(In thousands, except per share data)
STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS DATA:

Sales
Barnes & Noble Retail

$ 3,575,614

3,784,655

4,028,614

4,108,243

4,295,140

NOOK

111,487

146,514

191,520

263,833

505,862

Eliminationa

(24,821)

(36,611)

(56,290)

(74,968)

(167,657)

Total sales

3,662,280

3,894,558

4,163,844

4,297,108

4,633,345

Cost of sales and occupancy

2,551,077

2,682,356

2,836,547

2,871,184

3,214,396

Gross proﬁt

1,111,203

1,212,202

1,327,297

1,425,924

1,418,949

Selling and administrative expenses

999,109

1,040,007

1,176,778

1,192,065

1,287,163

Depreciation and amortization

106,340

117,887

135,863

143,665

168,793

Goodwill impairment
Operating income (loss)
Interest expense, net and amortization
of deferred ﬁnancing feesb

—

—

—

—

54,308

14,656

90,194

(37,007)

9,837

7,509

8,770

17,678

29,122

(137,695)

46,799

5,886

72,516

(66,129)

(12,215)

24,776

(8,814)

39,644

13,011

(125,480)

22,023

14,700

32,872

(79,140)

—

—

(39,146)

3,724

31,872

$ (125,480)

22,023

(24,446)

36,596

(47,268)

$ (1.73)

0.30

0.05

0.15

(1.67)

Income (loss) before taxes
Income tax provision (beneﬁt)
Net income (loss) from continuing operations
Net income (loss) from discontinued operations
Net income (loss)

133,612
(127,858)

Basic income (loss) per common share:
Income (loss) from continuing operations
Income (loss) from discontinued operations
Basic income (loss) per common share

—

—

(0.54)

0.06

0.54

$ (1.73)

0.30

(0.49)

0.21

(1.12)

$ (1.73)

0.30

0.05

0.15

(1.67)

—

—

(0.54)

0.06

0.54

(1.73)

0.30

(0.49)

0.21

(1.12)

72,588

72,188

72,410

60,842

58,971

72,588

72,328

72,542

60,928

58,971

0.60

0.60

0.60

—

—

Diluted income (loss) per common share:
Income (loss) from continuing operations
Income (loss) from discontinued operations
Diluted income (loss) per common share

$

Weighted average common shares outstanding:
Basic
Diluted
Dividends declared per common share

$
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FISCAL YEAR

Fiscal 2018

Fiscal 2017

Fiscal 2016

Fiscal 2015

Fiscal 2014

630

633

640

648

661

(5.4)%

(6.3)%

(1.9)%

(5.8)%

(In thousands, except per share data)
OTHER OPERATING DATA:

Number of Barnes & Noble Retail stores
Comparable sales increase (decrease):
Barnes & Noble Retail store salesc
Capital expenditures

$

0.0%

87,651

96,258

94,274

94,805

96,728

Total assets — continuing operations

$ 1,749,568

1,932,921

2,012,782

2,045,104

2,270,649

Total assets — discontinued operations

$

—

—

—

1,067,327

1,122,071

Total liabilities — continuing operations

$ 1,337,585

1,358,610

1,409,272

1,347,384

1,798,649

Total liabilities — discontinued operations

$

—

—

—

379,630

357,180

Long-term debt

$ 158,700

64,900

47,200

—

—

Shareholders’ equity

$ 411,983

574,311

603,510

1,189,358

658,696

BALANCE SHEET DATA:

a Represents sales from NOOK to B&N Retail on a sell-through basis.
b Amounts for ﬁscal 2018, ﬁscal 2017, ﬁscal 2016, ﬁscal 2015 and ﬁscal 2014 are net of interest income of $0, $0, $0, $58 and $190, respectively.
c Comparable store sales increase (decrease) is calculated on a 52-week basis, including sales from stores that have been open for at least 15 months
and all eReader device revenue deferred in accordance with Accounting Standards Codiﬁcation 605-25, Revenue Recognition, Multiple-Element
Arrangements, and does not include sales from closed or relocated stores.
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M A NAGEM ENT’S DISCUS S ION AN D ANA LY S I S O F FI N A N C I A L C O N D I T I O N A N D R E S U LT S
OF OPERATION S
Barnes & Noble, Inc.’s (Barnes & Noble or the Company)
ﬁscal year is comprised of 52 or 53 weeks, ending on the
Saturday closest to the last day of April. As used in this section, “ﬁscal 2018” represents the 52 weeks ended April 28,
2018, “ﬁscal 2017” represents the 52 weeks ended April 29,
2017 and “ﬁscal 2016” represents the 52 weeks ended April
30, 2016.
GEN E RA L

Barnes & Noble, Inc., one of the nation’s largest
booksellers,1 provides customers a unique experience
across its multi-channel distribution platform. As of
April 28, 2018, the Company operates 630 bookstores in
50 states, maintains an eCommerce site, develops digital
reading products and operates NOOK, one of the largest
digital bookstores. Barnes & Noble is utilizing the strength
of its retail footprint in combination with its online and
digital businesses to provide an omni-channel experience for its customers, fulﬁlling its commitment to oﬀer
customers any book, anytime, anywhere and in any format.
Barnes & Noble Retail (B&N Retail) operates 630
retail bookstores, primarily under the Barnes & Noble
Booksellers® trade name, and includes the Company’s
eCommerce site. B&N Retail also includes Sterling
Publishing Co., Inc. (Sterling or Sterling Publishing), a
leader in general trade book publishing. The NOOK segment represents the Company’s digital business, oﬀering
digital books and magazines for sale and consumption
K® tabonline, NOOK
K®2 reading devices, co-branded NOOK
lets and reading software for iOS, Android and Windows.
As of April 28, 2018, the Company employed approximately
23,000 employees (8,000 full-time and 15,000 part-time
employees).
The Company’s principal business is the sale of trade books
(generally, hardcover and paperback titles), mass market
paperbacks (such as mystery, romance, science ﬁction and
other popular ﬁction), children’s books, eBooks and other
digital content, NOOK
K® and related accessories, bargain
books, magazines, gifts, café products and services, educational toys & games, music and movies direct to customers
1Based upon sales reported in trade publications and public ﬁlings.
2Any references to NOOK® include the Company’s NOOK® Tablet,

Samsung Galaxy Tab® A NOOK®, Samsung Galaxy Tab® S2 NOOK®,
Samsung Galaxy Tab® E NOOK® and NOOK GlowLightTM 3 devices,
each of which includes the trademark symbol (® or ™, as applicable)
even if a trademark symbol is not included.

through its bookstores or on www.barnesandnoble.com.
The Company oﬀers its customers a full suite of textbook
options (new, used, digital and rental).
SEGMEN TS

The Company identiﬁes its operating segments based on
the way the business is managed (focusing on the ﬁnancial
information distributed) and the manner in which the
chief operating decision maker interacts with other members of management and makes decisions on the allocation
of resources. The Company’s two operating segments are
B&N Retail and NOOK.
B&N Retail

This segment includes 630 bookstores as of April 28, 2018,
primarily under the Barnes & Noble Booksellers trade
name. These Barnes & Noble stores generally oﬀer a comprehensive trade book title base, a café, and departments
dedicated to Juvenile, Toys & Games, DVDs, Music & Vinyl,
Gift, Magazine, Bargain products and a dedicated NOOK
K®
area. The stores also oﬀer a calendar of ongoing events,
including author appearances and children’s activities. The
B&N Retail segment also includes the Company’s eCommerce website, www.barnesandnoble.com, and its publishing operation, Sterling Publishing.
Barnes & Noble stores range in size from 3,000 to 60,000
square feet depending upon market size, with an overall
average store size of 26,000 square feet. In ﬁscal 2018,
the Company reduced the Barnes & Noble store base by
approximately 135,000 square feet, bringing the total
square footage to 16.6 million square feet, a net reduction
of 0.8% from ﬁscal 2017.
Each Barnes & Noble store features an authoritative selection of books, ranging from 19,000 to 143,000 titles. The
comprehensive title selection is diverse and reﬂects local
interests and regional titles and authors’ works. Bestsellers
typically represent between approximately 4% and 6% of
Barnes & Noble store sales. Product Master, the Company’s
proprietary inventory management database, has approximately 19.6 million titles. It includes approximately 7.2
million active titles and provides each store with comprehensive title selections. By enhancing the Company’s existing merchandise replenishment systems, Product Master
allows the Company to achieve higher in-stock positions
and better productivity at the bookstore level through
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eﬃciencies in receiving, cashiering and returns processing. Complementing this extensive on-site selection, all
Barnes & Noble stores provide customers with access to
the millions of books available to online shoppers at www.
barnesandnoble.com by oﬀering an option to have the book
sent to the store or shipped directly to the customer.
Sterling Publishing

Sterling Publishing is a leading publisher of non-ﬁction
trade titles. Founded in 1949, Sterling publishes a wide
range of non-ﬁction and illustrated books and kits across a
variety of imprints, in categories such as health & wellness, music & popular culture, food & wine, crafts, puzzles
& games and history & current aﬀairs, as well as a large
children’s line. Sterling, with a solid backlist and robust
value publishing program, has a title base of approximately
15,000 print books and eBooks.In addition, Sterling also
distributes approximately 1,300 titles on behalf of client
publishers.

NOOK

This segment represents the Company’s digital business,
including the development and support of the Company’s
NOOK
K® product oﬀerings. The digital business includes
digital content such as eBooks, digital newsstand and
sales of NOOK
K® devices and accessories to B&N Retail. The
underlying strategy of the NOOK business is to oﬀer customers any digital book, newspaper or magazine, anytime,
on any device. The Company remains committed to delivering to customers the best digital bookstore experience,
providing easy access to Barnes & Noble’s expansive digital
collection of over three million eBooks, digital magazines
and newspapers, while rationalizing its existing cost structure. As part of this commitment, the Company partners
with Samsung to develop co-branded NOOK
K® tablets that
feature the award-winning Barnes & Noble digital reading
experience, while continuing to develop and oﬀer its own
K® Tablet.
black-and-white NOOK
K® eReaders and NOOK

R ESULTS OF O PER ATION S
Fiscal 2018

Fiscal 2017

Fiscal 2016

Sales (in thousands)

$3,662,280

3,894,558

4,163,844

Net Income (Loss) From Continuing Operations (in thousands)

$ (125,480)

22,023

14,700

Net Loss From Discontinued Operations (in thousands)

$

—

—

(39,146)

Net Income (Loss) (in thousands)

$ (125,480)

22,023

(24,446)

Diluted Income (Loss) Per Common Share From Continuing Operations

$

(1.73)

0.30

0.05

Diluted Loss Per Common Share From Discontinued Operations

$

—

—

(0.54)

Diluted Income (Loss) Per Common Share

$

(1.73)

0.30

(0.49)

(5.4)%

(6.3)%

0.0%

3

3

0

6

10

8

630

633

640

16.6

16.7

16.9

FISCAL YEAR

Comparable Sales Increase (Decrease)
Barnes & Noble Retail store salesa
STORES OPENED

Barnes & Noble Retail stores
STORES CLOSED

Barnes & Noble Retail stores
NUMBER OF STORES OPEN AT YEAR END

Barnes & Noble Retail stores
SQUARE FEET OF SELLING SPACE AT YEAR END (in millions)

Barnes & Noble Retail stores

a Comparable store sales increase (decrease) is calculated on a 52-week basis, including sales from stores that have been open for at least 15 months
and all eReader device revenue deferred in accordance with Accounting Standards Codiﬁcation (ASC) 605-25, Revenue Recognition, Multiple-Element
Arrangements, and does not include sales from closed or relocated stores.
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MANAGEMENT ’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPER ATIONS continued

The following table sets forth, for the periods indicated, the percentage relationship that certain items bear to total sales of
the Company:
FISCAL YEAR

Sales

Fiscal 2018

Fiscal 2017

Fiscal 2016

100.0%

100.0%

100.0%

Cost of sales and occupancy

69.7

68.9

68.1

Gross proﬁt

30.3

31.1

31.9

Selling and administrative expenses

27.3

26.7

28.3

Depreciation and amortization

2.9

3.0

3.3

Goodwill impairment

3.6

0.0

0.0

(3.5)

1.4

0.4

Operating income (loss)
Interest expense, net and amortization of deferred ﬁnancing fees

0.3

0.2

0.2

Income (loss) before taxes

(3.8)

1.2

0.1

Income tax provision (beneﬁt)

(0.3)

0.6

(0.2)

Net income (loss) from continuing operations

(3.4)

0.6

0.4

—

—

(0.9)

0.6%

(0.6)%

Net loss from discontinued operations
Net income (loss)
BUSI N E SS O VE RVI E W

Barnes & Noble has been experiencing declining sales
trends primarily due to lower store traﬃc. The Company
has been able to oﬀset some of the traﬃc decline through
its eﬀorts to increase conversion through higher customer
engagement. Additionally, the Company has been able to
partially mitigate the impact of the sales decline on proﬁt
levels through cost reductions. While the Company believes
it has lost share on its recent sales performance, it sees
opportunities in an industry that has become more stable.
To improve its performance, the Company has initiated a
strategic turnaround plan, focused on strengthening the
core business by enhancing the customer value proposition; improving proﬁtability through an aggressive expense
management program, which will be used to fund growth
initiatives; accelerating execution through simpliﬁcation; and innovating for the future, which will position the
Company for long-term growth.
To strengthen its core business, the Company is enhancing this customer value proposition by improving its
merchandise mix, enhancing the overall shopping experience, increasing the value of its Membership Program and
improving its omni-channel capabilities. The Company
will leverage the strength of its Barnes & Noble brand,
knowledgeable booksellers, vast book selection and retail
footprint to attract customers and grow sales.

(3.4)%

Merchandising initiatives are focused on increasing the
impact of promotional activities, narrowing product assortments, improving SKU productivity, improving inventory management processes, testing changes to existing
store layouts and remerchandising select business units
in stores. Additionally, the Company has created a new
business development team, which will introduce new
business categories that are complementary to its existing
businesses. The Company believes there is opportunity to
increase conversion through higher customer engagement
and by improving navigation and discovery throughout
the store, including a customer friendly and more intuitive organization of books and improved signage for easier
browsing within and across sections.
In-store events also drive traﬃc, reinforcing Barnes &
Noble as a destination where customers can meet, browse
and discover. The Company is also utilizing social media,
where booksellers communicate events, promotions and
new product oﬀerings with customers at the local level in
order to drive traﬃc.
The Company’s Membership Program provides the
Company with valuable data and insights into its customer
base, enabling the Company to better understand and market to its customers. Members are more productive than
non-members, as they spend more and visit more often.
The Company continues to test programs to grow sales to
both members and non-members, increase membership,
improve price perception and enhance its overall customer
value proposition.
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The Company is focused on simpliﬁcation throughout its
organization to create eﬃciencies and reinvest resources
to support sales growth. The Company is also committed to
right sizing its cost structure. At B&N Retail, the Company
has implemented a new labor model for its stores, which
allows Store Managers to adjust staﬀ up or down based
on the needs of the business, increase store productivity and streamline store operations. This action resulted
in the elimination of certain store positions. At NOOK,
the Company exited non-core businesses and outsourced
certain functions. NOOK expects to continue to re-calibrate
its cost structure commensurate with sales.
In addition to initiatives focused on growing sales through
its existing store base, the Company is innovating for the
future and is expecting to open smaller, newly designed
prototype stores later this year, which it believes could
foster sales growth in the future. The Company has also
created a Test & Learn pipeline process, through which it
is testing a number of new initiatives to improve future
performance.
52 WE E KS E N D E D A P R IL 28 , 2 0 1 8 C O M PA R E D WITH 5 2
WE E KS E N D E D A P R IL 29 , 2 0 1 7

The following tables summarize the Company’s results of
operations for the 52 weeks ended April 28, 2018 and 52
weeks ended April 29, 2017.
Sales

Dollars in thousands
B&N Retail
NOOK

52 Weeks Ended

52 Weeks Ended

April 28,
2018 % Total

April 29,
2017 % Total

$ 3,575,614
111,487

Elimination

(24,821)

Total Sales

$3,662,280

97.6% $3,784,655
3.0%

146,514

(0.7)%

(36,611)

100.0% $3,894,558

or 9.6%, on lower conversion rates, which were impacted
by reduced promotional activity and comparisons to the
prior year eBook settlement. B&N Retail also includes
third-party sales of Sterling Publishing Co., Inc.,
which increased by $3.8 million, or 10.6%, versus the
prior year. Gift card breakage increased $8.4 million
as redemptions continue to run lower than historical
patterns.
Of the $172.4 million decrease in comparable store sales,
book categories decreased sales by $83.0 million, or
4.0%, due primarily to declines in Juvenile, Trade and
Bargain titles, while non-book categories decreased
sales by $77.0 million, or 7.0%, primarily on Gift, Music
and DVD, partially oﬀset by increases in Toys & Games.
Comparable sales of NOOK
K® products at B&N Retail
stores decreased $12.4 million, or 33.6%, primarily
on lower device unit volume and lower average selling
prices.
• NOOK sales decreased $35.0 million, or 23.9%, to $111.5
million from $146.5 million during the same period one
year ago, and accounted for 3.0% of total Company sales.
Digital content sales decreased $21.4 million, or 20.1%,
compared to the prior year primarily on lower unit sales.
Device and accessories sales decreased $13.6 million,
or 34.0%, primarily on lower average selling prices and
lower unit sales.
• Elimination sales, which represent sales from NOOK to
B&N Retail on a sell-through basis, decreased $11.8 million, or 32.2%, versus the prior year. NOOK sales, net of
elimination, accounted for 2.4% of total Company sales.

97.2%
3.8%
(0.9)%
100.0%

The Company’s sales decreased $232.3 million, or 6.0%,
during ﬁscal 2018 to $3.662 billion from $3.895 billion
during ﬁscal 2017. The changes by segment are as follows:
• B&N Retail sales decreased $209.0 million, or 5.5%,
to $3.576 billion from $3.785 billion during the same
period one year ago, and accounted for 97.6% of total
Company sales. Comparable store sales decreased $172.4
million, or 5.4%, as compared to the prior year on lower
store traﬃc and comparisons to the prior year release of
Harry Potter and the Cursed Child. Closed stores decreased
sales by $31.3 million, while new stores increased sales
by $11.2 million. Online sales decreased $29.5 million,

In ﬁscal 2018, the Company opened three and closed six
Barnes & Noble stores, bringing its total number of B&N
Retail stores to 630, with 16.6 million square feet, in the 50
states.
Cost of Sales and Occupancy

Dollars in thousands
B&N Retail

52 Weeks Ended

52 Weeks Ended

April 28,
2018 % Sales

April 29,
2017 % Sales

$2,521,419

70.5% $2,636,113

69.7%

NOOK

54,479

48.9%

82,854

56.6%

Elimination

(24,821)

(22.3)%

(36,611)

(25.0)%

Total Cost of Sales and
Occupancy

$2,551,077

69.7% $2,682,356

68.9%

The Company’s cost of sales and occupancy includes costs
such as merchandise costs, distribution center costs
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MANAGEMENT ’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPER ATIONS continued

(including payroll, freight, supplies and other operating
expenses), rental expense, common area maintenance and
real estate taxes, partially oﬀset by landlord tenant allowances amortized over the life of the lease.
Cost of sales and occupancy decreased $131.3 million, or
4.9%, to $2.551 billion in ﬁscal 2018 from $2.682 billion
in ﬁscal 2017. Cost of sales and occupancy increased as a
percentage of sales to 69.7% in ﬁscal 2018 from 68.9% in
ﬁscal 2017. The changes by segment are as follows:
• B&N Retail cost of sales and occupancy increased as a
percentage of sales to 70.5% from 69.7%, or 85 basis
points, during the same period one year ago primarily
due to occupancy deleverage (60 basis points) and higher
markdowns to clear non-returnable merchandise (30
basis points). The remaining variance was attributable to
sales mix and the general timing of expenses.
• NOOK cost of sales and occupancy decreased as a percentage of sales to 48.9% from 56.6% during the same
period one year ago primarily on lower occupancy and
sales mix.
Gross Proﬁt

Dollars in thousands
B&N Retail
NOOK
Total Gross Proﬁt

52 Weeks Ended

52 Weeks Ended

April 28,
2018 % Sales

April 29,
2017 % Sales

$1,054,195
57,008
$1,111,203

29.5% $1,148,542

30.3%

65.8%

63,660

57.9%

30.3% $1,212,202

31.1%

The Company’s consolidated gross proﬁt decreased $101.0
million, or 8.3%, to $1.111 billion in ﬁscal 2018 from $1.212
billion in ﬁscal 2017. This change was due to the matters
discussed above.

• B&N Retail selling and administrative expenses
decreased $13.4 million as compared to prior year,
while increasing 110 basis points as a percentage of
sales to 26.4% from 25.3% for the year. The current
year included severance costs of $16.2 million (45 basis
points). The Company implemented a new labor model
for its stores, resulting in the elimination of certain store
positions. Unfavorable variances to the prior year also
included higher store payroll (25 basis points on store
sales) as sales deleverage and wage increases outpaced
productivity gains, higher employee beneﬁt costs (20
basis points) on increased medical claims and strategic
consulting costs (20 basis points). The remaining variance was attributable to sales deleverage and the general
timing of expenses.
• NOOK selling and administrative expenses decreased
$27.5 million as compared to the prior year, decreasing
as a percentage of sales to 61.7% from 73.7% during the
same period a year ago. The prior year included severance and transitional costs of $10.7 million related to the
outsourcing of certain services and the closure of NOOK’s
California and Taiwan oﬃces. Excluding these costs, the
decrease in dollars was primarily attributable to continued cost rationalization eﬀorts, as well as lower variable
costs on the sales decline. The current year also includes
a favorable expense impact from a channel partner
settlement.
Goodwill Impairment
52 Weeks Ended

52 Weeks Ended

Dollars in thousands

April 28,
2018 % Sales

April 29,
2017 % Sales

B&N Retail

$ 133,612

3.7%

$—

0.0%

—

0.0%

—

0.0%

$ 133,612

3.6%

$—

0.0%

NOOK
Total Goodwill Impairment

Selling and Administrative Expenses
52 Weeks Ended

52 Weeks Ended

Dollars in thousands

April 28,
2018 % Sales

April 29,
2017 % Sales

B&N Retail

$945,643

NOOK
Total Selling and
Administrative Expenses

53,466
$999,109

26.4% $ 959,002

25.3%

61.7%

81,005

73.7%

27.3% $1,040,007

26.7%

Selling and administrative expenses decreased $40.9 million, or 3.9%, to $999.1 million in ﬁscal 2018 from $1.040
billion in ﬁscal 2017. Selling and administrative expenses
increased as a percentage of sales to 27.3% in ﬁscal 2018
from 26.7% in ﬁscal 2017. The changes by segment are as
follows:

The costs in excess of net assets of businesses acquired
are carried as goodwill in the accompanying consolidated
balance sheets. ASC 350-30, Intangibles – Goodwill and
Other (Topic 350), Simplifying the Test for Goodwill Impairment
requires that goodwill and other unamortizable intangible
assets be tested for impairment at least annually or earlier
if there are impairment indicators.
In January 2017, the Financial Accounting Standards Board
(FASB) issued Accounting Standards Updates (ASU) 201704, Intangibles – Goodwill and Other (Topic 350), Simplifying
the Test for Goodwill Impairment (ASU 2017-04), which
simpliﬁes the subsequent measurement of goodwill
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by removing the requirement to perform a hypothetical
purchase price allocation to compute the implied fair value
of goodwill to measure impairment.

Interest Expense, Net and Amortization of Deferred
Financing Fees

Following the announcement on January 4, 2018 of the
Company’s holiday sales results and its revised outlook,
the market price of the Company’s common stock sharply
declined. Due to these new impairment indicators, the
Company performed an interim goodwill impairment test
as of December 30, 2017. As a result of this interim testing,
the Company recognized an impairment of its B&N Retail
reporting unit goodwill of $133.6 million during the third
quarter of ﬁscal 2018.

Dollars in thousands

Depreciation and Amortization

Income Tax Provision (Beneﬁt)

52 Weeks
Ended

52 Weeks
Ended

April 28, 2018 April 29, 2017 % of Change

Interest Expense, Net and
Amortization of Deferred
Financing Fees

$9,837

$7,509

31.0%

Net interest expense and amortization of deferred ﬁnancing fees increased $2.3 million, or 31.0%, to $9.8 million
in ﬁscal 2018 from $7.5 million in ﬁscal 2017 primarily on
higher average borrowings.

52 Weeks Ended

52 Weeks Ended

52 Weeks Ended

52 Weeks Ended

Dollars in thousands

April 28,
2018 % Sales

April 29,
2017 % Sales

April 28, Effective
2018
Rate

April 29, Effective
2017
Rate

B&N Retail

$ 94,334

2.6%

$ 98,877

2.6%

12,006

13.9%

19,010

17.3%

$106,340

2.9%

$117,887

3.0%

NOOK
Total Depreciation and
Amortization

Depreciation and amortization decreased $11.5 million, or
9.8%, to $106.3 million in ﬁscal 2018 from $117.9 million
in ﬁscal 2017. This decrease was primarily attributable
to fully depreciated assets, partially oﬀset by additional
capital expenditures.
Operating Income (Loss)
52 Weeks Ended

52 Weeks Ended

Dollars in thousands

April 28,
2018 % Sales

April 29,
2017 % Sales

B&N Retail

$(119,394)

(3.3)%

$90,663

2.4%

(8,464)

(9.8)%

(36,355)

(33.1)%

$(127,858)

(3.5)%

$54,308

1.4%

NOOK
Total Operating Income
(Loss)

The Company’s consolidated operating income decreased
$182.2 million, or 335.4%, to an operating loss of $127.9
million in ﬁscal 2018 from an operating income of $54.3
million in ﬁscal 2017. This change was due to the matters
discussed above.

Dollars in thousands
Income Tax Provision
(Beneﬁt)

$(12,215)

8.9%

$24,776

52.9%

The Company recorded an income tax beneﬁt of $12.2 million in ﬁscal 2018 compared with an income tax provision
of $24.8 million in ﬁscal 2017. The Company’s eﬀective
tax rate was 8.9% and 52.9% in ﬁscal 2018 and ﬁscal 2017,
respectively. The Company’s eﬀective tax rate diﬀers from
the statutory rate due to the impact of the remeasurement
of deferred taxes resulting from the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act,
the impact of return to provision adjustments, the establishment of valuation allowance on deﬁnite lived NOLs, and
state tax provision, net of federal beneﬁt. The prior year
rate was impacted primarily by changes in uncertain tax
positions and changes in deferred taxes and payables.
In accordance with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States (GAAP) rules on accounting
for income taxes, the Company evaluates the realizability of
its deferred tax assets at each reporting date. The Company
records a valuation allowance when it determines that it
is more likely than not that all or a portion of a particular
deferred tax asset will not be realized. As part of this evaluation, the Company reviews all evidence, both positive and
negative, to determine if a valuation allowance is needed.
The Company’s review of positive evidence included the
review of historic proﬁtability, projected proﬁtability, feasible tax planning strategies that may be implemented and
the reversal of temporary items. The Company determined
that there was suﬃcient negative evidence to establish
valuation allowances against certain deferred tax assets,
totaling $36.7 million. The Company will monitor the need
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for additional valuation allowances at each quarter in the
future and adjust the valuation allowance as necessary.
Net Income (Loss)
52 Weeks Ended
Dollars in thousands

April 28,
2018

Diluted
EPS

Net Income (Loss)

$(125,480)

$(1.73)

52 Weeks Ended
April 29,
2017

Diluted
EPS

$22,023

$0.30

As a result of the factors discussed above, the Company
reported a consolidated net loss of $125.5 million (or $1.73
per diluted share) during ﬁscal 2018, compared with consolidated net income of $22.0 million (or $0.30 per diluted
share) during ﬁscal 2017.
52 W E E KS E N D E D A P R IL 29 , 2 0 1 7 C O M PA R E D WITH 5 2
WEE KS E N D E D A P R IL 30 , 2 0 1 6

The following tables summarize the Company’s results of
operations for the 52 weeks ended April 29, 2017 and 52
weeks ended April 30, 2016.
Sales
52 Weeks Ended
Dollars in thousands
B&N Retail

April 29,
2017
$3,784,655

% Total

52 Weeks Ended
April 30,
2016

97.2% $4,028,614

% Total
96.8%

NOOK

146,514

3.8%

191,520

4.6%

Elimination

(36,611)

(0.9)%

(56,290)

(1.4)%

Total Sales

$3,894,558

100.0% $4,163,844

100.0%

The Company’s sales decreased $269.3 million, or 6.5%,
during ﬁscal 2017 to $3.895 billion from $4.164 billion
during ﬁscal 2016. The changes by segment are as follows:
• B&N Retail sales decreased $244.0 million, or 6.1%,
to $3.785 billion from $4.029 billion during the same
period one year ago, and accounted for 97.2% of total
Company sales. Comparable store sales decreased $216.5
million, or 6.3%, as compared to the prior year. Closed
stores decreased sales by $46.7million. B&N Retail also
includes third-party sales of Sterling Publishing Co.,
Inc., which decreased by $13.4 million, or 27.3%, versus
the prior year on lower coloring book sales. Online
sales increased $10.8 million, or 3.7%, versus the prior
year period on beneﬁts from an eBook settlement, site
improvements and increased promotional activity. New
stores increased sales by $7.7 million. Gift card breakage
increased $6.5 million as redemptions continue to run
lower than historical patterns.

Of the $216.5 million decrease in comparable store
sales, core comparable store sales, which exclude sales
of NOOK
K® products, decreased $194.2 million, or 5.7%,
as compared to the prior year due in large part to lower
traﬃc, comparisons to last year’s coloring book and
artist supplies phenomenon and the challenging retail
environment. Book categories decreased sales by $134.5
million, or 6.0%, on lower sales of Trade, Bargain (primarily coloring books) and Juvenile titles, while nonbook core categories decreased sales by $59.7 million, or
5.1%, on declines in the DVD, Café, Newsstand and Gift
businesses. Comparable sales of NOOK
K® products at B&N
Retail stores decreased $22.3 million, or 37.5%, primarily on lower device unit volume and lower average selling
prices.
• NOOK sales decreased $45.0 million, or 23.5%, to $146.5
million from $191.5 million during the same period one
year ago, and accounted for 3.8% of total Company sales.
Digital content sales decreased $23.6 million, or 18.1%,
compared to prior year on lower unit sales, partially
oﬀset by higher average selling prices. Current year
content volume beneﬁted from an eBook settlement.
Device and accessories sales decreased $21.4 million, or
34.9%, primarily on lower unit sales and lower average
selling prices.
• Elimination sales, which represent sales from NOOK to
B&N Retail on a sell-through basis, decreased $19.7 million, or 35.0%, versus the prior year. NOOK sales, net of
elimination, accounted for 2.8% of total Company sales.
In ﬁscal 2017, the Company opened three and closed ten
Barnes & Noble stores, bringing its total number of B&N
Retail stores to 633, with 16.7 million square feet, in the 50
states.
Cost of Sales and Occupancy
52 Weeks Ended
Dollars in thousands
B&N Retail

April 29,
2017
$2,636,113

% Sales

52 Weeks Ended
April 30,
2016 % Sales

69.7% $2,770,209

68.8%

NOOK

82,854

56.6%

122,628

64.0%

Elimination

(36,611)

(25.0)%

(56,290)

(29.4)%

Total Cost of Sales and
Occupancy

$2,682,356

68.9% $2,836,547

68.1%

The Company’s cost of sales and occupancy includes costs
such as merchandise costs, distribution center costs
(including payroll, freight, supplies and other operating
expenses), rental expense, common area maintenance and
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real estate taxes, partially oﬀset by landlord tenant allowances amortized over the life of the lease.
Cost of sales and occupancy decreased $154.2 million, or
5.4%, to $2.682 billion in ﬁscal 2017 from $2.837 billion
in ﬁscal 2016. Cost of sales and occupancy increased as a
percentage of sales to 68.9% in ﬁscal 2017 from 68.1% in
ﬁscal 2016. The changes by segment are as follows:
• B&N Retail cost of sales and occupancy increased as a
percentage of sales to 69.7% from 68.8%, or 90 basis
points, during the same period one year ago primarily on occupancy deleverage (60 basis points), higher
markdowns (50 basis points) from promotional activity, including Harry Potter and the Cursed Child, as well
as markdowns to clear non-returnable merchandise
resulting from the holiday sales shortfall. The remaining variance included product mix, sales deleverage and
general timing diﬀerences.
• NOOK cost of sales and occupancy decreased as a percentage of sales to 56.6% from 64.0% during the same
period one year ago. This decrease was primarily due
to sales mix, improved device margins and a favorable
channel partner settlement.
Gross Proﬁt

Dollars in thousands
B&N Retail
NOOK
Total Gross Proﬁt

52 Weeks Ended

52 Weeks Ended

April 29,
2017

April 30,
2016

% Sales

30.3% $ 1,258,405

31.2%

57.9%

68,892

50.9%

31.1% $ 1,327,297

31.9%

% Sales

$ 1,148,542
63,660
$ 1,212,202

The Company’s consolidated gross proﬁt decreased $115.1
million, or 8.7%, to $1.212 billion in ﬁscal 2017 from $1.327
billion in ﬁscal 2016. This decrease was due to the matters
discussed above.
Selling and Administrative Expenses
52 Weeks Ended

52 Weeks Ended

Dollars in thousands

April 29,
2017 % Sales

April 30,
2016 % Sales

B&N Retail

$ 959,002

NOOK
Total Selling and
Administrative Expenses

81,005

25.3% $ 1,043,221

25.9%

73.7%

133,557

98.8%

26.7% $1,176,778

28.3%

Selling and administrative expenses decreased $136.8 million, or 11.6%, to $1.040 billion in ﬁscal 2017 from $1.177
billion in ﬁscal 2016. Selling and administrative expenses
decreased as a percentage of sales to 26.7% in ﬁscal 2017
from 28.3% in ﬁscal 2016. The changes by segment are as
follows:
• B&N Retail selling and administrative expenses
decreased $84.2 million as compared to prior year,
decreasing 60 basis points as a percentage of sales to
25.3% from 25.9% for the year. Favorable variances to
the prior year include lower pension expense (60 basis
points) on the prior year pension settlement charge,
lower holiday advertising (45 basis points) and lower
website expenses (25 basis points) as the prior year
included investments to stabilize the site and improve
traﬃc and customer experience. The prior year also
included a net CEO separation-related severance charge
of $10.5 million (25 basis points). Unfavorable variances to the prior year include higher store payroll (65
basis points on store sales) as sales deleverage and wage
increases oﬀset productivity gains, higher non-CEO severance costs (25 basis points) primarily resulting from
a cost reduction program and a severance charge (net
of reversal of expense relating to equity awards) of $3.0
million resulting from the current year CEO departure
(10 basis points). The remaining variance included the
general timing of expenses.
• NOOK selling and administrative expenses decreased
$52.6 million as compared to the prior year, decreasing
as a percentage of sales to 73.7% from 98.8% during the
same period a year ago. Current year expenses include
severance and transitional costs of $10.7 million related
to the outsourcing of certain services and the closure of
its California and Taiwan oﬃces. Excluding these costs,
the decrease in dollars was primarily attributable to
continued cost rationalization eﬀorts, including lower
compensation, as well as lower variable costs on the sales
decline.
Depreciation and Amortization

Dollars in thousands
B&N Retail

$ 1,040,007

13

NOOK
Total Depreciation and
Amortization

52 Weeks Ended

52 Weeks Ended

April 29,
2017 % Sales

April 30,
2016 % Sales

$ 98,877
19,010
$ 117,887

2.6% $ 101,888
17.3%

2.5%

33,975

25.1%

3.0% $ 135,863

3.3%
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Depreciation and amortization decreased $18.0 million, or
13.2%, to $117.9 million in ﬁscal 2017 from $135.9 million
in ﬁscal 2016. This decrease was primarily attributable
to fully depreciated assets, partially oﬀset by additional
capital expenditures.
Operating Income (Loss)

Dollars in thousands
B&N Retail
NOOK
Total Operating Income

52 Weeks Ended

52 Weeks Ended

April 29,
2017 % Sales

April 30,
2016 % Sales

$ 90,663

2.4% $ 113,296

(36,355)

(33.1)%

$ 54,308

1.4%

(98,640)
$ 14,656

2.8%
(72.9)%
0.4%

The Company’s consolidated operating income increased
$39.7 million, or 270.6%, to an operating income of $54.3
million in ﬁscal 2017 from an operating income of $14.7
million in ﬁscal 2016. This increase was due to the matters
discussed above.
Interest Expense, Net and Amortization of Deferred
Financing Fees
52 Weeks
Ended
Dollars in thousands

52 Weeks
Ended

April 29, 2017 April 30, 2016

Interest Expense, Net and
Amortization of Deferred
Financing Fees

$7,509

$8,770

such as meals and entertainment, non-deductible executive compensation, tax credits, changes in uncertain tax
positions and the impact of return to provision adjustments
and state tax provision, net of federal beneﬁt. The Company
continues to maintain a valuation allowance against certain
state items. The prior year rate was impacted by uncertain
tax positions, ﬁnalization of the federal income tax audit
covering the 2008 through 2012 tax years, the closure of
many state taxing jurisdiction statutes, the impact of new
legislation enacted by Congress permanently reinstating
the research and development credit and the impact of
ﬁling the income tax returns.

% of
Change

(14.4)%

Net interest expense and amortization of deferred ﬁnancing fees decreased $1.3 million, or 14.4%, to $7.5 million in
ﬁscal 2017 from $8.8 million in ﬁscal 2016. This decrease
was primarily due to lower deferred ﬁnancing fees in
conjunction with the reﬁnancing of the credit facility in
August 2015.

In accordance with United States GAAP rules on accounting
for income taxes, the Company evaluates the realizability of
its deferred tax assets at each reporting date. The Company
records a valuation allowance when it determines that it
is more likely than not that all or a portion of a particular
deferred tax asset will not be realized. As part of this evaluation, the Company reviews all evidence, both positive and
negative, to determine if a valuation allowance is needed.
The Company’s review of positive evidence included the
review of historic proﬁtability, projected proﬁtability, feasible tax planning strategies that may be implemented and
the reversal of temporary items. The Company determined
that there was suﬃcient negative evidence to establish
valuation allowances against certain deferred tax assets,
totaling $7.6 million. The Company will monitor the need
for additional valuation allowances at each quarter in the
future and adjust the valuation allowance as necessary.
Net Income from Continuing Operations

Dollars in thousands
Net Income from Continuing
Operations

52 Weeks Ended

52 Weeks Ended

April 29,
2017

Diluted
EPS

April 30,
2016

Diluted
EPS

$22,023

$0.30

$14,700

$0.05

Income Tax Provision (Beneﬁt)

Dollars in thousands
Income Tax Provision
(Beneﬁt)

52 Weeks Ended

52 Weeks Ended

April 29, Effective
2017
Rate

April 30, Effective
2016
Rate

$24,776

52.9%

$(8,814)

(149.7)%

The Company recorded an income tax provision of $24.8
million in ﬁscal 2017 compared with an income tax beneﬁt
of $8.8 million in ﬁscal 2016. The Company’s eﬀective tax
rate was 52.9% and (149.7)% in ﬁscal 2017 and ﬁscal 2016,
respectively. The Company’s eﬀective tax rate diﬀers from
the statutory rate due to the impact of permanent items

As a result of the factors discussed above, the Company
reported a consolidated net income from continuing
operations of $22.0 million (or $0.30 per diluted share)
during ﬁscal 2017, compared with consolidated net income
from continuing operations of $14.7 million (or $0.05 per
diluted share) during ﬁscal 2016.
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Net Loss from Discontinued Operations

Cash Flows

52 Weeks Ended
Dollars in thousands
Net Loss from Discontinued
Operations

April 29,
2017
$—
—

52 Weeks Ended

Diluted April 30,
EPS
2016
$— $(39,146)

Diluted
EPS
$(0.54)

The Company’s cash and cash equivalents were $10.8 million as of April 28, 2018, compared with $12.0 million as of
April 29, 2017. The decrease in cash and cash equivalents
of $1.2 million versus the prior year period was due to the
earnings decline, changes in working capital and cash ﬂows
as outlined below.

The Company has recognized the separation of Barnes &
Noble Education, Inc. (B&N Education) (the Spin-Oﬀ) in
accordance with ASC 205-20, Discontinued Operations. As
such, the historical results of B&N Education have been
classiﬁed as discontinued operations. See Note 16 to the
Consolidated Financial Statements for a further discussion
on the separation of B&N Education.

Net cash ﬂows provided by operating activities for ﬁscal
2018 were $37.1 million, as compared to net cash ﬂows
provided by operating activities of $146.8 million for ﬁscal
2017. The unfavorable year-over-year comparison was
primarily attributable to changes in working capital and the
earnings decline.

Discontinued operations for ﬁscal 2016 primarily consisted of pre-spin B&N Education results, investment
banking fees (as they directly related to the Spin-Oﬀ) and
separation-related costs, and excluded corporate allocation
adjustments with B&N Retail.

Net cash ﬂows used in investing activities for ﬁscal 2018
were $87.7 million, as compared to net cash ﬂows used in
investing activities of $96.3 million for ﬁscal 2017. The
Company’s investing activities primarily consisted of
capital expenditures for the maintenance of existing stores,
merchandising initiatives, new store construction and
enhancements to systems and the website.

Net Income (Loss)
52 Weeks Ended
Dollars in thousands
Net Income (Loss)

April 29,
2017
$22,023

52 Weeks Ended

Diluted April 30,
EPS
2016
$0.30

$(24,446)

Diluted
EPS
$(0.49)

As a result of the factors discussed above, the Company
reported a consolidated net income of $22.0 million (or
$0.30 per diluted share) during ﬁscal 2017, compared with
consolidated net loss of $24.4 million (or $0.49 per diluted
share) during ﬁscal 2016.
SE A SO N A L I T Y

The B&N Retail business, like that of many retailers, is
seasonal, with the major portion of sales and operating
income typically realized during its third ﬁscal quarter,
which includes the holiday selling season.
The NOOK business, like that of many technology companies, is impacted by the launch of new products and the
promotional eﬀorts to support those new products, as well
as the traditional retail holiday selling seasonality.
LIQ U I D I T Y A N D C A P ITA L R E S O U R C E S

The primary sources of the Company’s cash are net cash
ﬂows from operating activities, funds available under its
credit facility and short-term vendor ﬁnancing.

Net cash ﬂows provided by ﬁnancing activities for ﬁscal
2018 were $49.3 million, as compared to net cash ﬂows
used in ﬁnancing activities of $52.4 million for ﬁscal 2017.
The Company’s ﬁnancing activities during ﬁscal 2018
consisted primarily of net proceeds on its credit facility,
oﬀset by common dividends. Financing activities during
ﬁscal 2017 consisted primarily of common dividends and
share repurchases, partially oﬀset by net proceeds on its
credit facility.
Over the past 12 months, the Company has returned $43.6
million in cash to its shareholders through dividends.
Additional year-over-year balance sheet changes include
the following:
• Receivables, net decreased $2.7 million, or 4.1%, to
$64.6 million as of April 28, 2018, compared to $67.3
million as of April 29, 2017.
• Merchandise inventories, net increased $11.3 million, or
1.2%, to $958.2 million as of April 28, 2018, compared
to $946.9 million as of April 29, 2017 due in part to the
timing of merchandise returns.
• Prepaid expenses and other current assets decreased
$36.7 million, or 36.0%, to $65.2 million as of April 28,
2018, compared to $101.8 million as of April 29, 2017,
primarily related to income taxes.
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• Property and equipment, net decreased $20.6 million, or
7.5%, to $255.5 million as of April 28, 2018, compared
to $276.1 million as of April 29, 2017, as depreciation
outpaced capital expenditures.
• Goodwill decreased $135.8 million, or 65.5%, to $71.6
million as of April 28, 2018, compared to $207.4 million
as of April 29, 2017, due to a $133.6 million impairment
charge recorded during the third quarter of ﬁscal 2018.
• Intangible assets, net decreased $0.6 million, or 0.2%, to
$309.6 million as of April 28, 2018, compared to $310.2
million as of April 29, 2017, on additional amortization.
• Other non-current assets increased $2.9 million, or
26.1%, to $14.1 million as of April 28, 2018, compared
to $11.2 million as of April 29, 2017, primarily related to
income taxes, partially oﬀset by amortization of deferred
ﬁnancing fees.
• Accounts payable decreased $14.8 million, or 3.1%, to
$458.9 million as of April 28, 2018, compared to $473.7
million as of April 29, 2017. Accounts payable represented 47.9% and 50.0% of merchandise inventories as
of April 28, 2018 and April 29, 2017, respectively. This
ratio is subject to changes in product mix and the timing
of purchases, payments and returns.
• Accrued liabilities decreased $22.9 million, or 8.1%, to
$260.2 million as of April 28, 2018, compared to $283.2
million as of April 29, 2017. Accrued liabilities include
deferred income, compensation, occupancy related,
legal and other selling and administrative miscellaneous
accruals.
• Gift card liabilities decreased $28.0 million, or 8.0%, to
$323.5 million as of April 28, 2018, compared to $351.4
million as of April 29, 2017. The Company estimates the
portion of the gift card liability for which the likelihood
of redemption is remote based upon the Company’s
historical redemption patterns. The Company recognized
gift card breakage of $43.9 million and $35.5 million
during ﬁscal 2018 and ﬁscal 2017, respectively. Gift card
breakage increased over last year as redemptions continue to run lower than historical patterns. Additional
breakage may be required if gift card redemptions
continue to run lower than historical patterns.

• Deferred taxes decreased $34.1 million, or 39.6%, to
$52.0 million as of April 28, 2018, compared to $86.1
million as of April 29, 2017 due to the remeasurement
of deferred taxes as a result of the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act
and the deferred tax impact of the goodwill impairment charge, partially oﬀset by the valuation allowance
recorded.
• Other long-term liabilities decreased $15.0 million, or
15.1%, to $84.3 million as of April 28, 2018, compared to
$99.3 million as of April 29, 2017, primarily due to lower
deferred rent.
The Company has arrangements with third-party manufacturers to produce certain NOOK
K® products. These
manufacturers procure and assemble unﬁnished parts and
components from third-party suppliers based on forecasts
provided by the Company. Given production lead times,
commitments are generally made far in advance of ﬁnished
product delivery. Based on current purchase commitments
and product development plans, the Company did not
record any provision for purchase commitments. Future
charges may be required based on changes in forecasted
sales or strategic direction.
Capital Structure

On August 3, 2015, the Company and certain of its subsidiaries entered into a credit agreement (Credit Agreement)
with Bank of America, N.A., as administrative agent, collateral agent and swing line lender, and the other lenders
from time to time party thereto, under which the lenders
committed to provide a ﬁve-year asset-backed revolving
credit facility in an aggregate committed principal amount
of up to $700.0 million (Revolving Credit Facility). On
September 30, 2016, the Company amended the Credit
Agreement to provide for a new “ﬁrst-in, last-out” revolving credit facility (the FILO Credit Facility and, together
with the Revolving Credit Facility, the Credit Facility) in
an aggregate principal amount of up to $50.0 million,
which supplements availability under the Revolving Credit
Facility. The Company generally must draw down the FILO
Credit Facility before making any borrowings under the
Revolving Credit Facility.
Merrill Lynch, Pierce, Fenner & Smith Incorporated,
J.P. Morgan Securities LLC, Wells Fargo Bank, N.A. and
SunTrust Robinson Humphrey, Inc. are the joint lead
arrangers for the Credit Facility. The Credit Facility
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replaced the prior credit facility. Proceeds from the Credit
Facility are used for general corporate purposes, including
seasonal working capital needs.
The Company and certain of its subsidiaries are permitted to borrow under the Credit Facility. The Credit Facility
is secured by substantially all of the inventory, accounts
receivable and related assets of the borrowers under the
Credit Facility (collectively, the Loan Parties), but excluding
the equity interests in the Company and its subsidiaries,
intellectual property, equipment and certain other property. Borrowings under the Credit Facility are limited to a
speciﬁed percentage of eligible collateral. The Company
has the option to request an increase in commitments
under the Credit Facility of up to $250.0 million, subject to
certain restrictions.
The Credit Facility allows the Company to declare and pay
up to $70.0 million in dividends annually to its stockholders without compliance with any availability or ratio-based
limitations.
Interest under the Revolving Credit Facility accrues, at the
election of the Company, at a LIBOR or alternate base rate,
plus, in each case, an applicable interest rate margin, which
is determined by reference to the level of excess availability
under the Revolving Credit Facility. Through the end of the
ﬁscal quarter during which the closing of the Revolving
Credit Facility occurred, loans under the Revolving Credit
Facility bore interest at LIBOR plus 1.750% per annum, in
the case of LIBOR borrowings, or at the alternate base rate
plus 0.750% per annum, in the alternative, and thereafter
the interest rate began to ﬂuctuate between LIBOR plus
2.000% per annum and LIBOR plus 1.500% per annum (or
between the alternate base rate plus 1.000% per annum
and the alternate base rate plus 0.500% per annum), based
upon the average daily availability under the Revolving
Credit Facility for the immediately preceding ﬁscal quarter.
Interest under the FILO Credit Facility accrues, at the election of the Company, at a LIBOR or alternate base rate, plus,
in each case, an applicable interest rate margin, which is
also determined by reference to the level of excess availability under the Revolving Credit Facility. Loans under
the FILO Credit Facility bear interest at 1.000% per annum
more than loans under the Revolving Credit Facility.
The Credit Agreement contains customary negative
covenants, which limit the Company’s ability to incur

additional indebtedness, create liens, make investments,
make restricted payments or speciﬁed payments and
merge or acquire assets, among other things. In addition,
if excess availability under the Credit Facility were to fall
below certain speciﬁed levels, certain additional covenants
(including ﬁxed charge coverage ratio requirements) would
be triggered, and the lenders would assume dominion and
control over the Loan Parties’ cash.
The Credit Agreement contains customary events of
default, including payment defaults, material breaches of
representations and warranties, covenant defaults, default
on other material indebtedness, customary ERISA events
of default, bankruptcy and insolvency, material judgments, invalidity of liens on collateral, change of control or
cessation of business. The Credit Agreement also contains
customary aﬃrmative covenants and representations and
warranties.
The following table presents selected information related
to the Company’s credit facilities (in thousands):
Fiscal 2018

Fiscal 2017

Fiscal 2016

Credit facility at
period end

$158,700

64,900

47,200

Average balance
outstanding during
the period

$141,478

96,297

66,948

Maximum
borrowings
outstanding during
the period

$287,933

285,278

293,200

Weighted average
interest rate during
the perioda

5.55%

5.77%

8.21%

Interest rate at end
of period

3.92%

3.73%

2.69%

a Includes commitment fees.

The Company wrote oﬀ $0.5 million of deferred ﬁnancing
fees related to the prior credit facility during ﬁscal 2016
and the remaining unamortized deferred ﬁnancing fees of
$3.5 million were deferred and are being amortized over
the ﬁve-year term of the Credit Facility. The Company also
incurred $5.7 million of fees to secure the Credit Facility,
which are being amortized over the ﬁve-year term accordingly. During ﬁscal 2017, the Company incurred $0.5
million of fees to secure the FILO Credit Facility, which are
being amortized over the same term as the Credit Facility.
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Fees expensed with respect to the unused portion of the
credit facilities were $2.2 million, $2.2 million and $2.8
million during ﬁscal 2018, ﬁscal 2017 and ﬁscal 2016,
respectively.

12 months. The Company regularly evaluates its capital
structure and conditions in the ﬁnancing markets to ensure
it maintains adequate ﬂexibility to successfully execute its
business plan.

The Company had $158.7 million and $64.9 million of outstanding debt under the Credit Facility as of April 28, 2018
and April 29, 2017, respectively. The Company had $34.2
million and $38.8 million of outstanding letters of credit
under the Credit Facility as of April 28, 2018 and April 29,
2017, respectively.

On October 20, 2015, the Company’s Board of Directors
authorized a stock repurchase program (prior repurchase
plan) of up to $50.0 million of its common shares. During
ﬁscal 2016, the Company repurchased 2,763,142 shares at
a cost of $26.7 million under the prior repurchase plan.
During ﬁscal 2017, the Company repurchased 2,019,798
shares at a cost of $23.3 million under the prior repurchase
plan. On March 15, 2017, subsequent to completing the
prior repurchase plan, the Company’s Board of Directors
authorized a new stock repurchase program of up to $50.0
million of its common shares. Stock repurchases under this
program may be made through open market and privately
negotiated transactions from time to time and in such
amounts as management deems appropriate. The new
stock repurchase program has no expiration date and may
be suspended or discontinued at any time. The Company’s
repurchase plan is intended to comply with the requirements of Rule 10b-18 under the Securities Exchange Act
of 1934. The Company did not repurchase shares under
this plan in ﬁscal 2018 and ﬁscal 2017. The Company has
remaining capacity of $50.0 million under the new repurchase program as of April 28, 2018.

The Company has no agreements to maintain compensating balances.
Capital Investment

The Company’s investing activities consist principally
of capital expenditures for the maintenance of existing
stores, merchandising initiatives, new store construction
and enhancements to systems and the website. Capital
expenditures totaled $87.7 million, $96.3 million and
$94.3 million during ﬁscal 2018, ﬁscal 2017 and ﬁscal
2016, respectively. Fiscal 2019 capital expenditure levels
are expected to be approximately $100.0 million, although
commitment to many such expenditures has not yet
been made. Capital expenditures planned for ﬁscal 2019
primarily include new store development, merchandising
initiatives, maintenance of existing stores, enhancements
to systems and the website.
Based upon the Company’s current operating levels and
capital expenditures for ﬁscal 2019, management believes
cash and cash equivalents on hand, funds available under
its credit facility and short-term vendor ﬁnancing will
be suﬃcient to meet the Company’s normal working
capital and debt service requirements for at least the next

As of April 28, 2018, the Company has repurchased
39,584,907 shares at a cost of approximately $1.1 billion
since the inception of the Company’s stock repurchase
programs. The repurchased shares are held in treasury.
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Contractual Obligations

The following table sets forth the Company’s contractual obligations as of April 28, 2018 (in millions):
Contractual Obligations

Payments Due by Period
Total

Less Than 1 Year

1-3 Years

$1,112.5

$316.3

$467.6

$240.1

$88.5

72.6

56.9

15.7

—

—

Interest obligationsc

7.8

3.3

4.5

—

—

Other long-term liabilities
reﬂected on the Company’s
balance sheet under U.S.
GAAPd

—

—

—

—

—

$1,192.9

$376.5

$487.8

$240.1

$88.5

Operating lease obligationsa
Purchase obligationsb

Total

3-5 Years More Than 5 Years

a Excludes obligations under store leases for insurance, taxes and other maintenance costs, which totaled approximately 21.1% of the minimum rent
payments under those leases.
b Includes hardware and software maintenance contracts and inventory purchase commitments.
c Represents commitment fees related to the Company’s Credit Facility.
d Excludes $6.8 million of unrecognized tax beneﬁts for which the Company cannot make a reasonably reliable estimate of the amount and period of
payment. See Note 9 to the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

See also Note 8 to the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for information concerning the Company’s pension and
postretirement plans.
Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

As of April 28, 2018, the Company had no oﬀ-balance sheet
arrangements as deﬁned in Item 303 of Regulation S-K.
Impact of Inﬂation

The Company does not believe that inﬂation has had a
material eﬀect on its net sales or results of operations.
CE RTA I N RE L AT I O N S H IP S A N D R E LAT E D
TR A N SA CT I O N S

See Note 18 to the Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements.
CRI T I CA L A CCO UN T IN G P O L IC IE S

The “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations” section of this
report discusses the Company’s consolidated ﬁnancial
statements, which have been prepared in accordance with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States. The preparation of these ﬁnancial statements
requires management to make estimates and assumptions
in certain circumstances that aﬀect amounts reported in
the accompanying consolidated ﬁnancial statements and
related footnotes. In preparing these ﬁnancial statements,
management has made its best estimates and judgments
with respect to certain amounts included in the ﬁnancial

statements, giving due consideration to materiality. The
Company does not believe there is a great likelihood that
materially diﬀerent amounts would be reported related to
the accounting policies described below. However, application of these accounting policies involves the exercise of
judgment and use of assumptions as to future uncertainties and, as a result, actual results could diﬀer from these
estimates.
Revenue Recognition

Revenue from sales of the Company’s products is recognized at the time of sale or shipment, other than those with
multiple elements and Free On Board (FOB) destination
point shipping terms. The Company accrues for estimated
sales returns in the period in which the related revenue is
recognized based on historical experience. ECommerce
revenue from sales of products ordered through the
Company’s websites is recognized upon estimated delivery and receipt of the shipment by its customers. Freight
costs are included within the Company’s cost of sales and
occupancy. Sales taxes collected from retail customers are
excluded from reported revenues. All of the Company’s
sales are recognized as revenue on a “net” basis, including
sales in connection with any periodic promotions oﬀered
to customers. The Company does not treat any promotional
oﬀers as expenses.
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In accordance with ASC 605-25, Revenue Recognition,
Multiple-Element Arrangements, and ASU 2009-13 and
2009-14, for multiple-element arrangements that involve
tangible products that contain software that is essential to
the tangible product’s functionality, undelivered software
elements that relate to the tangible product’s essential software and other separable elements, the Company allocates
revenue to all deliverables using the relative selling-price
method. Under this method, revenue is allocated at the
time of sale to all deliverables based on their relative selling
price using a speciﬁc hierarchy. The hierarchy is as follows:
vendor-speciﬁc objective evidence, third-party evidence
of selling price, or best estimate of selling price. NOOK
K®
device revenue is recognized at the segment point of sale.
The Company includes post-service customer support (PCS) in the form of software updates and potential
increased functionality on a when-and-if-available basis
with the purchase of a NOOK
K® from the Company. Using
the relative selling-price method described above, the
Company allocates revenue based on the best estimate of
selling price for the deliverables as no vendor-speciﬁc
objective evidence or third-party evidence exists for any of
the elements. Revenue allocated to NOOK
K® and the software
essential to its functionality is recognized at the time of
sale, provided all other conditions for revenue recognition
are met. Revenue allocated to the PCS is deferred and recognized on a straight-line basis over the 2-year estimated
life of a NOOK
K® device.
The average percentage of a NOOK
K®’s sales price that is
deferred for undelivered items and recognized over its
2-year estimated life ranges between 0% and 5%, depending on the type of device sold. The amount of NOOK
K®related deferred revenue as of April 28, 2018 and April 29,
2017 was $0.1 million and $0.2 million, respectively. These
amounts are classiﬁed on the Company’s balance sheet in
accrued liabilities for the portion that is subject to deferral
for one year or less and other long-term liabilities for the
portion that is subject to deferral for more than one year.
The Company also pays certain vendors who distributed
NOOK
K® a commission on the content sales sold through
that device. The Company accounts for these transactions
as a reduction in the sales price of the NOOK
K® based on
historical trends of content sales and a liability is established for the estimated commission expected to be paid
over the life of the product. The Company recognizes
revenue of the content at the point of sale of the content.
The Company records revenue from sales of digital content,

sales of third-party extended warranties, service contracts
and other products, for which the Company is not obligated
to perform, and for which the Company does not meet the
criteria for gross revenue recognition under ASC 605-4545, Reporting Revenue Gross as a Principal versus Net as an
Agent, on a net basis. All other revenue is recognized on a
gross basis.
The Company rents physical textbooks. Revenue from the
rental of physical textbooks is deferred and recognized
over the rental period commencing at point of sale. The
Company oﬀers a buyout option to allow the purchase of
a rented book at the end of the semester. The Company
records the buyout purchase when the customer exercises
and pays the buyout option price. In these instances, the
Company would accelerate any remaining deferred rental
revenue at the point of sale.
NOOK acquires the rights to distribute digital content from
publishers and distributes the content on www.barnesandnoble.com, NOOK
K® devices and other eBookstore
platforms. Certain digital content is distributed under an
agency pricing model, in which the publishers set prices for
eBooks and NOOK receives a commission on content sold
through the eBookstore. The majority of the Company’s
eBooks sold are under the agency model.
The Barnes & Noble Membership Program oﬀers members
greater discounts and other beneﬁts for products and services, as well as exclusive oﬀers and promotions via e-mail
or direct mail, for an annual fee of $25.00, which is nonrefundable after the ﬁrst 30 days. Revenue is recognized
over the 12-month period based upon historical spending
patterns for Barnes & Noble members.
Merchandise Inventories

Merchandise inventories, except NOOK merchandise
inventories, are stated at the lower of cost or market. Cost is
determined primarily by the retail inventory method under
the ﬁrst-in, ﬁrst-out (FIFO) basis. NOOK merchandise
inventories are recorded based on the average cost method
and are valued at the lower of cost and net realizable value.
Market is determined based on the estimated net realizable value, which is generally the selling price. Reserves
for non-returnable inventory are based on the Company’s
history of liquidating non-returnable inventory. The
Company does not believe there is a reasonable likelihood
that there will be a material change in the future estimates
or assumptions used to calculate the non-returnable
inventory reserve. However, if assumptions based on the
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Company’s history of liquidating non-returnable inventory are incorrect, it may be exposed to losses or gains that
could be material. A 10% change in actual non-returnable
inventory reserve would have aﬀected pre-tax earnings by
approximately $4.4 million in ﬁscal 2018.
The Company also estimates and accrues shortage for the
period between the last physical count of inventory and
the balance sheet date. Shortage rates are estimated and
accrued based on historical rates and can be aﬀected by
changes in merchandise mix and changes in actual shortage
trends. The Company does not believe there is a reasonable
likelihood that there will be a material change in the future
estimates or assumptions used to calculate shortage rates.
However, if the Company’s estimates regarding shortage
rates are incorrect, it may be exposed to losses or gains that
could be material. A 10 basis point change in actual shortage rates would have aﬀected pre-tax earnings by approximately $0.7 million in ﬁscal 2018.
Internal-Use Software and Website Development Costs

Direct costs incurred to develop software for internal use
and website development costs are capitalized and amortized over an estimated useful life of three to seven years.
During ﬁscal 2018 and ﬁscal 2017, the Company capitalized
costs, primarily related to labor, consulting, hardware and
software, of $17.6 million and $18.5 million, respectively.
Amortization of previously capitalized amounts was $21.8
million, $23.6 million and $30.5 million for ﬁscal 2018,
ﬁscal 2017 and ﬁscal 2016, respectively. Costs related to
the design or maintenance of internal-use software and
website development are expensed as incurred.
Research and Development Costs for Software Products

The Company follows the guidance in ASC 985-20, Cost of
Software to be Sold, Leased or Marketed, regarding research
and development costs for software products to be sold,
leased, or otherwise marketed. Capitalization of software
development costs begins upon the establishment of technological feasibility and is discontinued when the product
is available for sale. A certain amount of judgment and estimation is required to assess when technological feasibility
is established, as well as for the ongoing assessment of the
recoverability of capitalized costs. The Company’s products
reach technological feasibility shortly before the products
are released and, therefore, research and development
costs are generally expensed as incurred.
Property and Equipment and Other Long-Lived Assets

The Company’s long-lived assets include property and
equipment and amortizable intangibles. At April 28, 2018,

the Company had $255.5 million of property and equipment, net of accumulated depreciation, and $0.4 million of
amortizable intangible assets, net of amortization, accounting for approximately 14.6% of the Company’s total assets.
The Company reviews its long-lived assets for impairment
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that
the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable
and considers market participants in accordance with ASC
360-10, Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of LongLived Assets. The Company evaluates its stores’ long-lived
assets and its other long-lived assets for impairment at the
individual Barnes & Noble store level and at the reporting
unit level, respectively, which is the lowest level at which
individual cash ﬂows can be identiﬁed. When evaluating
long-lived assets for potential impairment, the Company
will ﬁrst compare the carrying amount of the assets to the
individual store’s estimated future undiscounted cash
ﬂows. If the estimated future cash ﬂows are less than the
carrying amount of the assets, an impairment loss calculation is prepared. The impairment loss calculation compares
the carrying amount of the assets to the individual store’s
fair value based on its estimated discounted future cash
ﬂows. If required, an impairment loss is recorded for that
portion of the asset’s carrying value in excess of fair value.
Impairment losses included in selling and administrative
expenses related to amortizable assets totaled $1.8 million,
$0.3 million and $0.2 million during ﬁscal 2018, ﬁscal 2017
and ﬁscal 2016, respectively. The Company does not believe
there is a reasonable likelihood that there will be a material
change in the estimates or assumptions used to calculate long-lived asset impairment losses. However, if the
Company is subject to further risk of impairment if comparable store sales continue to decline, the Company’s cost
reduction plans do not materialize, the assumed long-term
discount rate increases or in general the Company does
not achieve its forecasted strategic turnaround plan. A 10%
decrease in the Company’s estimated discounted cash ﬂows
would not have resulted in a material impairment charge on
the Company’s results of operations in ﬁscal 2018.
Goodwill and Unamortizable Intangible Assets

The costs in excess of net assets of businesses acquired
are carried as goodwill in the accompanying consolidated
balance sheets.
At April 28, 2018, the Company had $71.6 million of
goodwill (on its Retail reporting unit) and $309.3 million
of unamortizable intangible assets (those with an indeﬁnite
useful life), accounting for approximately 21.8% of the
Company’s total assets. ASC 350-30, Goodwill and Other
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Intangible Assets (ASC 350-30), requires that goodwill and
other unamortizable intangible assets no longer be amortized, but instead be tested for impairment at least annually
or earlier if there are impairment indicators.
In January 2017, the FASB issued ASU 2017-04, which simpliﬁes the subsequent measurement of goodwill by removing the requirement to perform a hypothetical purchase
price allocation to compute the implied fair value of goodwill to measure impairment. Instead, goodwill impairment
is measured as the diﬀerence between the fair value of the
reporting unit and the carrying value of the reporting unit.
The standard also clariﬁes the treatment of the income tax
eﬀect of tax-deductible goodwill when measuring goodwill
impairment loss. This standard is eﬀective for annual or
any interim goodwill impairment test in ﬁscal years beginning after December 15, 2019, with early adoption permitted for impairment tests performed after January 1, 2017.
The Company has early adopted ASU 2017-04 on October
29, 2017, the ﬁrst day of the third quarter of ﬁscal 2018.
The Company compares the fair value of a reporting unit
and the carrying value of the reporting unit to measure
goodwill impairment loss as required by ASU 2017-04.
Fair value was determined using the combination of a
discounted cash ﬂow method (income approach) and the
guideline public company method (market comparable
approach), weighted equally in determining the fair value
of the Company. The market comparable approach estimates fair value using market multiples of various ﬁnancial
measures compared to a set of comparable public companies. In performing the valuations, signiﬁcant assumptions
utilized include unobservable Level 3 inputs including cash
ﬂows and long-term growth rates reﬂective of management’s forecasted outlook, and discount rates inclusive of
risk adjustments consistent with current market conditions. Discount rates are based on the development of a
weighted average cost of capital using guideline public
company data, factoring in current market data and any
company speciﬁc risk factors.
The Company completed its annual goodwill impairment test as of the ﬁrst day of the third quarter of ﬁscal
2018 (October 29, 2017). The fair value of the B&N Retail
reporting unit had been in excess of carrying value as of
the ﬁrst day of the third quarter of ﬁscal 2017 (October
30, 2016) and ﬁscal 2018 (October 29, 2017) based on the
annual goodwill impairment test performed as of those
dates. In addition, no impairment indicators had arisen
after that test to signal that an interim impairment test
should be performed prior to the next annual test. Although
no impairment resulted from the Company’s next annual

goodwill impairment test as of October 29, 2017, the fair
value of the B&N Retail reporting unit (for which $207.4
million of goodwill was allocated as of such date) only
exceeded its carrying value by approximately $26.8 million
or 5%.
Subsequent to the annual goodwill impairment test as
of October 29, 2017, sales trends unexpectedly softened
during the holiday selling season. Given these lower than
expected sales results, the Company revised its forecasted
outlook. Following the announcement on January 4, 2018
of the Company’s holiday sales results and its revised
outlook, the market price of the Company’s common stock
sharply declined. Due to these new impairment indicators,
the Company performed an interim goodwill impairment
test as of December 30, 2017. As a result of this interim
testing, the Company recognized an impairment of its B&N
Retail reporting unit goodwill of $133.6 million. While
the Company has initiated a strategic turnaround plan
focused on stabilizing sales, improving productivity and
reducing expenses, achievement of its long-term goals
requires a signiﬁcant multi-year transformation. The
interim test incorporated revised discounted cash ﬂow
projections given the Company’s holiday sales performance
and the early stage of its turnaround eﬀorts. The fair
value of the B&N Retail reporting unit had declined from
the prior test primarily as a result of the revised forecast
and an increased discount rate to account for risk in the
Company’s plan. The goodwill of the B&N Retail reporting
unit is subject to further risk of impairment if B&N Retail
comparable store sales continue to decline, the Company’s
cost reduction plans do not materialize, store closings
accelerate, the assumed long-term discount rate increases
or in general the Company does not achieve its forecasted
strategic turnaround plan. A 50 basis point decline in
its expected long-term growth rates would result in an
approximate $10.1 million incremental goodwill impairment charge, or a 100 basis point increase in the Company’s
discount rate would result in an approximate $23.5 million
incremental goodwill impairment charge. There were no
indicators of impairment identiﬁed subsequent to the
December 30, 2017 impairment test.
There were no impairment losses related to goodwill during ﬁscal 2017 and ﬁscal 2016.
In addition to goodwill, the Company tests unamortizable intangible assets by comparing the fair value and the
carrying value of such assets. The Company also completed
its annual impairment tests for its other unamortizable
intangible assets by comparing the estimated fair value to
the carrying value of such assets. Based on the results of the
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Company’s tests, it recorded impairment losses included
in selling and administrative expenses related to unamortizable intangible assets totaled $0, $0 and $3.8 million
during ﬁscal 2018, ﬁscal 2017 and ﬁscal 2016, respectively.
With regard to valuing its trade name, the Company uses
the relief from royalty method (income approach). The
estimated fair value of the Company’s trade name exceeded
its carrying value by approximately $17.1 million, or 5%, as
of October 29, 2017. Based on the impairment indicators
noted above, the Company performed an interim impairment test of its trade name as of December 30, 2017 and the
estimated fair value exceeded its carrying value by approximately $23.5 million, or 8%, as of that date. Signiﬁcant
assumptions used to determine fair value under the relief
from royalty method include future trends in sales, a royalty rate and an appropriate discount rate inclusive of risk
adjustments consistent with market conditions and company speciﬁc risk factors. The fair value of the Company’s
trade name had declined from the prior year primarily
as a result of declining sales and an increased discount
rate to account for risk in the Company’s revised forecast.
Although the Company determined that no impairment
charge was necessary, the Company’s trade name is at risk
of impairment if B&N Retail comparable store sales continue to decline, forecasted sales expectations are not met,
store closings accelerate, the assumed long-term discount
rate increases, or in general the Company does not achieve
its forecasted strategic turnaround plan. For example, an
800 basis point decline in expected sales would result in an
approximate $1.9 million trade name impairment charge or
a 200 basis point increase in the Company’s discount rate
would result in an approximate $29.3 million trade name
impairment charge. There were no indicators of impairment identiﬁed subsequent to the December 30, 2017
impairment test.
The fair value of the Company’s publishing contracts
was determined using the discounted cash ﬂow method
(income approach). Based on this test, the estimated fair
value of the Company’s publishing contracts exceeded
its carrying value by approximately $4.2 million or 26%.
The Company’s publishing contracts are subject to risk of
impairment if forecasted sales expectations are not met,
the assumed long-term discount rate increases, or in
general the Company does not achieve its forecasted strategic turnaround. Such publishing contracts were tested
for impairment and the Company determined that no
impairment charge was necessary for ﬁscal 2018 and ﬁscal
2017. During ﬁscal 2016, the Company impaired one of its

publishing contracts due to a signiﬁcant drop in business
with that publisher, driven by lower title oﬀerings, product
quality and the loss of a distribution partner. As a result,
the Company recorded an impairment charge of $3.8 million in selling and administrative expenses. The publishing
contracts include the value of long-standing relationships
with authors, agents and publishers established upon the
Company’s acquisition of Sterling in 2003. Given Sterling’s
strong history of maintaining such relationships, the
Company believes they produce value indeﬁnitely without
an identiﬁable remaining useful life.
A 10% decrease in the Company’s estimated discounted
cash ﬂows would have no impact on the Company’s evaluation of publishing contracts in ﬁscal 2018.
Gift Cards

The Company sells gift cards, which can be used in its
stores, on www.barnesandnoble.com, on NOOK
K® devices
and at B&N Education stores. The Company does not charge
administrative or dormancy fees on gift cards and gift
cards have no expiration dates. Upon the purchase of a gift
card, a liability is established for its cash value. Revenue
associated with gift cards is deferred until redemption of
the gift card. Gift cards redeemed at B&N Education are
funded by the gift card liability at the Company. Over time,
a portion of the gift cards issued is typically not redeemed.
The Company estimates the portion of the gift card liability
for which the likelihood of redemption is remote based
upon the Company’s historical redemption patterns. The
Company records this amount in revenue on a straight-line
basis over a 12-month period beginning in the 13th month
after the month the gift card was originally sold. Additional
breakage may be required if gift card redemptions continue
to run lower than historical patterns.
The Company recognized gift card breakage of $43.9 million, $35.5 million and $29.1 million during ﬁscal 2018,
ﬁscal 2017 and ﬁscal 2016, respectively. The Company had
gift card liabilities of $323.5 million and $351.4 million as
of April 28, 2018 and April 29, 2017, respectively. Gift card
breakage increased over last year as redemptions continue
to run lower than historical patterns. If estimates regarding
the Company’s history of gift card breakage are incorrect, it
may be exposed to losses or gains that could be material. A
25 basis point change in the Company’s gift card breakage
rate at April 28, 2018 would have aﬀected pre-tax earnings
by approximately $11.7 million in ﬁscal 2018.
Income Taxes

Judgment is required in determining the provision for
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income taxes and related accruals, deferred tax assets
and liabilities. In the ordinary course of business, tax
issues may arise where the ultimate outcome is uncertain.
Additionally, the Company’s tax returns are subject to
audit by various tax authorities. Consequently, changes in
the Company’s estimates for contingent tax liabilities may
materially impact the Company’s results of operations or
ﬁnancial position. A 1% variance in the Company’s eﬀective tax rate would have aﬀected the Company’s results of
operations in ﬁscal 2018 by $1.4 million.
DISCL O SU RE RE G A R D ING FO R WA R D -LO O K IN G
STAT E M E N T S

This report contains certain forward-looking statements
(within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act
of 1933, as amended, and Section 21E of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended) and information
relating to Barnes & Noble that are based on the beliefs
of the management of Barnes & Noble as well as assumptions made by and information currently available to the
management of Barnes & Noble. When used in this communication, the words “anticipate,” “believe,” “estimate,”
“expect,” “intend,” “plan,” “will,” “forecasts,” “projections,”
and similar expressions, as they relate to Barnes & Noble
or the management of Barnes & Noble, identify forwardlooking statements.
Such statements reﬂect the current views of Barnes & Noble
with respect to future events, the outcome of which is subject to certain risks, including, among others, the general
economic environment and consumer spending patterns,
decreased consumer demand for Barnes & Noble’s products, low growth or declining sales and net income due to
various factors, including store closings, higher-thananticipated or increasing costs, including with respect to
store closings, relocation, occupancy (including in con-

nection with lease renewals) and labor costs, the eﬀects of
competition, the risk of insuﬃcient access to ﬁnancing to
implement future business initiatives, risks associated with
data privacy and information security, risks associated with
Barnes & Noble’s supply chain, including possible delays
and disruptions and increases in shipping rates, various
risks associated with the digital business, including the
possible loss of customers, declines in digital content sales,
risks and costs associated with ongoing eﬀorts to rationalize the digital business, risks associated with the eCommerce business, including the possible loss of eCommerce
customers and declines in eCommerce sales, the risk that
ﬁnancial and operational forecasts and projections are not
achieved, the performance of Barnes & Noble’s initiatives
including but not limited to new store concepts and eCommerce initiatives, unanticipated adverse litigation results
or eﬀects, potential infringement of Barnes & Noble’s
intellectual property by third parties or by Barnes & Noble
of the intellectual property of third parties, and other factors, including those factors discussed in detail in Item 1A,
“Risk Factors,” and in Barnes & Noble’s other ﬁlings made
hereafter from time to time with the SEC.
Should one or more of these risks or uncertainties materialize, or should underlying assumptions prove incorrect,
actual results or outcomes may vary materially from those
described as anticipated, believed, estimated, expected,
intended or planned. Subsequent written and oral forwardlooking statements attributable to Barnes & Noble or
persons acting on its behalf are expressly qualiﬁed in their
entirety by the cautionary statements in this paragraph.
Barnes & Noble undertakes no obligation to publicly update
or revise any forward-looking statements, whether as a
result of new information, future events or otherwise after
the date of this Annual Report.
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C O NSOLIDATED S TATEMEN TS OF OP E R AT I O N S

Sales

Fiscal 2018

Fiscal 2017

Fiscal 2016

$3,662,280

$3,894,558

$4,163,844

Cost of sales and occupancy

2,551,077

2,682,356

2,836,547

Gross proﬁt

1,111,203

1,212,202

1,327,297

Selling and administrative expenses

999,109

1,040,007

1,176,778

Depreciation and amortization

106,340

117,887

135,863

Goodwill impairment

133,612

—

—

Operating income (loss)

(127,858)

54,308

14,656

9,837

7,509

8,770

(137,695)

46,799

5,886

(12,215)

24,776

(8,814)

Interest expense, net and amortization of deferred ﬁnancing fees
Income (loss) before income taxes
Income tax provision (beneﬁt)
Net income (loss) from continuing operations

$ (125,480)

$

22,023
—

(39,146)

$ (125,480)

$

22,023

$ (24,446)

$

$

0.30

$ 0.05

—

(0.54)

Net loss from discontinued operations
Net income (loss)

—

$

14,700

Basic income (loss) per common share:
Income (loss) from continuing operations
Loss from discontinued operations
Basic income (loss) per common share

(1.73)
—

$

(1.73)

$

0.30

$

(1.73)

$

0.30

$

(1.73)

$

0.30

$

(0.49)

Diluted income (loss) per common share:
Income (loss) from continuing operations

—

Loss from discontinued operations
Diluted income (loss) per common share

$ 0.05

—

(0.54)
$

(0.49)

Weighted average common shares outstanding:
Basic

72,588

72,188

72,410

Diluted

72,588

72,328

72,542

Dividends declared per common share

$

0.60

$

0.60

$

0.60

C O NSOLIDATED STATEMEN TS OF C OM P R E H E N S I V E I N C O ME ( LO S S )
(In thousands)
Net income (loss)

Fiscal 2018
$ (125,480)

Fiscal 2017
$

Fiscal 2016

22,023

$ (24,446)

164

3,662

Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax:
(Increase) decrease in minimum pension/post-retirement liability
(net of deferred tax beneﬁt (expense) of $15, $(107) and $(2,188),
respectively)
Pension reclassiﬁcation (net of deferred tax expense of $0, $0 and
$7,780, respectively) (see Note 8)
Total comprehensive income (loss)

See accompanying notes to consolidated ﬁnancial statements.

(39)
—
$ (125,519)

—
$

22,187

13,022
$

(7,762)
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C O N SOLIDATED BAL AN CE SHEETS
(In thousands, except per share data)

April 28, 2018

April 29, 2017

ASSETS

Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Receivables, net
Merchandise inventories, net
Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Total current assets

$

10,769

$

11,993

64,562

67,294

958,196

946,909

65,153

101,816

1,098,680

1,128,012

Property and equipment:
Land and land improvements

2,541

2,541

Buildings and leasehold improvements

1,080,952

1,072,007

Fixtures and equipment

1,523,485

1,608,433

2,606,978

2,682,981

2,351,454

2,406,859

255,524

276,122

71,593

207,381

309,649

310,205

Less accumulated depreciation and amortization
Net property and equipment
Goodwill
Intangible assets, net
Other non-current assets

14,122

11,201

$1,749,568

$1,932,921

Accounts payable

$ 458,896

$ 473,686

Accrued liabilities

260,209

283,157

Gift card liabilities

323,465

351,424

1,042,570

1,108,267

Long-term debt

158,700

64,900

Deferred taxes

52,044

86,132

Other long-term liabilities

84,271

99,311

Total assets
LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Current liabilities:

Total current liabilities

Shareholders’ equity:
Common stock; $0.001 par value; 300,000 shares authorized; 112,238 and 111,933 shares
issued, respectively
Additional paid-in capital
Accumulated other comprehensive income
Retained earnings
Treasury stock, at cost, 39,585 and 39,497 shares, respectively
Total shareholders’ equity
Commitments and contingencies
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity

See accompanying notes to consolidated ﬁnancial statements.

112

112

1,749,555

1,741,380

276

315

(216,236)

(46,425)

(1,121,724)

(1,121,071)

411,983

574,311

—

—

$1,749,568

$ 1,932,921
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C O NSOLIDATED S TATEMEN TS OF CHA N G E S I N S H A R E H O LD E R S ’ E Q U I T Y

COMMON STOCK

ADDITIONAL
PAID-IN CAPITAL

ACCUMULATED
OTHER
COMPREHENSIVE
GAINS (LOSSES)

$ 98

1,927,997

(16,533)

357,512

(1,079,716)

$1,189,358

Net loss

—

—

—

(24,446)

—

(24,446)

Minimum pension liability, net
of tax

—

—

3,662

—

—

3,662

Pension reclassiﬁcation (see
Note 8)

—

—

13,022

—

—

13,022

Exercise of 111 common stock
options

2

1,301

—

—

—

1,303

Stock options and restricted
stock tax beneﬁts

—

1,094

—

—

—

1,094

Stock-based compensation
expense

—

14,889

—

—

—

14,889

Accretive dividend on preferred
stockholders and membership
interests

—

—

—

(4,204)

—

(4,204)

Inducement fee paid upon
conversion of Series J preferred
stock

—

—

—

(3,657)

—

(3,657)

Cash dividends declared

—

—

—

(46,056)

—

(46,056)

Accrued dividends for long-term
incentive awards

—

—

—

(451)

—

(451)

Purchase of treasury stock
related to stock-based
compensation, 337 shares

—

—

—

—

(4,004)

(4,004)

Treasury stock repurchase plan,
2,763 shares

—

—

—

—

(26,718)

(26,718)

Dividend to preferred
shareholders paid in shares

(In thousands)
Balance at May 2, 2015

RETAINED
EARNINGS

TREASURY
STOCK AT COST

TOTAL

—

1,783

—

(1,783)

—

—

Common shares issued upon
conversion of Series J preferred
stock

12

200,250

—

—

—

200,262

Cash settlement of equity award

—

(8,022)

—

—

—

(8,022)

Separation of B&N Education,
Inc.
Balance at April 30, 2016

—

(401,258)

—

(301,264)

—

(702,522)

$112

1,738,034

151

(24,349)

(1,110,438)

$ 603,510

See accompanying notes to consolidated ﬁnancial statements.
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C O N SOLIDATED S TATEMEN TS OF CHANG E S I N S H A R E H O LD E R S ’ E Q U I T Y

(In thousands)
Balance at April 30, 2016

(CONTINUED)

COMMON STOCK

ADDITIONAL
PAID-IN CAPITAL

ACCUMULATED
OTHER
COMPREHENSIVE
GAINS (LOSSES)

$112

1,738,034

151

(24,349)

(1,110,438)

$603,510

RETAINED
EARNINGS

TREASURY
STOCK AT COST

TOTAL

Net income

—

—

—

22,023

—

22,023

Postretirement plan liability, net
of tax

—

—

164

—

—

164

Exercise of 31 common stock
options

—

312

—

—

—

312

Stock options and restricted
stock tax beneﬁt

—

—

—

1,110

—

1,110

Stock-based compensation
expense

—

6,299

—

—

—

6,299

Cash dividends declared

—

—

—

(43,887)

—

(43,887)

Accrued dividends for long-term
incentive awards

—

—

—

(212)

—

(212)

Purchase of treasury stock
related to stock-based
compensation, 248 shares

—

—

—

—

(2,694)

(2,694)

Treasury stock repurchase plan,
2,020 shares

—

—

—

—

(23,281)

(23,281)

Distribution of Rabbi Trust shares
(see Note 3)

—

(15,342)

—

—

15,342

—

Tax beneﬁt from distribution of
Rabbi Trust

—

10,967

—

—

—

10,967

$112

1,741,380

315

(46,425)

(1,121,071)

$574,311

Adoption of ASU 2016-09 (see
Note 1)

—

1,310

—

155

—

1,465

Balance at April 29, 2017

Net loss

—

—

—

(125,480)

—

(125,480)

Postretirement plan liability, net
of tax

—

—

(39)

—

—

(39)

Stock-based compensation
expense

—

6,865

—

—

—

6,865

Cash dividends declared

—

—

—

(43,638)

—

(43,638)

Accrued dividends for long-term
incentive awards

—

—

—

(848)

—

(848)

Purchase of treasury stock
related to stock-based
compensation, 88 shares

—

—

—

—

(653)

(653)

$112

1,749,555

276

(216,236)

(1,121,724)

$ 411,983

Balance at April 28, 2018

See accompanying notes to consolidated ﬁnancial statements.
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C O NSOLIDATED S TATEMEN TS OF CAS H FLO W S

(In thousands)

Fiscal 2018

Fiscal 2017

Fiscal 2016

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:

Net income (loss)
Net loss from discontinued operations
Net income (loss) from continuing operations

$(125,480)

$ 22,023

$(24,446)

—

—

(39,146)

$(125,480)

$ 22,023

$ 14,700

108,293

119,837

139,138

Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash ﬂows from operating
activities:
Depreciation and amortization (including amortization of deferred ﬁnancing
fees)
Stock-based compensation expense

6,865

6,299

14,201

Impairment charges

135,435

349

3,991

Deferred taxes

(30,865)

28,534

34,604

Loss on disposal of property and equipment
Net decrease in other long-term liabilities
Pension contributions
Pension reclassiﬁcation
Net (increase) decrease in other non-current assets
Changes in operating assets and liabilities, net
Net cash ﬂows provided by operating activities

730

1,262

2,428

(15,094)

(14,602)

(48,025)

—

—

(12,707)

—

—

20,802

(4,962)

872

(3,405)

(37,816)

(17,752)

31,798

$ 37,106

$ 146,822

$197,525

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:

Purchases of property and equipment
Net cash ﬂows used in investing activities

(87,651)

(96,258)

(94,274)

$ (87,651)

$(96,258)

$ (94,274)

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES:

Proceeds from credit facility

1,173,317

1,140,178

929,500

Payments on credit facility

(1,079,517)

(1,122,478)

(882,300)

(43,638)

(43,887)

(46,056)

—

(23,281)

(26,718)

(653)

(2,694)

(4,004)

Payment of credit facility related fees

—

(474)

(5,701)

Proceeds from exercise of common stock options

—

312

1,303

(188)

(85)

—

Cash settlement of equity award

—

—

(8,022)

Cash dividends paid to preferred shareholders

—

—

(3,941)

Inducement fee paid upon conversion of Series J preferred stock

—

—

(3,657)

$ 49,321

$(52,409)

$ (49,596)

Cash dividends paid
Treasury stock repurchase plan
Purchase of treasury stock related to stock-based compensation

Cash dividends paid for long-term incentive awards

Net cash ﬂows provided by (used in) ﬁnancing activities

See accompanying notes to consolidated ﬁnancial statements.
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C O N SOLIDATED S TATEMEN TS OF CAS H FLO W S
(In thousands)

(CONTINUED)

Fiscal 2018

Fiscal 2017

Fiscal 2016

CASH FLOWS FROM DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS:

Operating cash ﬂows

—

$ (86,384)

Investing cash ﬂows

$

—

—

(11,764)

Financing cash ﬂows (including cash at date of Spin-Off)

—

—

(16,029)

Net cash ﬂows used in discontinued operations

—

$

—

—

(114,177)

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents

(1,224)

(1,845)

(60,522)

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period

11,993

13,838

74,360

$ 10,769

$ 11,993

$ 13,838

Receivables, net

$2,732

$ 57,623

$ (64,652)

Merchandise inventories, net

(11,287)

(13,186)

62,015

Prepaid expenses and other current assets

37,096

4,096

(11,947)

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period
CHANGES IN OPERATING ASSETS AND LIABILITIES, NET:

Accounts payable, accrued liabilities and gift card liabilities

(66,357)

(66,285)

46,382

$(37,816)

$(17,752)

$ 31,798

Interest

$ 7,611

$ 5,487

$ 12,217

Income taxes (net of refunds)

$ (3,145)

$(16,859)

$ 16,107

Accrued dividends for long-term incentive awards

$ 1,237

$

577

$

451

Dividends to preferred stockholders paid in shares

$

—

$

—

$

1,783

Issuance of common stock upon conversion of Series J preferred stock

$

—

$

—

$ 200,262

Changes in operating assets and liabilities, net
SUPPLEMENTAL CASH FLOW INFORMATION:

Cash paid during the period for:

NON-CASH FINANCING ACTIVITY:

See accompanying notes to consolidated ﬁnancial statements.
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NOTES TO CONS OL IDATED FIN AN CIAL S TAT E ME N T S
(Thousands of dollars, except per share data)
For the 52 weeks ended April 28, 2018 (ﬁscal 2018), 52
weeks ended April 29, 2017 (ﬁscal 2017) and 52 weeks
ended April 30, 2016 (ﬁscal 2016).
1.

SU M M A RY O F S IG NIF IC A N T A C C O U NT ING
PO L I CI E S

Business

Barnes & Noble, Inc. (Barnes & Noble or the Company),
one of the nation’s largest booksellers,3 provides customers
a unique experience across its multi-channel distribution
platform. As of April 28, 2018, the Company operates 630
bookstores in 50 states, maintains an eCommerce site,
develops digital reading products and operates NOOK, one
of the largest digital bookstores. Barnes & Noble is utilizing
the strength of its retail footprint in combination with its
online and digital businesses to provide an omni-channel
experience for its customers, fulﬁlling its commitment to
oﬀer customers any book, anytime, anywhere and in any
format.
Barnes & Noble Retail (B&N Retail) operates 630
retail bookstores, primarily under the Barnes & Noble
Booksellers® trade name, and includes the Company’s
eCommerce site. B&N Retail also includes Sterling
Publishing Co., Inc. (Sterling or Sterling Publishing), a
leader in general trade book publishing. The NOOK segment represents the Company’s digital business, oﬀering
digital books and magazines for sale and consumption
K® tabonline, NOOK
K®4 reading devices, co-branded NOOK
lets and reading software for iOS, Android and Windows.
The Company’s principal business is the sale of trade books
(generally, hardcover and paperback titles), mass market
paperbacks (such as mystery, romance, science ﬁction and
other popular ﬁction), children’s books, eBooks and other
digital content, NOOK
K® and related accessories, bargain
books, magazines, gifts, café products and services, educational toys & games, music and movies direct to customers
through its bookstores or on www.barnesandnoble.com.
The Company oﬀers its customers a full suite of textbook
options (new, used, digital and rental).
3 Based upon sales reported in trade publications and public ﬁlings.
4Any references to NOOK® include the Company’s NOOK® Tablet,

Samsung Galaxy Tab® A NOOK®, Samsung Galaxy Tab® S2 NOOK®,
Samsung Galaxy Tab® E NOOK® and NOOK GlowLightTM 3 devices, each
of which includes the trademark symbol (® or ™, as applicable) even if a
trademark symbol is not included.

The Company identiﬁes its operating segments based on
the way the business is managed (focusing on the ﬁnancial
information distributed) and the manner in which the chief
operating decision maker interacts with other members
of management, and makes decisions on the allocation of
resources. The Company’s two operating segments are B&N
Retail and NOOK.
Consolidation

The consolidated ﬁnancial statements include the accounts
of Barnes & Noble, Inc. and its wholly and majority-owned
subsidiaries. All signiﬁcant intercompany accounts and
transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.
Use of Estimates

In preparing ﬁnancial statements in conformity with
generally accepted accounting principles, the Company is
required to make estimates and assumptions that aﬀect the
reported amounts of assets and liabilities and the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the
ﬁnancial statements and revenues and expenses during
the reporting period. Actual results could diﬀer from those
estimates.
Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Company considers all short-term, highly liquid
instruments purchased with an original maturity of three
months or less to be cash equivalents.
Merchandise Inventories

Merchandise inventories, except NOOK merchandise
inventories, are stated at the lower of cost or market. Cost is
determined primarily by the retail inventory method under
the ﬁrst-in, ﬁrst-out (FIFO) basis. NOOK merchandise
inventories are recorded based on the average cost method
and are valued at the lower of cost and net realizable value.
Market is determined based on the estimated net realizable value, which is generally the selling price. Reserves
for non-returnable inventory are based on the Company’s
history of liquidating non-returnable inventory.
The Company also estimates and accrues shortage for the
period between the last physical count of inventory and
the balance sheet date. Shortage rates are estimated and
accrued based on historical rates and can be aﬀected by
changes in merchandise mix and changes in actual shortage
trends.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS continued

Property and Equipment and Other Long-Lived Assets

Goodwill and Unamortizable Intangible Assets

Property and equipment are carried at cost, less accumulated depreciation and amortization. For ﬁnancial
reporting purposes, depreciation is computed using
the straight-line method over estimated useful lives.
Maintenance and repairs are expensed as incurred, while
major maintenance and remodeling costs are capitalized if
they extend the useful life of the asset. Leasehold improvements are capitalized and amortized over the shorter of
their estimated useful lives or the terms of the respective leases. Fixtures and equipment are capitalized and
amortized over the shorter of their estimated useful lives
or 10 years. Capitalized lease acquisition costs are being
amortized over the lease terms of the underlying leases.
System costs are capitalized and included in property
and equipment. These costs are depreciated over their
estimated useful lives from the date the systems become
operational. The Company had $255,524 and $276,122 of
property and equipment, net of accumulated depreciation, at April 28, 2018 and April 29, 2017, respectively, and
$105,696, $117,105 and $134,850 of depreciation expense
for ﬁscal 2018, ﬁscal 2017 and ﬁscal 2016, respectively.
Capitalized software costs of $72,462 and $75,893 for ﬁscal
2018 and ﬁscal 2017, respectively, are included in property
and equipment.

The costs in excess of net assets of businesses acquired
are carried as goodwill in the accompanying consolidated
balance sheets.

The Company reviews its long-lived assets for impairment
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that
the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable and
considers market participants in accordance with ASC 36010, Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived
Assets (ASC 360-10). The Company evaluates its stores’
long-lived assets and its other long-lived assets for impairment at the individual Barnes & Noble store level and at
the reporting unit level, respectively, which is the lowest
level at which individual cash ﬂows can be identiﬁed. When
evaluating long-lived assets for potential impairment, the
Company will ﬁrst compare the carrying amount of the
assets to the individual store’s estimated future undiscounted cash ﬂows. If the estimated future cash ﬂows are
less than the carrying amount of the assets, an impairment
loss calculation is prepared. The impairment loss calculation compares the carrying amount of the assets to the
individual store’s fair value based on its estimated discounted future cash ﬂows. If required, an impairment loss
is recorded for that portion of the asset’s carrying value in
excess of fair value. Impairment losses included in selling
and administrative expenses related to amortizable assets
totaled $1,823, $349 and $150 during ﬁscal 2018, ﬁscal
2017 and ﬁscal 2016, respectively.

At April 28, 2018, the Company had $71,593 of goodwill
(on its Retail reporting unit) and $309,294 of unamortizable intangible assets (those with an indeﬁnite useful life),
accounting for approximately 21.8% of the Company’s
total assets. ASC 350-30 requires that goodwill and other
unamortizable intangible assets no longer be amortized,
but instead be tested for impairment at least annually or
earlier if there are impairment indicators.
In January 2017, the FASB issued ASU 2017-04, which simpliﬁes the subsequent measurement of goodwill by removing the requirement to perform a hypothetical purchase
price allocation to compute the implied fair value of goodwill to measure impairment. Instead, goodwill impairment
is measured as the diﬀerence between the fair value of the
reporting unit and the carrying value of the reporting unit.
The standard also clariﬁes the treatment of the income tax
eﬀect of tax-deductible goodwill when measuring goodwill
impairment loss. This standard is eﬀective for annual or
any interim goodwill impairment test in ﬁscal years beginning after December 15, 2019, with early adoption permitted for impairment tests performed after January 1, 2017.
The Company has early adopted ASU 2017-04 on October
29, 2017, the ﬁrst day of the third quarter of ﬁscal 2018.
The Company compares the fair value of a reporting unit
and the carrying value of the reporting unit to measure
goodwill impairment loss as required by ASU 2017-04.
Fair value was determined using the combination of a
discounted cash ﬂow method (income approach) and the
guideline public company method (market comparable
approach), weighted equally in determining the fair value
of the reporting units. The market comparable approach
estimates fair value using market multiples of various
ﬁnancial measures compared to a set of comparable public
companies. In performing the valuations, signiﬁcant
assumptions utilized include unobservable Level 3 inputs
including cash ﬂows and long-term growth rates reﬂective of management’s forecasted outlook, and discount
rates inclusive of risk adjustments consistent with current
market conditions. Discount rates are based on the development of a weighted average cost of capital using guideline
public company data, factoring in current market data and
any company speciﬁc risk factors.
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The Company completed its annual goodwill impairment test as of the ﬁrst day of the third quarter of ﬁscal
2018 (October 29, 2017). The fair value of the B&N Retail
reporting unit had been in excess of carrying value as of
the ﬁrst day of the third quarter of ﬁscal 2017 (October
30, 2016) and ﬁscal 2018 (October 29, 2017) based on the
annual goodwill impairment test performed as of those
dates. In addition, no impairment indicators had arisen
after that test to signal that an interim impairment test
should be performed prior to the next annual test. Although
no impairment resulted from the Company’s next annual
goodwill impairment test as of October 29, 2017, the fair
value of the B&N Retail reporting unit (for which $207,381
of goodwill was allocated as of such date) only exceeded its
carrying value by approximately $26,800 or 5%.
Subsequent to the annual goodwill impairment test as
of October 29, 2017, sales trends unexpectedly softened
during the holiday selling season. Given these lower than
expected sales results, the Company revised its forecasted
outlook. Following the announcement on January 4, 2018 of
the Company’s holiday sales results and its revised outlook,
the market price of the Company’s common stock sharply
declined. Due to these new impairment indicators, the
Company performed an interim goodwill impairment test
as of December 30, 2017. As a result of this interim testing,
the Company recognized an impairment of its B&N Retail
reporting unit goodwill of $133,612. While the Company
has initiated a strategic turnaround plan focused on stabilizing sales, improving productivity and reducing expenses,
achievement of its long-term goals requires a signiﬁcant
multi-year transformation. The interim test incorporated revised discounted cash ﬂow projections given the
Company’s holiday sales performance and the early stage
of its turnaround eﬀorts. The fair value of the B&N Retail
reporting unit had declined from the prior test primarily
as a result of the revised forecast and an increased discount
rate to account for risk in the Company’s plan. The goodwill
of the B&N Retail reporting unit is subject to further risk of
impairment if B&N Retail comparable store sales continue
to decline, the Company’s cost reduction plans do not
materialize, store closings accelerate, the assumed longterm discount rate increases or in general the Company
does not achieve its forecasted strategic turnaround plan.
There were no indicators of impairment identiﬁed subsequent to the December 30, 2017 impairment test.
There were no impairment losses related to goodwill during ﬁscal 2017 and ﬁscal 2016.

In addition to goodwill, the Company tests unamortizable intangible assets by comparing the fair value and the
carrying value of such assets. The Company also completed
its annual impairment tests for its other unamortizable
intangible assets by comparing the estimated fair value to
the carrying value of such assets. Based on the results of the
Company’s tests, it recorded impairment losses included in
selling and administrative expenses related to unamortizable intangible assets totaling $0, $0 and $3,840 during
ﬁscal 2018, ﬁscal 2017 and ﬁscal 2016, respectively.
With regard to valuing its trade name, the Company uses
the relief from royalty method (income approach). The
estimated fair value of the Company’s trade name exceeded
its carrying value by approximately $17,100, or 5%, as of
October 29, 2017. Based on the impairment indicators
noted above, the Company performed an interim impairment test of its trade name as of December 30, 2017 and the
estimated fair value exceeded its carrying value by approximately $23,500, or 8%, as of that date. Signiﬁcant assumptions used to determine fair value under the relief from
royalty method include future trends in sales, a royalty rate
and an appropriate discount rate inclusive of risk adjustments consistent with market conditions and company
speciﬁc risk factors. The fair value of the Company’s trade
name had declined from the prior year primarily as a result
of declining sales and an increased discount rate to account
for risk in the Company’s revised forecast. Although the
Company determined that no impairment charge was necessary, the Company’s trade name is at risk of impairment
if B&N Retail comparable store sales continue to decline,
forecasted sales expectations are not met, store closings
accelerate, the assumed long-term discount rate increases,
or in general the Company does not achieve its forecasted
strategic turnaround plan. There were no indicators of
impairment identiﬁed subsequent to the December 30,
2017 impairment test.
The fair value of the Company’s publishing contracts
was determined using the discounted cash ﬂow method
(income approach). Based on this test, the estimated fair
value of the Company’s publishing contracts exceeded
its carrying value by approximately $4,200, or 26%. The
Company’s publishing contracts are subject to risk of
impairment if forecasted sales expectations are not met,
the assumed long-term discount rate increases, or in
general the Company does not achieve its forecasted strategic turnaround. Such publishing contracts were tested
for impairment and the Company determined that no
impairment charge was necessary for ﬁscal 2018 and ﬁscal
2017. During ﬁscal 2016, the Company impaired one of its
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publishing contracts due to a signiﬁcant drop in business
with that publisher, driven by lower title oﬀerings, product
quality and the loss of a distribution partner. As a result,
the Company recorded an impairment charge of $3,840
in selling and administrative expenses. The publishing
contracts include the value of long-standing relationships
with authors, agents and publishers established upon the
Company’s acquisition of Sterling in 2003. Given Sterling’s
strong history of maintaining such relationships, the
Company believes they produce value indeﬁnitely without
an identiﬁable remaining useful life.
Deferred Charges

Costs incurred to obtain long-term ﬁnancing are amortized
over the terms of the respective debt agreements using the
straight-line method, which approximates the eﬀective
interest method. Unamortized costs included in other noncurrent assets as of April 28, 2018 and April 29, 2017 were
$4,393 and $6,346, respectively. Amortization expense
included in interest and amortization of deferred ﬁnancing
fees was $1,953, $1,950 and $3,276 during ﬁscal 2018, ﬁscal
2017 and ﬁscal 2016, respectively.
Revenue Recognition

Revenue from sales of the Company’s products is recognized at the time of sale or shipment, other than those with
multiple elements and Free On Board (FOB) destination
point shipping terms. The Company accrues for estimated
sales returns in the period in which the related revenue is
recognized based on historical experience. ECommerce
revenue from sales of products ordered through the
Company’s websites is recognized upon estimated delivery and receipt of the shipment by its customers. Freight
costs are included within the Company’s cost of sales and
occupancy. Sales taxes collected from retail customers are
excluded from reported revenues. All of the Company’s
sales are recognized as revenue on a “net” basis, including
sales in connection with any periodic promotions oﬀered
to customers. The Company does not treat any promotional
oﬀers as expenses.
In accordance with ASC 605-25, Revenue Recognition,
Multiple-Element Arrangements, and Accounting Standards
Updates (ASU) 2009-13 and 2009-14, for multiple-element
arrangements that involve tangible products that contain
software that is essential to the tangible product’s functionality, undelivered software elements that relate to the
tangible product’s essential software and other separable
elements, the Company allocates revenue to all deliverables using the relative selling-price method. Under this

method, revenue is allocated at the time of sale to all deliverables based on their relative selling price using a speciﬁc
hierarchy. The hierarchy is as follows: vendor-speciﬁc
objective evidence, third-party evidence of selling price,
or best estimate of selling price. NOOK
K® device revenue is
recognized at the segment point of sale.
The Company includes post-service customer support (PCS) in the form of software updates and potential
increased functionality on a when-and-if-available basis
with the purchase of a NOOK
K® from the Company. Using
the relative selling-price method described above, the
Company allocates revenue based on the best estimate of
selling price for the deliverables as no vendor-speciﬁc
objective evidence or third-party evidence exists for any of
the elements. Revenue allocated to NOOK
K® and the software
essential to its functionality is recognized at the time of
sale, provided all other conditions for revenue recognition
are met. Revenue allocated to the PCS is deferred and recognized on a straight-line basis over the 2-year estimated
life of a NOOK
K® device.
The average percentage of a NOOK
K®’s sales price that is
deferred for undelivered items and recognized over its
2-year estimated life ranges between 0% and 5%, depending on the type of device sold. The amount of NOOK
K®related deferred revenue as of April 28, 2018 and April
29, 2017 was $61 and $226, respectively. These amounts
are classiﬁed on the Company’s balance sheet in accrued
liabilities for the portion that is subject to deferral for one
year or less and other long-term liabilities for the portion
that is subject to deferral for more than one year.
The Company also pays certain vendors who distributed
NOOK
K® a commission on the content sales sold through
that device. The Company accounts for these transactions
as a reduction in the sales price of the NOOK
K® based on
historical trends of content sales and a liability is established for the estimated commission expected to be paid
over the life of the product. The Company recognizes
revenue of the content at the point of sale of the content.
The Company records revenue from sales of digital content,
sales of third-party extended warranties, service contracts
and other products, for which the Company is not obligated
to perform, and for which the Company does not meet the
criteria for gross revenue recognition under ASC 605-4545, Reporting Revenue Gross as a Principal versus Net as an
Agent, on a net basis. All other revenue is recognized on a
gross basis.
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The Company rents physical textbooks. Revenue from the
rental of physical textbooks is deferred and recognized
over the rental period commencing at point of sale. The
Company oﬀers a buyout option to allow the purchase of
a rented book at the end of the semester. The Company
records the buyout purchase when the customer exercises
and pays the buyout option price. In these instances, the
Company would accelerate any remaining deferred rental
revenue at the point of sale.
NOOK acquires the rights to distribute digital content from
publishers and distributes the content on www.barnesandnoble.com, NOOK
K® devices and other eBookstore
platforms. Certain digital content is distributed under an
agency pricing model, in which the publishers set prices for
eBooks and NOOK receives a commission on content sold
through the eBookstore. The majority of the Company’s
eBooks sold are under the agency model.
The Barnes & Noble Membership Program oﬀers members
greater discounts and other beneﬁts for products and services, as well as exclusive oﬀers and promotions via e-mail
or direct mail, for an annual fee of $25.00, which is nonrefundable after the ﬁrst 30 days. Revenue is recognized
over the 12-month period based upon historical spending
patterns for Barnes & Noble members.
Research and Development Costs for Software Products

The Company follows the guidance in ASC 985-20, Cost of
Software to Be Sold, Leased or Marketed, regarding research
and development costs for software products to be sold,
leased, or otherwise marketed. Capitalization of software
development costs begins upon the establishment of
technological feasibility and is discontinued when the
product is available for sale. A certain amount of judgment
and estimation is required to assess when technological
feasibility is established, as well as the ongoing assessment
of the recoverability of capitalized costs. The Company’s
products reach technological feasibility shortly before the
products are released and, therefore, research and development costs are generally expensed as incurred.
Internal-Use Software and Website Development Costs

Direct costs incurred to develop software for internal
use and website development costs are capitalized and
amortized over an estimated useful life of three to seven
years. During ﬁscal 2018 and ﬁscal 2017, the Company
capitalized costs, primarily related to labor, consulting,
hardware and software, of $17,572 and $18,450, respectively. Amortization of previously capitalized amounts was
$21,807, $23,584 and $30,461 for ﬁscal 2018, ﬁscal 2017

and ﬁscal 2016, respectively. Costs related to the design or
maintenance of internal-use software and website development are expensed as incurred.
Advertising Costs

The costs of advertising are expensed as incurred during the year pursuant to ASC 720-35, Advertising Costs.
Advertising costs charged to selling and administrative
expenses were $27,553, $36,420 and $53,569 during ﬁscal
2018, ﬁscal 2017 and ﬁscal 2016, respectively.
The Company receives payments and credits from vendors
pursuant to co-operative advertising and other programs,
including payments for product placement in stores, catalogs and online. In accordance with ASC 605-50-25-10,
Customer’s Accounting for Certain Consideration Received from
a Vendor, the Company classiﬁes certain co-op advertising
received as a reduction in costs of sales and occupancy.
Allowances received from vendors exceeded gross advertising costs in each of the ﬁscal years noted above.
Closed Store Expenses

When the Company closes or relocates a store, the
Company charges unrecoverable costs to expense. Such
costs include the net book value of abandoned ﬁxtures and
leasehold improvements and, when a store is closed prior
to the expiration of the lease, a provision for future lease
obligations, net of expected sublease recoveries. Costs
associated with store closings of $474, $1,434 and $744
during ﬁscal 2018, ﬁscal 2017 and ﬁscal 2016, respectively,
are included in selling and administrative expenses in the
accompanying consolidated statements of operations.
Net Earnings (Loss) per Share

In accordance with ASC 260-10-45, Share-Based Payment
Arrangements and Participating Securities and the Two-Class
Method, unvested share-based payment awards that contain
rights to receive non-forfeitable dividends are considered
participating securities. The Company’s unvested restricted
shares and unvested restricted stock units granted prior
to July 15, 2015 and shares issuable under the Company’s
deferred compensation plan were considered participating securities. Cash dividends to restricted stock units
and performance-based stock units granted on or after
July 15, 2015 are not distributed until and except to the
extent that the restricted stock units vest, and in the case
of performance-based stock units, until and except to the
extent that the performance metrics are achieved or are
otherwise deemed satisﬁed. Stock options do not receive
cash dividends. As such, these awards are not considered
participating securities.
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Basic earnings per common share is calculated by dividing the net income, adjusted for preferred dividends
and income allocated to participating securities, by the
weighted average number of common shares outstanding
during the period.Diluted net income per common share
reﬂects the dilution that would occur if any potentially
dilutive instruments were exercised or converted into common shares. The dilutive eﬀect of participating securities
is calculated using the more dilutive of the treasury stock
method or two-class method. Other potentially dilutive
securities include preferred stock, stock options, restricted
stock units granted after July 15, 2015, and performancebased stock units and are included in diluted shares to the
extent they are dilutive under the treasury stock method
for the applicable periods. See Note 7 to the Consolidated
Financial Statements for further information regarding the
calculation of basic and diluted earnings (loss) per common share.
Income Taxes

The provision for income taxes includes federal, state and
local income taxes currently payable and those deferred
because of temporary diﬀerences between the ﬁnancial
statement and tax bases of assets and liabilities. The
deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using
the enacted tax rates and laws that are expected to be in
eﬀect when the diﬀerences reverse. The Company regularly reviews its deferred tax assets for recoverability and
establishes a valuation allowance, if determined to be
necessary. The Company establishes a reserve for uncertain
tax positions. If the Company considers that a tax position
is more likely than not of being sustained upon audit, based
solely on the technical merits of the position, it recognizes
the tax beneﬁt. The Company measures the tax beneﬁt by
determining the largest amount that is greater than 50%
likely of being realized upon settlement, presuming that
the tax position is examined by the appropriate taxing
authority that has full knowledge of all relevant information. A reserve for an uncertain income tax position will be
recognized if it has less than a 50% likelihood of being sustained. The tax positions are analyzed periodically (at least
quarterly) and adjustments are made as events occur that
warrant adjustments for those positions. The Company’s
policy is to recognize interest and penalties related to
income tax matters in income tax expense.
Gift Cards

The Company sells gift cards, which can be used in its
stores, on www.barnesandnoble.com, on NOOK
K® devices
and at B&N Education stores. The Company does not charge

administrative or dormancy fees on gift cards and gift
cards have no expiration dates. Upon the purchase of a gift
card, a liability is established for its cash value. Revenue
associated with gift cards is deferred until redemption of
the gift card. Gift cards redeemed at B&N Education are
funded by the gift card liability at the Company. Over time,
a portion of the gift cards issued is typically not redeemed.
The Company estimates the portion of the gift card liability
for which the likelihood of redemption is remote based
upon the Company’s historical redemption patterns. The
Company records this amount in revenue on a straight-line
basis over a 12-month period beginning in the 13th month
after the month the gift card was originally sold. Additional
breakage may be required if gift card redemptions continue
to run lower than historical patterns.
The Company recognized gift card breakage of $43,922,
$35,524 and $29,074 during ﬁscal 2018, ﬁscal 2017 and ﬁscal 2016, respectively. The Company had gift card liabilities
of $323,465 and $351,424 as of April 28, 2018 and April 29,
2017, respectively.
Accounts Receivable

Accounts receivable, as presented on the Company’s
Consolidated Balance Sheets, is net of allowances. An
allowance for doubtful accounts is determined through
an analysis of the aging of accounts receivable and assessments of collectability based on historic trends, the
ﬁnancial condition of the Company’s customers and an
evaluation of economic conditions. The Company writes
oﬀ uncollectible trade receivables once collection eﬀorts
have been exhausted. Costs associated with allowable
customer markdowns and operational chargebacks, net
of the expected recoveries, are part of the provision for
allowances included in accounts receivable. These provisions result from seasonal negotiations, as well as historic
deduction trends net of expected recoveries, and the evaluation of current market conditions.
Reclassiﬁcations

Certain prior period amounts have been reclassiﬁed for
comparative purposes to conform with the ﬁscal 2018
presentation.
Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In February 2018, the FASB issued ASU 2018-02, Income
Statement — Reporting Comprehensive Income (Topic 220):
Reclassiﬁcation of Certain Tax Eﬀects from Accumulated Other
Comprehensive Income, which allows for an optional reclassiﬁcation from accumulated other comprehensive income
to retained earnings for stranded tax eﬀects as a result of
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the newly enacted federal corporate income tax rate under
the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act. This guidance is eﬀective for
interim and annual periods beginning after December 15,
2018, with early adoption permitted. Two transition methods are available: at the beginning of the period of adoption, or retrospective to each period in which the income
tax eﬀects of the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act related to items
remaining in accumulated other comprehensive income
are recognized. The Company is evaluating the eﬀect this
ASU will have on its consolidated ﬁnancial statements and
related disclosures.
In January 2017, the FASB issued ASU 2017-04.The standard simpliﬁes the subsequent measurement of goodwill
by removing the requirement to perform a hypothetical
purchase price allocation to compute the implied fair value
of goodwill to measure impairment. Instead, goodwill
impairment is measured as the diﬀerence between the
fair value of the reporting unit and the carrying value of
the reporting unit. The standard also clariﬁes the treatment of the income tax eﬀect of tax-deductible goodwill
when measuring goodwill impairment loss. This standard
is eﬀective for annual or any interim goodwill impairment
test in ﬁscal years beginning after December 15, 2019, with
early adoption permitted for impairment tests performed
after January 1, 2017. The Company has early adopted ASU
2017-04 on October 29, 2017, the ﬁrst day of the third
quarter of ﬁscal 2018.
In August 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-15, Statement
of Cash Flows (Topic 230) — Classiﬁcation of Certain Cash
Receipts and Cash Payments (ASU 2016-15). This update
clariﬁes the classiﬁcation of certain cash receipts and cash
payments in the statement of cash ﬂows, including debt
prepayment or extinguishment costs, settlement of contingent consideration arising from a business combination,
insurance settlement proceeds, and distributions from
certain equity method investees. The new standard is eﬀective for ﬁscal years, and interim periods within those ﬁscal
years, beginning after December 15, 2017. Early adoption
is permitted. ASU 2016-15 is eﬀective for the Company
beginning April 29, 2018 under a retrospective approach.
The Company does not expect adoption will have a material
impact on its consolidated statement of cash ﬂows.
In March 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-09,
Compensation — Stock Compensation (Topic 718) —
Improvements to Employee Share-Based Payment Accounting
(ASU 2016-09). ASU 2016-09 includes provisions to
simplify certain aspects related to the accounting for sharebased awards and the related ﬁnancial statement presenta-

tion. ASU 2016-09 provides for changes to accounting for
stock compensation, including: 1) excess tax beneﬁts and
tax deﬁciencies related to share based payment awards to
be recognized as income tax beneﬁt or expense when the
awards vest or are settled (previously such amounts were
recognized in additional paid-in capital); entities must
apply the new guidance on accounting for excess tax beneﬁts and tax deﬁciencies prospectively, except for excess
tax beneﬁts that were identiﬁed from previous transactions
that had not been previously recognized because the related
tax deduction did not reduce income taxes payable; entities
must use a modiﬁed retrospective transition method to
recognize such excess tax beneﬁts as a credit to retained
earnings; any deferred tax assets recorded in connection
with the modiﬁed retrospective recognition of excess tax
beneﬁts must be assessed for realizability, and, if necessary, a valuation allowance must be recognized through
a cumulative-eﬀect adjustment to retained earnings; 2)
excess tax beneﬁts will be classiﬁed as an operating activity
in the statement of cash ﬂows; 3) the option to elect to
estimate forfeitures or account for them when they occur;
4) classiﬁcation of cash payments made on an employee’s
behalf for withheld shares should be presented as a ﬁnancing activity in the statements of cash ﬂows; and 5) eliminating the requirement to delay the recognition of excess
tax beneﬁts until it reduces current taxes payable.
The Company adopted ASU 2016-09 during the ﬁrst quarter ended July 29, 2017. Accordingly, the primary eﬀects of
the adoption are as follows: 1) excess tax expense of $915
was recorded during ﬁscal 2018 related to the prospective application of excess tax beneﬁts and tax deﬁciencies
related to stock-based compensation settlements; 2)
using a modiﬁed retrospective application, the Company
recorded unrecognized excess tax beneﬁts of $1,235 as a
cumulative-eﬀect adjustment, which increased retained
earnings, and reduced deferred taxes by the same; 3) using
a modiﬁed retrospective application, the Company has
elected to recognize forfeitures as they occur and recorded
a $1,310 increase to additional paid-in capital, a $1,079
reduction to retained earnings, and a $231 reduction to
deferred taxes to reﬂect the incremental stock-based
compensation expense, net of the related tax impacts,
that would have been recognized in prior years under the
modiﬁed guidance; and 4) $1,579 and $1,838 in excess tax
beneﬁts from stock-based compensation was reclassiﬁed
from cash ﬂows from ﬁnancing activities to cash ﬂows from
operating activities for ﬁscal 2017 and ﬁscal 2016, respectively, in the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows.
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In February 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-02, Leases
(Topic 842) (ASU 2016-02), in order to increase transparency and comparability among organizations by recognizing lease assets and lease liabilities on the balance sheet for
those leases classiﬁed as operating leases under previous
Generally Accepted Accounting Principles. ASU 2016-02
requires that a lessee should recognize a liability to make
lease payments (the lease liability) and a right-of-use asset
representing its right to use the underlying asset for the
lease term on the balance sheet. ASU 2016-02 requires
expanded disclosures about the nature and terms of lease
agreements and is eﬀective for annual reporting periods
beginning after December 15, 2018, including interim
periods within that reporting period. Early adoption is
permitted. A modiﬁed retrospective transition approach
is required for leases existing at, or entered into after, the
beginning of the earliest comparative period presented in
the ﬁnancial statements. The Company plans to adopt ASU
2016-02 eﬀective April 28, 2019. The Company remains
on schedule and has implemented key system functionality
to enable the preparation of restated ﬁnancial information. The Company is currently evaluating the provisions
of this standard and assessing its existing lease portfolio in
order to determine the impact on its accounting systems,
processes and internal controls over ﬁnancial reporting.
The Company expects the adoption of this standard will
result in a signiﬁcant increase to its long-term assets and
liabilities on its consolidated balance sheet. However, the
Company does not expect adoption will have a material
impact on its consolidated statement of operations and
cash ﬂows.
In July 2015, the FASB issued ASU 2015-11, Simplifying the
Measurement of Inventoryy (ASU 2015-11), modifying the
accounting for inventory. Under ASU 2015-11, the measurement principle for inventory will change from lower
of cost or market value to lower of cost and net realizable
value. ASU 2015-11 deﬁnes net realizable value as the
estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business,
less reasonably predictable costs of completion, disposal,
and transportation. ASU 2015-11 is applicable to inventory
that is accounted for under the ﬁrst-in, ﬁrst-out method
and is eﬀective for ﬁscal years beginning after December
15, 2016, including interim periods within those ﬁscal years, with early adoption permitted. The Company
adopted ASU 2015-11 eﬀective April 30, 2017. The majority
of the Company’s merchandise inventories are valued using
the retail inventory method, which is outside the scope of
ASU 2015-11. The remaining inventory of the Company’s
merchandise inventories are valued at the lower of cost

and net realizable value using the average cost method.
The Company applied the amendments in this update
prospectively to the measurement of inventory after the
date of adoption with no material impact to the Company’s
consolidated ﬁnancial statements.
In May 2014, the FASB issued ASU 2014-09, Revenue from
Contracts with Customers, which was further amended
in 2015 and 2016 (Topic 606). The standard provides
companies with a single model for use in accounting
for revenue arising from contracts with customers and
supersedes current revenue recognition guidance, including industry-speciﬁc revenue guidance. The core principle
of the model is to recognize revenue when control of the
goods or services transfers to the customer, as opposed to
recognizing revenue when the risks and rewards transfer
to the customer under the existing revenue guidance. Topic
606 was eﬀective for the Company on April 29, 2018. The
guidance permits companies to either apply the requirements retrospectively to all prior periods presented (full
retrospective method), or apply the requirements in the
year of adoption, through a cumulative adjustment (modiﬁed retrospective method). The Company will adopt Topic
606 in the ﬁrst quarter of ﬁscal 2019 using the modiﬁed
retrospective method. The new standard primarily impacts
the Company’s accounting for gift card breakage. Under
Topic 606, the Company will recognize gift card breakage
proportionately as redemptions occur. The changes in
accounting policies related to the adoption of Topic 606
will result in a cumulative adjustment net of income taxes
to increase retained earnings of approximately $65,000 to
$80,000. The Company is in the process of implementing
changes to its processes, controls and systems in support of
the adoption of this ASU.
Reporting Period

The Company’s ﬁscal year is comprised of 52 or 53 weeks,
ending on the Saturday closest to the last day of April. The
reporting periods ended April 28, 2018, April 29, 2017 and
April 30, 2016 each contained 52 weeks.
2.

CREDIT FACIL ITY

On August 3, 2015, the Company and certain of its subsidiaries entered into a credit agreement (Credit Agreement)
with Bank of America, N.A., as administrative agent, collateral agent and swing line lender, and the other lenders
from time to time party thereto, under which the lenders
committed to provide a ﬁve-year asset-backed revolving credit facility in an aggregate committed principal
amount of up to $700,000 (Revolving Credit Facility). On
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September 30, 2016, the Company amended the Credit
Agreement to provide for a new “ﬁrst-in, last-out” revolving credit facility (the FILO Credit Facility and, together
with the Revolving Credit Facility, the Credit Facility) in
an aggregate principal amount of up to $50,000, which
supplements availability under the Revolving Credit
Facility. The Company generally must draw down the FILO
Credit Facility before making any borrowings under the
Revolving Credit Facility.
Merrill Lynch, Pierce, Fenner & Smith Incorporated,
J.P. Morgan Securities LLC, Wells Fargo Bank, N.A. and
SunTrust Robinson Humphrey, Inc. are the joint lead
arrangers for the Credit Facility. The Credit Facility
replaced the prior credit facility. Proceeds from the Credit
Facility are used for general corporate purposes, including
seasonal working capital needs.
The Company and certain of its subsidiaries are permitted to borrow under the Credit Facility. The Credit Facility
is secured by substantially all of the inventory, accounts
receivable and related assets of the borrowers under the
Credit Facility (collectively, the Loan Parties), but excluding
the equity interests in the Company and its subsidiaries,
intellectual property, equipment and certain other property. Borrowings under the Credit Facility are limited to a
speciﬁed percentage of eligible collateral. The Company
has the option to request an increase in commitments
under the Credit Facility of up to $250,000, subject to
certain restrictions.
The Credit Facility allows the Company to declare and pay
up to $70,000 in dividends annually to its stockholders
without compliance with any availability or ratio-based
limitations.
Interest under the Revolving Credit Facility accrues, at the
election of the Company, at a LIBOR or alternate base rate,
plus, in each case, an applicable interest rate margin, which
is determined by reference to the level of excess availability
under the Revolving Credit Facility. Through the end of the
ﬁscal quarter during which the closing of the Revolving
Credit Facility occurred, loans under the Revolving Credit
Facility bore interest at LIBOR plus 1.750% per annum, in
the case of LIBOR borrowings, or at the alternate base rate
plus 0.750% per annum, in the alternative, and thereafter
the interest rate began to ﬂuctuate between LIBOR plus
2.000% per annum and LIBOR plus 1.500% per annum (or
between the alternate base rate plus 1.000% per annum
and the alternate base rate plus 0.500% per annum), based
upon the average daily availability under the Revolving

Credit Facility for the immediately preceding ﬁscal quarter.
Interest under the FILO Credit Facility accrues, at the election of the Company, at a LIBOR or alternate base rate, plus,
in each case, an applicable interest rate margin, which is
also determined by reference to the level of excess availability under the Revolving Credit Facility. Loans under
the FILO Credit Facility bear interest at 1.000% per annum
more than loans under the Revolving Credit Facility.
The Credit Agreement contains customary negative
covenants, which limit the Company’s ability to incur
additional indebtedness, create liens, make investments,
make restricted payments or speciﬁed payments and
merge or acquire assets, among other things. In addition,
if excess availability under the Credit Facility were to fall
below certain speciﬁed levels, certain additional covenants
(including ﬁxed charge coverage ratio requirements) would
be triggered, and the lenders would assume dominion and
control over the Loan Parties’ cash.
The Credit Agreement contains customary events of
default, including payment defaults, material breaches of
representations and warranties, covenant defaults, default
on other material indebtedness, customary ERISA events
of default, bankruptcy and insolvency, material judgments, invalidity of liens on collateral, change of control or
cessation of business. The Credit Agreement also contains
customary aﬃrmative covenants and representations and
warranties.
The Company wrote oﬀ $460 of deferred ﬁnancing fees
related to the prior credit facility during ﬁscal 2016 and the
remaining unamortized deferred ﬁnancing fees of $3,542
were deferred and are being amortized over the ﬁve-year
term of the Credit Facility. The Company also incurred
$5,701 of fees to secure the Credit Facility, which are being
amortized over the ﬁve-year term accordingly. During
ﬁscal 2017, the Company incurred $474 of fees to secure the
FILO Credit Facility, which are being amortized over the
same term as the Credit Facility.
The Company had $158,700 and $64,900 of outstanding debt under the Credit Facility as of April 28, 2018 and
April 29, 2017, respectively. The Company had $34,213 and
$38,833 of outstanding letters of credit under its Credit
Facility as of April 28, 2018 and April 29, 2017, respectively.
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The following table presents selected information related
to the Company’s credit facilities:
Fiscal 2018

Fiscal 2017

Fiscal 2016

Credit facility at period end

$158,700

64,900

47,200

Average balance outstanding
during the period

$141,478

96,297

66,948

Maximum borrowings
outstanding during the period

$287,933

285,278

293,200

Weighted average interest
rate during the perioda

5.55%

5.77%

8.21%

Interest rate at end of period

3.92%

3.73%

2.69%

a Includes commitment fees.

Fees expensed with respect to the unused portion of the
credit facilities were $2,235, $2,235 and $2,781 during ﬁscal 2018, ﬁscal 2017 and ﬁscal 2016, respectively.
The Company has no agreements to maintain compensating balances.
3.

ST O CK- B A SE D C O M P E N S AT IO N

The Company maintains one active share-based incentive
plan: the Amended and Restated 2009 Incentive Plan. Prior
to June 2, 2009, the Company issued restricted stock and
stock options under the 1996 and 2004 Incentive Plans. On
June 2, 2009, the Company’s shareholders approved the
2009 Incentive Plan. Under the 2009 Incentive Plan, the
Company has issued restricted stock units, restricted stock
and stock options. On September 11, 2012, the Company’s
shareholders approved the Amended and Restated 2009
Incentive Plan. Under the Amended and Restated 2009
Incentive Plan, the Company has issued performancebased stock units, restricted stock units, restricted stock
and stock options. At April 28, 2018, there were approximately 5,689,643 shares of common stock available for
future grants under the Amended and Restated 2009
Incentive Plan.
A restricted stock award is an award of common stock that
is subject to certain restrictions during a speciﬁed period.
Restricted stock awards are independent of option grants
and are generally subject to forfeiture if employment terminates prior to the release of the restrictions. The grantee
cannot transfer the shares before the restricted shares vest.
Shares of unvested restricted stock have the same voting
rights as common stock, are entitled to receive dividends
and other distributions thereon and are considered to be
currently issued and outstanding. The Company’s restricted
stock awards vest over a period of one to four years. The
Company expenses the cost of the restricted stock awards,

which is determined to be the fair market value of the
shares at the date of grant, straight-line over the period
during which the restrictions lapse. For these purposes,
the fair market value of the restricted stock is determined
based on the closing price of the Company’s common stock
on the grant date.
A restricted stock unit is a grant valued in terms of the
Company’s common stock, but no stock is issued at the
time of grant. The restricted stock units may be redeemed
for one share of common stock each once vested. Restricted
stock units are generally subject to forfeiture if employment terminates prior to the release of the restrictions.
The grantee cannot transfer the units except in very limited
circumstances and with the consent of the compensation
committee. Shares of unvested restricted stock units have
no voting rights but are entitled to receive dividends and
other distributions thereon. Cash dividends to restricted
stock units granted on or after July 15, 2015 are not distributed until the restricted stock units vest. The Company’s
restricted stock units vest over a period of one to four years.
The Company expenses the cost of the restricted stock
units, which is determined to be the fair market value of
the shares at the date of grant, straight-line over the period
during which the restrictions lapse. For these purposes, the
fair market value of the restricted stock unit is determined
based on the closing price of the Company’s common stock
on the grant date.
A performance-based stock unit is a grant valued in terms
of the Company’s common stock, but no stock is issued
at the time of grant. Each performance-based stock unit
may be redeemed for one share of common stock once
vested. In general, upon the achievement of a minimum
threshold, 50% to 150% of these awards vest at the end of a
three year performance period from the date of grant based
upon achievement of the performance goal speciﬁed in the
performance-based stock unit agreement. Performancebased stock units are generally subject to forfeiture if
employment terminates prior to the settlement of the
award. The grantee cannot transfer the units except in very
limited circumstances and with the consent of the compensation committee. Shares of unvested performance-based
stock units have no voting rights but are entitled to receive
dividends and other distributions thereon. Cash dividends
to performance-based stock units are not distributed until
the award is settled. The Company expenses the cost of the
performance-based stock units, which is determined to be
the fair market value of the shares at the date of grant, ratably over the requisite service period, based on the probability of achieving the performance goal, with changes in
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expectations recognized as an adjustment to earnings in the
period of the change. If the performance goal is not met,
no compensation cost is recognized and any previously
recognized compensation cost is reversed.
The Company uses the Black-Scholes option-pricing model
to value the Company’s stock options for each stock option
award. Using this option-pricing model, the fair value of
each stock option award is estimated on the date of grant.
The fair value of the Company’s stock option awards, which
are generally subject to pro-rata vesting annually over four
years, is expensed on a straight-line basis over the vesting
period of the stock options. The expected volatility assumption is based on traded options volatility of the Company’s
stock over a term equal to the expected term of the option
granted. The expected term of stock option awards granted
is derived from historical exercise experience under the
Company’s stock option plans and represents the period
of time that stock option awards granted are expected to be
outstanding. The expected term assumption incorporates
the contractual term of an option grant, which is ten years,
as well as the vesting period of an award, which is generally pro-rata vesting annually over four years. The riskfree interest rate is based on the implied yield on a U.S.
Treasury constant maturity with a remaining term equal to
the expected term of the option granted.
No stock options were granted during ﬁscal 2018, ﬁscal
2017 or ﬁscal 2016.
The Company recognizes stock-based compensation costs
on a straight-line basis over the requisite service period of
the award and recognizes forfeitures as they occur.
In September 2003, Leonard Riggio, the Company’s
Executive Chairman, exercised 1,318,750 stock options
by tendering in payment of the exercise price of the stock
options 606,277 shares that he held in the Company’s
stock. Mr. Riggio elected to defer receipt of the balance
of the shares (712,473) due from the exercise pursuant to
the Company’s Executive Deferred Compensation Plan
(Plan). In accordance therewith, the Company established
a rabbi trust (Rabbi Trust) under the Plan for the beneﬁt of
Mr. Riggio, which holds 712,473 shares of the Company’s
common stock. The shares held by the Rabbi Trust were
treated as treasury stock. Due to the deferred compensation
arrangement, these shares were included in the denominator of the earnings per share calculation in accordance
with ASC 260, Earnings Per Share, when the impact was not
antidilutive.
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On March 15, 2017, the Board of Directors of the Company
approved the termination of the Plan and the Rabbi Trust.
As part of the termination of the Plan, all amounts deferred
under the Plan and held in the Rabbi Trust were distributed
in March 2017 to Mr. Riggio, who was the sole participant in
the Plan.
Stock-Based Compensation Activity

The following table presents a summary of the Company’s
stock option activity:
Weighted Aggregate
Number of Weighted
Average Intrinsic
Shares Average Remaining
Value
(in Exercise Contractual
(in
thousands)
Price
Term thousands)
Balance, May 2, 2015

455

$16.62

—

0.00a

Exercised

(111)

11.71a

Forfeited

(239)

10.89a

Adjustment due to
the Spin-Off of B&N
Education

219

Balance, April 30, 2016

324

$11.29

Granted

—

0.00

Exercised

(31)

9.91

Granted

Forfeited

(38)

21.14

Balance, April 29, 2017

255

$ 9.99

Granted

—

0.00

Exercised

—

0.00

6.27 years

$3,114

5.09 years

$ 516

4.62 years

$

11

Forfeited

(79)

10.08

Balance, April 28, 2018

176

$ 9.95

3.63 years

$

0

Vested and expected to
vest in the future at April
28, 2018

176

$ 9.95

3.63 years

$

0

Exercisable at April 28,
2018

176

$ 9.95

3.63 years

$

0

Available for grant at
April 28, 2018

5,690

a Weighted average exercise price is calculated using exercise price
prior to the Spin-Off and after the Spin-Off.

The aggregate intrinsic value in the table above represents
the total pre-tax intrinsic value (the diﬀerence between
the Company’s closing stock price on the last trading day of
the related ﬁscal year and the exercise price, multiplied by
the related in-the-money options) that would have been
received by the option holders had they exercised their
options at the end of the ﬁscal year. This amount changes
based on the market value of the Company’s common
stock. Total intrinsic value of options exercised for ﬁscal
2018, ﬁscal 2017 and ﬁscal 2016 (based on the diﬀerence
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between the Company’s stock price on the exercise date and
the respective exercise price, multiplied by the number of
options exercised) was $0, $99 and $546, respectively.
As of April 28, 2018, there was no unrecognized compensation expense related to unvested stock options granted
under the Company’s share-based compensation plans.
The following table presents a summary of the Company’s
restricted stock activity:
Number of Shares
Weighted Average
(in thousands) Grant Date Fair Value
Balance, May 2, 2015

43

$22.24

Granted

64

13.04

Vested

(43)

22.24

Forfeited

—

0.00

Balance, April 30, 2016

64

$13.04

Granted

77

10.95

Vested

(64)

13.04

Forfeited

—

0.00

Balance, April 29, 2017

77

$10.95

Granted

141

7.10

Vested

(77)

10.95

Forfeited

—

Balance, April 28, 2018

141

0.00
$ 7.10

Total fair value of shares of restricted stock that vested
during ﬁscal 2018, ﬁscal 2017 and ﬁscal 2016 was $548,
$680 and $637, respectively. As of April 28, 2018, there was
$333 of unrecognized stock-based compensation expense
related to non-vested restricted stock awards. That cost is
expected to be recognized over a weighted average period of
0.40 years.

The following table presents a summary of the Company’s
restricted stock unit activity:
Number of Shares
Weighted Average
(in thousands) Grant Date Fair Value
Balance, May 2, 2015
Granted

2,055

$15.62

692

18.82a

Vested

(1,312)

10.68a

Forfeited

(1,054)

10.74a

Adjustment due to the SpinOff of B&N Education

1,057

Balance, April 30, 2016

1,438

$13.76

Granted

547

12.42

Vested

(609)

11.75

Forfeited

(826)

14.22

Balance, April 29, 2017

550

$13.96

Granted

813

7.17

Vested

(228)

14.10

Forfeited
Balance, April 28, 2018

(99)
1,036

11.39
$ 8.85

a Weighted average grant date fair value is calculated using the grant
price prior to the Spin-Off and after the Spin-Off.

Total fair value of shares of restricted stock units that vested
during ﬁscal 2018, ﬁscal 2017 and ﬁscal 2016 were $1,694,
$6,612 and $18,047, respectively. As of April 28, 2018, there
was $5,685 of unrecognized stock-based compensation
expense related to non-vested restricted stock units. That
cost is expected to be recognized over a weighted average
period of 1.93 years.
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The following table presents a summary of the Company’s
performance-based stock unit activity:
Number of Shares
Weighted Average
(in thousands) Grant Date Fair Value
—

$ 0.00

Granted

110

28.08a

Vested

—

0.00a

Forfeited

(17)

18.46a

Adjustment due to the SpinOff of B&N Education

58

Balance, May 2, 2015

Balance, April 30, 2016

151

$18.41

Granted

507

12.48

Vested

—

0.00

Forfeited

(238)

13.55

Balance, April 29, 2017

420

$14.00

Granted

706

7.35

Vested

—

0.00

(117)

12.01

Forfeited
Balance, April 28, 2018

1,009

$ 9.58

a Weighted average grant date fair value is calculated using the grant
price prior to the Spin-Off and after the Spin-Off.

There were no vesting of performance-based stock units
during ﬁscal 2018, ﬁscal 2017 and ﬁscal 2016. As of April
28, 2018, there was $4,069 of unrecognized stock-based
compensation expense related to non-vested performancebased stock units. That cost is expected to be recognized
over a weighted average period of 1.80 years.
For ﬁscal 2018, ﬁscal 2017 and ﬁscal 2016, stock-based
compensation expense of $6,865, $6,299 and $14,201,
respectively, is included in selling and administrative
expenses.
4.

RE CE I VA B L E S , N E T

Receivables represent customer, private and public
institutional and government billings, credit/debit card,
advertising, landlord and other receivables due within one
year as follows:
Trade accounts
Credit/debit card receivables
eBook settlement receivable
(see Note 21)
Other receivables
Total receivables, net

April 28, 2018

April 29, 2017

$ 19,446

$ 16,189

22,564

25,136

452

2,478

22,100

23,491

$ 64,562

$ 67,294

5.

OTHER L ON G-TERM L IABIL ITIES

Other long-term liabilities consist primarily of deferred
rent, long-term insurance liabilities, asset retirement
obligations and tax liabilities and reserves. The Company
provides for minimum rent expense over the lease terms
(including the build-out period) on a straight-line basis.
The excess of such rent expense over actual lease payments (net of tenant allowances) is classiﬁed as deferred
rent. Other long-term liabilities also include store closing
expenses, long-term deferred revenues and a health care
and life insurance plan for certain retired employees. The
Company had the following other long-term liabilities at
April 28, 2018 and April 29, 2017:
April 28, 2018

April 29, 2017

$50,720

$59,142

Insurance liabilities

12,589

14,225

Asset retirement obligations

11,629

11,482

Tax liabilities and reserves

5,124

8,711

Other

4,209

5,751

$84,271

$99,311

Deferred rent

Total other long-term
liabilities

6.

FAIR VAL UES OF F IN AN CIAL IN STRUMEN T S

In accordance with ASC 820, Fair Value Measurements and
Disclosures (ASC 820), the fair value of an asset is considered to be the price at which the asset could be sold in an
orderly transaction between unrelated, knowledgeable
and willing parties. A liability’s fair value is deﬁned as the
amount that would be paid to transfer the liability to a new
obligor, not the amount that would be paid to settle the
liability with the creditor. Assets and liabilities recorded
at fair value are measured using a three-tier fair value
hierarchy, which prioritizes the inputs used in measuring
fair value. These tiers include:
Level 1 — Observable inputs that reﬂect quoted prices in
active markets
Level 2 — Inputs other than quoted prices in active markets
that are either directly or indirectly observable
Level 3 — Unobservable inputs in which little or no market
data exists, therefore requiring the Company to develop its
own assumptions
The Company’s ﬁnancial instruments include cash, receivables, gift cards, accrued liabilities, accounts payable and
its credit facility. The fair values of cash, receivables, gift
cards, accrued liabilities and accounts payable approximate
carrying values because of the short-term nature of these
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instruments. The Company believes that its credit facility
approximates fair value since interest rates are adjusted to
reﬂect current rates.
The Company compares the fair value of a reporting unit
and the carrying value of the reporting unit to measure
goodwill impairment loss as required by ASU 2017-04.
During ﬁscal 2018, the Company recognized an impairment
of its B&N Retail reporting unit goodwill of $133,612 as a
result of lower than expected holiday season sales, which
resulted in a revised forecast outlook and lower market
price of the Company’s common stock. Fair value was
determined using the combination of a discounted cash
ﬂow method (income approach) and the guideline public
company method (market comparable approach), weighted
equally in determining the fair value of the Company. The
market comparable approach estimates fair value using
market multiples of various ﬁnancial measures compared
to a set of comparable public companies. In performing the
valuations, signiﬁcant assumptions utilized include unobservable Level 3 inputs including cash ﬂows and long-term
growth rates reﬂective of management’s forecasted outlook,
and discount rates inclusive of risk adjustments consistent
with current market conditions. Discount rates are based
on the development of a weighted average cost of capital
using guideline public company data, factoring in current
market data and any company speciﬁc risk factors. See Note
1 for further discussion on goodwill impairment.
During ﬁscal 2018, the Company impaired long-lived asset
at B&N Retail stores due to lower than expected holiday
season. As a result, the Company recorded an impairment
charge of $1,823 in selling and administrative expenses. In
determining whether the carrying value of long-lived assets
is less than its estimated fair value, a discounted cash ﬂow
approach to value was used, which was based on Level 3
inputs as deﬁned by ASC 820.
During ﬁscal 2016, the Company impaired one of its
publishing contracts due to a signiﬁcant drop in business
with that publisher, driven by lower title oﬀerings, product
quality and the loss of a distribution partner. As a result,
the Company recorded an impairment charge of $3,840
in selling and administrative expenses. In determining
whether the carrying value of unamortizable intangible
assets is less than its estimated fair value, a discounted cash
ﬂow approach to value was used, which was based on Level
3 inputs as deﬁned by ASC 820.

7.

N ET EARN IN GS (L OSS) PER SHARE

In accordance with ASC 260-10-45, Share-Based Payment
Arrangements and Participating Securities and the Two-Class
Method, unvested share-based payment awards that contain
rights to receive non-forfeitable dividends are considered
participating securities. The Company’s unvested restricted
shares and unvested restricted stock units granted prior
to July 15, 2015 and shares issuable under the Company’s
deferred compensation plan were considered participating securities. Cash dividends to restricted stock units
and performance-based stock units granted on or after
July 15, 2015 are not distributed until and except to the
extent that the restricted stock units vest, and in the case
of performance-based stock units, until and except to the
extent that the performance metrics are achieved or are
otherwise deemed satisﬁed. Stock options do not receive
cash dividends. As such, these awards are not considered
participating securities.
Basic earnings per common share are calculated by
dividing the net income, adjusted for preferred dividends
and income allocated to participating securities, by the
weighted average number of common shares outstanding
during the period. Diluted net income per common share
reﬂects the dilution that would occur if any potentially
dilutive instruments were exercised or converted into common shares. The dilutive eﬀect of participating securities
is calculated using the more dilutive of the treasury stock
method or two-class method. Other potentially dilutive
securities include preferred stock, stock options, restricted
stock units granted after July 15, 2015, and performancebased stock units and are included in diluted shares to the
extent they are dilutive under the treasury stock method for
the applicable periods.
During periods of net loss, no eﬀect is given to the participating securities because they do not share in the losses
of the Company. Due to the net loss during ﬁscal 2018
and ﬁscal 2016, participating securities in the amounts of
127,509 and 2,163,190, respectively, were excluded from
the calculation of loss per share using the two-class method
because the eﬀect would be antidilutive. The Company’s
outstanding non-participating securities consisting of
dilutive stock options and restricted stock units of 38,584,
140,341 and 129,450 for ﬁscal 2018, ﬁscal 2017 and ﬁscal
2016, respectively, and accretion/payments of dividends
on preferred shares in ﬁscal 2016 were also excluded from
the calculation of loss per share using the two-class method
because the eﬀect would be antidilutive.
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The following is a reconciliation of the Company’s basic and diluted income (loss) per share calculation:
Fiscal 2018

Fiscal 2017

Fiscal 2016

Numerator for basic income (loss) per share:
Net income (loss) from continuing operations

$(125,480)

22,023

14,700

Inducement fee paid upon conversion of Series J preferred stock

—

—

(3,657)

Preferred stock dividends paid in shares

—

—

(1,783)

Accretion of dividends on preferred stock

—

—

(4,204)

Less allocation of dividends to participating securities

(80)

(576)

(1,219)

(125,560)

21,447

3,837

—

—

(39,146)

$(125,560)

21,447

(35,309)

Net income (loss) from continuing operations available to common
shareholders
Net loss from discontinued operations available to common
shareholders
Net income (loss) available to common shareholders
Numerator for diluted income (loss) per share:
Net income (loss) from continuing operations available to common
shareholders

$(125,560)

21,447

3,837

Accretion of dividends on preferred stocka

—

—

—

Allocation of undistributed earnings to participating securities

—

—

—

Less diluted allocation of undistributed earnings to participating
securities

—

—

—

(125,560)

21,447

3,837

—

—

(39,146)

$(125,560)

21,447

(35,309)

72,588

72,188

72,410

72,588

72,188

72,410

—

63

118

Net income (loss) from continuing operations available to common
shareholders
Net loss from discontinued operations available to common
shareholders
Net income (loss) available to common shareholders
Denominator for basic income (loss) per share:
Basic weighted average common shares
Denominator for diluted income (loss) per share:
Basic weighted average shares
Average dilutive options
Average dilutive non-participating securities

—

77

14

72,588

72,328

72,542

(1.73)

0.30

0.05

—

—

(0.54)

$

(1.73)

0.30

(0.49)

$

(1.73)

0.30

0.05

—

—

(0.54)

$

(1.73)

0.30

(0.49)

Diluted weighted average common shares
Basic income (loss) per common share:
Income (loss) from continuing operations

$

Loss from discontinued operations
Basic income (loss) per common share
Diluted income (loss) per common share:
Income (loss) from continuing operations
Loss from discontinued operations
Diluted income (loss) per common share

a Although the Company was in a net income position during ﬁscal 2016, the dilutive effect of the Company’s convertible preferred shares was excluded
from the calculation of income per share using the two-class method because the effect would be antidilutive.
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PE N SI O N A N D O T H E R P O S T R E T IR E M E N T
B E N E F I T PL A NS

Income tax provisions (beneﬁts) for ﬁscal 2018, ﬁscal 2017
and ﬁscal 2016 are as follows:

The Company previously maintained a non-contributory
deﬁned beneﬁt pension plan (the Pension Plan). On June
18, 2014, the Company’s Board of Directors approved a
resolution to terminate the Pension Plan. The Pension Plan
termination was eﬀective November 1, 2014 and the accrued
beneﬁt for active participants was vested as of such date.

Fiscal 2018

Federal
State
Foreign
Total current

In ﬁscal 2016, there was a ﬁnal Pension Plan termination
lump-sum opportunity oﬀered to 2,300 active and terminated vested participants at the ﬁnal Pension Plan termination distribution date. As a result, lump-sum payments of
approximately $18,100 were distributed in March 2016 to
about 1,800 participants who elected to receive an immediate distribution of their beneﬁt as part of the plan termination lump-sum window. Beneﬁts for the remaining plan
population were transferred to Massachusetts Mutual Life
Insurance Company for an annuity purchase premium of
$34,300. Further, in October 2016, a payment was made by
the Company to the Pension Beneﬁt Guaranty Corporation
to transfer the liability for beneﬁts payable to 28 missing
participants. A ﬁnal distribution of remaining assets from
the trust was made on November 8, 2016.
Pension expense was $3, $276 and $25,330 for ﬁscal 2018,
ﬁscal 2017 and ﬁscal 2016, respectively. For ﬁscal 2016,
regular annual expense was $4,433, with pension settlement charge of $20,897 from the plan liquidation, for a
total pension expense for ﬁscal 2016 of $25,330.
The Company maintains a deﬁned contribution plan (the
Savings Plan) for the beneﬁt of substantially all employees.
Total Company contributions charged to employee beneﬁt
expenses for the Savings Plan were $11,275, $11,815 and
$12,251 during ﬁscal 2018, ﬁscal 2017 and ﬁscal 2016,
respectively.
9.

I N CO M E TA XE S

Fiscal 2018
Domestic operations
Foreign operations
Total income (loss) before
taxes

$(137,693)
(2)
$(137,695)

Fiscal 2016
6,827

(328)
46,799

(941)
5,886

(1,340)
—

3,722
(7,480)
—

(47,053)
3,908
(273)
(43,418)

Federal

(52,831)

25,724

21,570

State

21,966

2,810

13,018

Deferred:

Foreign
Total deferred
Total

—

16

(30,865)

—

28,534

34,604

$(12,215)

24,776

(8,814)

Reconciliation between the eﬀective income tax rate and
the federal statutory income tax rate is as follows:
Federal statutory income tax
rate

Fiscal 2018

Fiscal 2017

Fiscal 2016

30.3%

35.0%

35.0%

State income taxes, net of
federal income tax beneﬁt

3.0

10.0

8.3

Changes to unrecognized tax
beneﬁts

1.8

(5.9)

(111.3)

Excess executive
compensation

(0.1)

0.3

8.0

Meals and entertainment
disallowance

(0.2)

0.5

5.1

0.6

—

(76.3)

(26.7)

(1.2)

108.6

Changes in deferred taxes and
payables

(3.7)

7.0

(134.8)

Amounts not deductible for tax

0.1

1.9

—

State law changes

1.5

3.1

4.7

4.1

—

—

(1.8)

—

—

Tax credits
Changes in valuation
allowance

Other, net

47,127

$ 19,990

(3,758)

Goodwill impairment

Fiscal 2017

Fiscal 2016

18,650

Impact of Tax Cuts and Jobs
Act

Income (loss) before income taxes for ﬁscal 2018, ﬁscal
2017 and ﬁscal 2016 are as follows:

Fiscal 2017

Current:

Effective income tax rate

—

2.2

3.0

8.9%

52.9%

(149.7)%

The Company recorded an income tax beneﬁt of $12,215
in ﬁscal 2018 compared with an income tax provision of
$24,776 and income tax beneﬁt of $8,814 in ﬁscal 2017 and
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ﬁscal 2016, respectively. The current federal tax expense
of $19,990 is primarily due to certain reclassiﬁcations
recorded as a result of the Company changing its tax year
during ﬁscal 2018, with a corresponding deferred tax
beneﬁt. The net impact of the tax year-end change on total
tax expense was nominal. The Company’s eﬀective tax
rate was 8.9%, 52.9% and (149.7)% in ﬁscal 2018, ﬁscal
2017 and ﬁscal 2016, respectively. The primary drivers of
the eﬀective tax rate in ﬁscal 2018 include the impact of
remeasurement of deferred taxes as a result of the Tax Cuts
and Jobs Act, changes in deferred taxes and payables and
the establishment of valuation allowance against federal
and certain state net operating losses. Due to the change
in the federal tax rate from 35% to 21%, ﬁscal year ﬁlers
are required to use a blended rate for their ﬁscal year that
includes the date of enactment. Accordingly, the federal
statutory rate for the Company is 30.3% for ﬁscal 2018.
The primary drivers of the eﬀective tax rate in ﬁscal 2017
included changes in uncertain tax positions and changes in
deferred taxes and payables. In ﬁscal 2016, as shown above
in the changes in deferred taxes and payables, changes to
unrecognized tax beneﬁts and changes in valuation allowance, certain adjustments to earnings were recorded to
correct immaterial errors attributable to prior ﬁscal years.
The Company has evaluated the eﬀects of these errors, both
qualitatively and quantitatively, and concluded that the
correction of these errors in prior period amounts was not
material to ﬁscal 2016 or any previously reported periods,
including quarterly reporting.
Effects of the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act

New tax legislation, commonly referred to as the Tax Cuts
and Jobs Act or Tax Reform, was enacted on December 22,
2017. Certain aspects of the new law, including the federal
corporate tax rate change, had an impact recorded in the
Company’s ﬁnancial statements.
Given the signiﬁcance of the legislation, the SEC staﬀ
issued Staﬀ Accounting Bulletin No. 118 (SAB 118), which
allows registrants to record provisional amounts during
a one year “measurement period” similar to that used
when accounting for business combinations. However, the
measurement period is deemed to have ended earlier when
the registrant has obtained, prepared and analyzed the
information necessary to ﬁnalize its accounting. During the
measurement period, impacts of the law are expected to be

recorded at the time a reasonable estimate for all or a portion of the eﬀects can be made, and provisional amounts
can be recognized and adjusted as information becomes
available, prepared or analyzed.
SAB 118 summarizes a three-step process to be applied
at each reporting period to account for and qualitatively
disclose: (1) the eﬀects of the change in tax law for which
accounting is complete; (2) provisional amounts (or
adjustments to provisional amounts) for the eﬀects of the
tax law where accounting is not complete, but that a reasonable estimate has been determined; and (3) a reasonable estimate cannot yet be made and therefore taxes are
reﬂected in accordance with law prior to the enactment of
the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act.
Items for which a reasonable estimate was determined
include the impact of the change in the corporate tax rate
from 35% to 21% and the changes to the non-deductible
executive compensation provisions. The Company
recorded a beneﬁt of $27,128 on the remeasurement of
its deferred tax assets and liabilities during ﬁscal 2018.
During ﬁscal 2018, the Company also recorded a net tax
detriment as a result of the changes to the non-deductible
executive compensation provisions. As the Company awaits
further guidance regarding the transition rules, the tax
impact recorded during ﬁscal 2018 represents a provisional
amount based on the guidance that is available. As no additional guidance on the transition rules has been released,
the amount recorded remains provisional.
Other signiﬁcant provisions that did not have an impact
on the ﬁscal 2018 provision but may impact the Company’s
income taxes for future ﬁscal years include: limitation on
the current deductibility of net interest expense in excess
of 30% of adjusted taxable income, a limitation of net operating losses generated after ﬁscal 2018 to 80% of taxable
income, and entertainment and other expense deduction
limitation.
The Company continues to not be subject to any transition
tax as there are no untaxed foreign earnings.
The Company accounts for income taxes using the asset
and liability method. Deferred taxes are recorded based on
diﬀerences between the ﬁnancial statement basis and tax
basis of assets and liabilities and available tax loss and
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credit carryforwards. At April 28, 2018 and April 29, 2017,
the signiﬁcant components of the Company’s deferred taxes
consisted of the following:
April 28, 2018

April 29, 2017

Accrued liabilities

$ 70,891

$110,029

Insurance liability

4,830

7,973

43,704

31,221

93

7,131

340

581

2,237

3,182

Deferred tax assets:

Loss and credit carryovers
Lease transactions
Pension and post-retirement
healthcare
Stock-based compensation
Other

1,542

1,379

Gross deferred tax assets

123,637

161,496

Valuation allowance

(45,861)

Net deferred tax assets

77,776

(7,644)
153,852

Deferred tax liabilities:
Prepaid expenses
Goodwill and intangible asset
amortization
Inventory
Investment in Barnes &
Noble.com

available to oﬀset taxable income in its respective taxing
jurisdictions. The federal net operating losses begin to
expire in 2019 through 2024. The utilization of $54,880
of the federal NOLs are subject to IRC Section 382 and are
limited to approximately $6,653 on an annual basis. NOLs
not used during a particular period may be carried forward
to future years, though not beyond the expiration years.
Additionally, the Company had approximately $73,533 and
$211,356 of federal and state NOLs, respectively, that have
no annual limitation. The Company had state tax credits
totaling $10,168, which have an indeﬁnite life.
As of April 28, 2018, the Company had $6,849 of unrecognized tax beneﬁts, all of which, if recognized, would aﬀect
the Company’s eﬀective tax rate. A reconciliation of the
beginning and ending amount of unrecognized tax beneﬁts
for ﬁscal 2018, ﬁscal 2017 and ﬁscal 2016 is as follows:
Balance at May 2, 2015
Additions for tax positions of the current period

(2,779)

(4,670)

(65,910)

(140,270)

(1,440)

(2,608)

Additions for tax positions of prior periods

7,433
(5,980)

Reductions for tax positions of prior periods
Balance at April 30, 2016

(78,756)

Additions for tax positions of the current period

(6,387)

(13,680)

Additions for tax positions of prior periods

Gross deferred tax liabilities

(129,820)

(239,984)

Reductions due to settlements

Net deferred tax liabilities

$(52,044)

$ (86,132)

Reductions for tax positions of prior periods
Balance at April 29, 2017

The change in deferred tax asset balance during ﬁscal 2018
is primarily due to the reduction of the corporate tax rate
from 35% to 21% under the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act.
In assessing the realizability of the deferred tax assets,
management considered whether it is more likely than not
that some or all of the deferred tax assets would be realized.
In evaluating the Company’s ability to utilize its deferred
tax assets, it considered all available evidence, both positive and negative, in determining future taxable income
on a jurisdiction by jurisdiction basis. The Company has
recorded a valuation allowance of $45,861 and $7,644 at
April 28, 2018 and April 29, 2017, respectively. The increase
in the valuation allowance during ﬁscal 2018 is due principally to additional allowance being established against any
non-indeﬁnite lived net operating losses.
At April 28, 2018, the Company had federal net operating
loss carryforwards (NOLs) of approximately $128,414 and
state net operating loss carryforwards of $212,192 that are
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Reductions due to settlements

(53,304)

Depreciation

$18,382

(5,501)
$ 14,572
337
1,644
—
(7,134)
$ 9,419

Additions for tax positions of the current period

—

Additions for tax positions of prior periods

—

Reductions due to settlements
Reductions for tax positions of prior periods
Balance at April 28, 2018

(22)
(2,548)
$ 6,849

The Company’s policy is to recognize interest and penalties related to income tax matters in income tax expense.
The Company recorded net interest and penalties (beneﬁt)
expense of approximately $587, $(2,860), and $(7,774)
during ﬁscal 2018, ﬁscal 2017 and ﬁscal 2016, respectively.
As of April 28, 2018 and April 29, 2017, the Company had
net accrued interest and penalties of $974 and $1,561,
respectively.
The amount of unrecognized tax beneﬁts decreased
primarily due to the expiration of various state statutes.
Further, we believe that it is reasonably possible that the
total amount of unrecognized tax beneﬁts at April 28, 2018

2018 Annual Report

could decrease by approximately $1,162 within the next
12 months as a result of settlement of certain tax audits or
lapses of statutes of limitations, which could impact the
eﬀective tax rate.

Aggregate Amortization Expense

The Company is subject to U.S. federal income tax as well as
income tax in jurisdictions of each state having an income
tax. The tax years that remain subject to examination are
primarily from ﬁscal 2014 and forward.

Estimated Amortization Expense

10. I N TA N G I B L E A S S E T S A N D G O O D W IL L

See Note 1 for discussion on impairment testing of unamortizable intangible assets.

As of April 28, 2018
Amortizable intangible
assets

Useful
Life

Gross
Carrying Accumulated
Amount Amortization

Technology

5-10

$10,710

Other

3-10

6,546
$17,256

Total

$(10,404) $

306

(6,497)
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$(16,901) $

355

Unamortizable intangible
assets

For the 52 weeks ended April 28, 2018

$ 644

For the 52 weeks ended April 29, 2017

$ 782

For the 52 weeks ended April 30, 2016

$1,012

(12 months ending on or about April 30)
2019

$ 355

The changes in the carrying amount of goodwill, which
relate to the B&N Retail reporting unit, for ﬁscal 2018 and
ﬁscal 2017, are as follows:
Total Company
Balance as of April 30, 2016
Beneﬁt of excess tax amortizationa
Balance as of April 29, 2017
Beneﬁt of excess tax amortization a

Trade name

$293,400

Publishing contracts

15,894

Goodwill impairment b
Balance as of April 28, 2018

$211,276
(3,895)
$207,381
(2,176)
(133,612)
$ 71,593

$309,294
Total amortizable and unamortizable
intangible assets as of April 28, 2018

Amortizable intangible
assets
Technology
Distribution contracts
Other

$309,649

Gross
Useful Carrying Accumulated
Life Amount Amortization
5-10

$10,710

10
3-10

b See Note 1 for discussion on goodwill impairment testing.
Total

$ (9,997) $

713

8,325

(8,201)

124

6,458

(6,384)

74

$(24,582) $

911

$25,493
Unamortizable intangible
assets
Trade name
Publishing contracts

$293,400
15,894
$309,294

Total amortizable and unamortizable
intangible assets as of April 29, 2017

a The tax basis of goodwill arising from an acquisition during the 52
weeks ended January 29, 2005 exceeded the related basis for ﬁnancial
reporting purposes by approximately $96,576. In accordance with ASC
740-10-30, Accounting for Income Taxes, the Company is recognizing
the tax beneﬁts of amortizing such excess as a reduction of goodwill as
it is realized on the Company’s income tax return.

$310,205

All amortizable intangible assets are being amortized over
their useful life on a straight-line basis.

1 1 . SERIES J PREF ERRED STOCK

On August 18, 2011, the Company entered into an investment agreement between the Company and Liberty GIC,
Inc. (Liberty), pursuant to which the Company issued and
sold to Liberty, and Liberty purchased, 204,000 shares of
the Company’s Series J Preferred Stock, par value $0.001
per share (Preferred Stock), for an aggregate purchase
price of $204,000 in a private placement exempt from the
registration requirements of the 1933 Act. The shares of
Preferred Stock were convertible, at the option of the holders, into shares of Common Stock representing 16.6% of
the Common Stock outstanding as of August 29, 2011 (after
giving pro forma eﬀect to the issuance of the Preferred
Stock) based on the initial conversion rate. The initial conversion rate reﬂected an initial conversion price of $17.00
and was subject to adjustment in certain circumstances.
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The initial dividend rate for the Preferred Stock was equal
to 7.75% per annum of the initial liquidation preference of
the Preferred Stock paid quarterly and subject to adjustment in certain circumstances.
On April 8, 2014, Liberty sold the majority of its shares
to qualiﬁed institutional buyers in reliance on Rule 144A
under the Securities Act and had retained an approximate
10% stake of its initial investment. As a result, Liberty no
longer had the right to elect two preferred stock directors
to the Company’s Board. Additionally, the consent rights
and pre-emptive rights, to which Liberty was previously
entitled, ceased to apply.
On June 5, 2015, the Company entered into conversion
agreements with ﬁve beneﬁcial owners (Series J Holders)
of its Preferred Stock, pursuant to which each of the Series
J Holders had agreed to convert (Conversion) shares of
Preferred Stock it beneﬁcially owned into shares of the
Company’s common stock, par value $0.001 per share
(Company Common Stock), and additionally received a
cash payment from the Company in connection with the
Conversion.
On July 9, 2015, the Company completed the Conversion.
Pursuant to the terms of the Conversion Agreements, the
Series J Holders converted an aggregate of 103,995 shares of
Preferred Stock into 6,117,342 shares of Company Common
Stock, and made an aggregate cash payment to the Series J
Holders of $3,657 plus cash in lieu of fractional shares in
connection with the Conversion.
The number of shares of Company Common Stock issued
was determined based on a conversion ratio of 58.8235
shares of Company Common Stock per share of Preferred
Stock converted, which was the conversion rate in the
Certiﬁcate of the Designations with respect to the Preferred
Stock, dated as of August 18, 2011.
On July 10, 2015, the Company gave notice of its exercise
of the right to force conversion of all outstanding shares
of its Senior Convertible Redeemable Series J Preferred
Stock into Company Common Stock pursuant to Section
9 of the Certiﬁcate of Designations, Preferences and
Relative Participating, Optional and Other Special Rights
and Qualiﬁcations, Limitations and Restrictions of Series
J Preferred Stock, dated as of August 18, 2011 (the Forced
Conversion). The eﬀective date of the Forced Conversion
was July 24, 2015. On the date of the Forced Conversion,
each share of Series J Preferred Stock was automatically
converted into 59.8727 shares of Company Common Stock,

which included shares of Company Common Stock reﬂecting accrued and unpaid dividends on Series J Preferred
Stock. Each holder of Series J Preferred Stock received
whole shares of Company Common Stock and a cash
amount in lieu of fractional shares of Company Common
Stock.
As a result of the transactions described above, all shares of
Series J Preferred Stock were retired by the Company and
are no longer outstanding.
1 2 . SHAREHOL DERS’ EQUITY

On October 20, 2015, the Company’s Board of Directors
authorized a stock repurchase program (prior repurchase
plan) of up to $50,000 of its common shares. During ﬁscal
2016, the Company repurchased 2,763,142 shares at a cost
of $26,718 under the prior repurchase plan. During ﬁscal
2017, the Company repurchased 2,019,798 shares at a cost
of $23,281 under the prior repurchase plan. On March
15, 2017, subsequent to completing the prior repurchase
plan, the Company’s Board of Directors authorized a new
stock repurchase program of up to $50,000 of its common
shares. Stock repurchases under this program may be made
through open market and privately negotiated transactions
from time to time and in such amounts as management
deems appropriate. The new stock repurchase program has
no expiration date and may be suspended or discontinued
at any time. The Company’s repurchase plan is intended
to comply with the requirements of Rule 10b-18 under the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934. The Company did not
repurchase shares under this plan in ﬁscal 2018 and ﬁscal
2017. The Company has remaining capacity of $50,000
under the new repurchase program as of April 28, 2018.
As of April 28, 2018, the Company has repurchased
39,584,907 shares at a cost of approximately $1,087,067
since the inception of the Company’s stock repurchase
programs. The repurchased shares are held in treasury.
1 3 . COMMITMEN TS AN D CON TIN GEN CIES

The Company leases retail stores, warehouse facilities,
oﬃce space and equipment. Substantially all of the B&N
Retail stores are leased under non-cancelable agreements,
which expire at various dates through 2029 with various
renewal options for additional periods. The agreements,
which have been classiﬁed as operating leases, generally
provide for both minimum and percentage rentals and
require the Company to pay insurance, taxes and other
maintenance costs. Percentage rentals are based on sales
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1 4 . SEGMEN T REPORTIN G

performance in excess of speciﬁed minimums at various
stores.

The Company’s two operating segments are B&N Retail and
NOOK.

The Company leases oﬃce space in New York, New York
and Santa Clara, California for its NOOK operations.

B&N Retail

Rental expense under operating leases is as follows:
Minimum rentals
Percentage rentals

Fiscal 2018

Fiscal 2017

Fiscal 2016

$301,057

302,784

297,322

1,076

1,353

1,821

$302,133

304,137

299,143

Future minimum annual rentals, excluding percentage
rentals, required under B&N Retail leases that had initial,
non-cancelable lease terms greater than one year, and
NOOK leases as of April 28, 2018 are:

NOOK

Fiscal Year
2019

$ 316,329

2020

267,494

2021

200,147

2022

151,424

2023

88,626

After 2023

88,498
$1,112,518

The Company provides for minimum rent expense over the
lease terms (including the build-out period) on a straightline basis. The excess of such rent expense over actual lease
payments (net of tenant allowances) is reﬂected in other
long-term liabilities and accrued liabilities in the accompanying balance sheets.
Purchase obligations, which include hardware and software
maintenance contracts and inventory purchase commitments, as of April 28, 2018 are as follows:
Less Than 1 Year

$56,929

1-3 Years

15,721

3-5 Years

11

More Than 5 Years
Total

This segment includes 630 bookstores as of April 28, 2018,
primarily under the Barnes & Noble Booksellers trade
name. These Barnes & Noble stores generally oﬀer a comprehensive trade book title base, a café, and departments
dedicated to Juvenile, Toys & Games, DVDs, Music & Vinyl,
Gift, Magazine, Bargain products and a dedicated NOOK
K®
area. The stores also oﬀer a calendar of ongoing events,
including author appearances and children’s activities. The
B&N Retail segment also includes the Company’s eCommerce website, www.barnesandnoble.com, and its publishing operation, Sterling Publishing Co., Inc.
This segment includes the Company’s digital business,
including the development and support of the Company’s
NOOK
K® product oﬀerings. The digital business includes
digital content such as eBooks, digital newsstand and sales
of NOOK
K® devices and accessories to B&N Retail.
Summarized ﬁnancial information concerning the
Company’s reportable segments is presented below:
52 weeks
ended April
28, 2018

52 weeks
ended April
29, 2017

52 weeks
ended April
30, 2016

$3,575,614

$3,784,655

$4,028,614

NOOK

111,487

146,514

191,520

Eliminationa

(24,821)

(36,611)

(56,290)

Sales by Segment
B&N Retail

Total

Sales by Product Line
Mediab

52 weeks
ended April
28, 2018
69%

$3,894,558

52 weeks
ended April
29, 2017
70%

$4,163,844

52 weeks
ended April
30, 2016
70%

Digitalc

3%

3%

5%

Otherd

28%

27%

25%

100%

100%

100%

52 weeks
ended April
28, 2018

52 weeks
ended April
29, 2017

52 weeks
ended April
30, 2016

$94,334

$98,877

$101,888

Total

—
$72,661

$3,662,280

Depreciation and
Amortization
B&N Retail
NOOK
Total

12,006

19,010

33,975

$ 106,340

$ 117,887

$ 135,863
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52 weeks
ended April
28, 2018
$(119,394)

Capital Expenditures
B&N Retail

Total Assetse

$90,663

$113,296

(36,355)

(98,640)

$(127,858)

$54,308

$ 14,656

52 weeks
ended April
28, 2018

52 weeks
ended April
29, 2017

52 weeks
ended April
30, 2016

$ 89,706

$ 81,277

$

NOOK
Total

52 weeks
ended April
30, 2016

(8,464)

NOOK
Total

52 weeks
ended April
29, 2017

80,670
6,981

6,552

12,997

$ 87,651

$ 96,258

$ 94,274

As of April 28, 2018

As of April 29, 2017

$1,724,279

$1,897,122

25,289

35,799

$1,749,568

$1,932,921

B&N Retail
NOOK
Total

a Represents sales from NOOK to B&N Retail on a sell-through basis.
b Includes tangible books, music, movies, rentals and newsstand.
c Includes NOOK®, related accessories, eContent and warranties.
d Includes Toys & Games, café products, gifts and miscellaneous other.
e Excludes intercompany balances.

A reconciliation of operating income (loss) from reportable segments to income (loss) from continuing operations
before taxes in the consolidated ﬁnancial statements is as
follows:
52 weeks
ended April
28, 2018

52 weeks
ended April
29, 2017

52 weeks
ended April
30, 2016

$(127,858)

$54,308

$14,656

(9,837)

(7,509)

(8,770)

$(137,695)

$46,799

$ 5,886

Reportable segments
operating income (loss)
Interest expense, net and
amortization of deferred
ﬁnancing costs
Consolidated income (loss)
before taxes

15. L E G A L PRO CE E D IN G S

The Company is involved in a variety of claims, suits,
investigations and proceedings that arise from time to time
in the ordinary course of its business, including actions
with respect to contracts, intellectual property, taxation,
employment, beneﬁts, securities, personal injuries and
other matters. The results of these proceedings in the ordinary course of business are not expected to have a material

adverse eﬀect on the Company’s consolidated ﬁnancial
position or results of operations.
The Company records a liability when it believes that it
is both probable that a liability will be incurred, and the
amount of loss can be reasonably estimated. The Company
evaluates, at least quarterly, developments in its legal matters that could aﬀect the amount of liability that has been
previously accrued and makes adjustments as appropriate. Signiﬁcant judgment is required to determine both
probability and the estimated amount of a loss or potential
loss. The Company may be unable to reasonably estimate
the reasonably possible loss or range of loss for a particular
legal contingency for various reasons, including, among
others: (i) if the damages sought are indeterminate; (ii) if
proceedings are in the early stages; (iii) if there is uncertainty as to the outcome of pending proceedings (including
motions and appeals); (iv) if there is uncertainty as to the
likelihood of settlement and the outcome of any negotiations with respect thereto; (v) if there are signiﬁcant factual
issues to be determined or resolved; (vi) if the proceedings
involve a large number of parties; (vii) if relevant law is
unsettled or novel or untested legal theories are presented;
or (viii) if the proceedings are taking place in jurisdictions
where the laws are complex or unclear. In such instances,
there is considerable uncertainty regarding the ultimate
resolution of such matters, including a possible eventual
loss, if any.
With respect to the legal matters described below, the
Company has determined, based on its current knowledge,
that the amount of loss or range of loss that is reasonably
possible, including any reasonably possible losses in excess
of amounts already accrued, is not reasonably estimable.
However, legal matters are inherently unpredictable and
subject to signiﬁcant uncertainties, some of which are
beyond the Company’s control. As such, there can be no
assurance that the ﬁnal outcome of these matters will not
materially and adversely aﬀect the Company’s business,
ﬁnancial condition, results of operations, or cash ﬂows.
The following is a discussion of the material legal matters
involving the Company.
PIN Pad Litigation

As previously disclosed, the Company discovered that PIN
pads in certain of its stores had been tampered with to allow
criminal access to card data and PIN numbers on credit and
debit cards swiped through the terminals. Following public
disclosure of this matter on October 24, 2012, the Company
was served with four putative class action complaints (three
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in federal district court in the Northern District of Illinois
and one in the Northern District of California), each of
which alleged on behalf of national and other classes of
customers who swiped credit and debit cards in Barnes &
Noble Retail stores common law claims such as negligence,
breach of contract and invasion of privacy, as well as statutory claims such as violations of the Fair Credit Reporting
Act, state data breach notiﬁcation statutes, and state unfair
and deceptive practices statutes. The actions sought various
forms of relief including damages, injunctive or equitable
relief, multiple or punitive damages, attorneys’ fees,
costs, and interest. All four cases were transferred and/
or assigned to a single judge in the United States District
Court for the Northern District of Illinois, and a single consolidated amended complaint was ﬁled. The Company ﬁled
a motion to dismiss the consolidated amended complaint
in its entirety, and in September 2013, the Court granted
the motion to dismiss without prejudice. The Plaintiﬀs
then ﬁled an amended complaint, and the Company ﬁled
a second motion to dismiss. On October 3, 2016, the Court
granted the second motion to dismiss, and dismissed the
case without prejudice; in doing so, the Court permitted
plaintiﬀs to ﬁle a second amended complaint by October
31, 2016. On October 31, 2016, the plaintiﬀs ﬁled a second
amended complaint, and on January 25, 2017, the Company
ﬁled a motion to dismiss the second amended complaint.
On June 13, 2017, the Court granted the Company’s motion
to dismiss with prejudice. Plaintiﬀs ﬁled a notice of appeal
to the United States Court of Appeals for the Seventh
Circuit. On April 11, 2018, the Court of Appeals reversed
the District Court’s decision granting the motion to dismiss
the case, and remanded the case to the District Court for
further proceedings. The Company ﬁled with the Court of
Appeals a petition for rehearing and rehearing en banc;
that petition was denied on May 10, 2018.
Cassandra Carag individually and on behalf of others
similarly situated v. Barnes & Noble, Inc., Barnes & Noble
Booksellers, Inc. and DOES 1 through 100 inclusive

On November 27, 2013, former Associate Store Manager
Cassandra Carag (Carag) brought suit in Sacramento
County Superior Court, asserting claims on behalf of
herself and all other hourly (non-exempt) Barnes & Noble
employees in California in the preceding four years for
unpaid regular and overtime wages based on alleged oﬀthe-clock work, penalties and pay based on missed meal
and rest breaks, and for improper wage statements, payroll
records, and untimely pay at separation as a result of the
alleged pay errors during employment. Via the complaint,
Carag seeks to recover unpaid wages and statutory penalties
for all hourly Barnes& Noble employees within California

from November 27, 2009 to present. On February 13, 2014,
the Company ﬁled an answer to the complaint in the state
court and concurrently requested removal of the action to
federal court. On May 30, 2014, the federal court granted
Plaintiﬀ’s motion to remand the case to state court and
denied Plaintiﬀ’s motion to strike portions of the answer
to the complaint (referring the latter motion to the lower
court for future consideration). The Court has not yet
scheduled any further hearings or deadlines.
Café Manager Class Actions

Two former Café Managers have ﬁled separate actions
alleging similar claims of entitlement to unpaid compensation for overtime. In each action, the plaintiﬀ seeks to
represent a class of allegedly similarly situated employees who performed the same position (Café Manager).
Speciﬁcally, Christine Hartpence ﬁled a complaint against
Barnes & Noble in Philadelphia County Court of Common
Pleas on May 26, 2015, alleging that she is entitled to
unpaid compensation for overtime under Pennsylvania
law and seeking to represent a class of allegedly similarly
situated employees who performed the same position
(Café Manager). On July 14, 2016, Ms. Hartpence amended
her complaint to assert a purported collective action for
alleged unpaid overtime compensation under the federal
Fair Labor Standards Act (FLSA), by which she sought to
act as a class representative for similarly situated Café
Managers throughout the United States. On July 27, 2016,
Barnes & Noble removed the case to the U.S. District Court
of the Eastern District of Pennsylvania. Ms. Hartpence then
voluntarily dismissed her complaint and subsequently
re-ﬁled a similar complaint in the Philadelphia County
Court of Common Pleas. The re-ﬁled complaint alleged
only claims of unpaid overtime under Pennsylvania law and
class claims under Pennsylvania law that were limited to
current and former Café Managers within Pennsylvania. On
June 22, 2017, Ms. Hartpence ﬁled an additional, separate
action in Philadelphia County Court of Common Pleas in
which she repeated her allegations under Pennsylvania law
and asserts a similar claim for unpaid wages under New
Jersey law, purportedly on behalf of herself and others
similarly situated. The Court consolidated the two pending
cases on November 1, 2017. On December 8, 2017, Barnes &
Noble removed the consolidated action after Ms. Hartpence
amended her complaint to add a cause of action under the
FLSA in which Ms. Hartpence purported to assert claims on
behalf of herself and a national class of all similarly situated
Café Managers. The Hartpence matter settled pursuant to a
settlement agreement and release. The Court approved the
settlement in an Order entered on April 25, 2018.
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On September 20, 2016, Kelly Brown ﬁled a complaint
against Barnes & Noble in the U.S. District Court for the
Southern District of New York in which she also alleges that
she is entitled to unpaid compensation under the FLSA and
Illinois law. Ms. Brown seeks to represent a national class
of all similarly situated Café Managers under the FLSA,
as well as an Illinois-based class under Illinois law. On
November 9, 2016, Ms. Brown ﬁled an amended complaint
to add an additional plaintiﬀ named Tiﬀany Stewart, who
is a former Café Manager who also alleges unpaid overtime
compensation in violation of New York law and seeks to
represent a class of similarly situated New York-based Café
Managers under New York law. On May 2, 2017, the Court
denied Plaintiﬀs’ Motion for Conditional Certiﬁcation,
without prejudice. The Plaintiﬀs ﬁled a renewed motion
for Conditional Certiﬁcation on November 17, 2017, which
is now fully briefed by the parties and pending before the
Court. There are currently 23 former Café Managers who
have joined the action as opt-in plaintiﬀs.
Bernardino v. Barnes & Noble Booksellers, Inc.

On June 16, 2017, a putative class action complaint was
ﬁled against Barnes & Noble Booksellers, Inc. (B&N
Booksellers) in the United States District Court for the
Southern District of New York, alleging violations of the
federal Video Privacy Protection Act and related New York
law. The plaintiﬀ, who seeks to represent a class of subscribers of Facebook, Inc. (Facebook) who purchased DVDs
or other video media from the Barnes & Noble website,
seeks damages, injunctive relief and attorneys’ fees, among
other things, based on her allegation that B&N Booksellers
supposedly knowingly disclosed her personally identiﬁable information to Facebook without her consent when
she bought a DVD from Barnes & Noble’s website. On July
10, 2017, the plaintiﬀ moved for a preliminary injunction
requiring Barnes & Noble to change the operation of its
website, which motion B&N Booksellers opposed. On July
31, 2017, B&N Booksellers moved to compel the case to
arbitration, consistent with the terms of use on Barnes &
Noble’s website. On August 28, 2017, the court denied the
plaintiﬀ’s motion for a preliminary injunction. On January
31, 2018, the court granted B&N Booksellers’ motion to
compel arbitration, and the clerk of court closed the case
on February 1, 2018. On March 2, 2018, the plaintiﬀ ﬁled an
appeal in the United States Court of Appeals for the Second
Circuit from the district court’s grant of B&N Booksellers’
motion to compel arbitration.

1 6 . DISCON TIN UED OPERATION S OF BARN ES &
N OBL E EDUCATION , IN C.

On August 2, 2015, Barnes & Noble completed the spinoﬀ of Barnes & Noble Education, Inc. (Barnes & Noble
Education or B&N Education) from Barnes & Noble into an
independent public company (the Spin-Oﬀ) and distributed, on a pro rata basis, all of the shares of B&N Education
common stock to the Company’s stockholders of record
as of July 27, 2015. These Barnes & Noble stockholders of
record as of July 27, 2015 received a distribution of 0.632
shares of B&N Education common stock for each share of
Barnes & Noble common stock held as of the record date.
Immediately following the completion of the Spin-Oﬀ, the
Company’s stockholders owned 100% of the outstanding
shares of common stock of B&N Education. Following the
Spin-Oﬀ, B&N Education operates as an independent public company and as the parent of Barnes & Noble College,
trading on New York Stock Exchange under the ticker
symbol “BNED”.
In connection with the separation of B&N Education, the
Company and B&N Education entered into a Separation
and Distribution Agreement on July 14, 2015 and several
other ancillary agreements on August 2, 2015. These
agreements govern the relationship between the Company
and B&N Education after the separation, allocate between
the Company and B&N Education various assets, liabilities, rights and obligations following the separation and
describe the Company’s future commitments to provide
B&N Education with certain transition services.
This Spin-Oﬀ is expected to be a non-taxable event for
Barnes & Noble and its shareholders, and Barnes & Noble’s
U.S. shareholders (other than those subject to special
rules) generally will not recognize gain or loss as a result of
the distribution of B&N Education shares.
The Company has recognized the separation of B&N
Education in accordance with ASC 205-20, Discontinued
Operations. As such, the historical results of Barnes & Noble
Education have been adjusted to include pre-spin B&N
Education results, separation-related costs and investment
banking fees (as they directly related to the Spin-Oﬀ) and
exclude corporate allocations with B&N Retail, and have
been classiﬁed as discontinued operations.
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The following ﬁnancial information presents the discontinued operations for ﬁscal 2016:

years following the Spin-Oﬀ date or sooner in the event
B&N Education no longer requires such services;

Fiscal 2016
Sales
Cost of sales and occupancy

$238,983
186,697

Gross proﬁt

52,286

Selling and administrative expenses

94,933

Depreciation and amortization

13,100

Operating loss from discontinued operations

(55,747)

Interest expense, net and amortization of deferred ﬁnancing
fees
Loss before income taxes from discontinued operations
Income tax beneﬁt
Net loss from discontinued operations

3
(55,750)
(16,604)
$ (39,146)

17. B A RN E S & NO B LE E D U C AT IO N, IN C .
T RA N SA CT I O N S

Direct Costs Incurred Related to On-going Agreements with
Barnes & Noble Education, Inc. (Subsequent to the Spin-Off)

In connection with the separation of B&N Education,
the Company entered into a Separation and Distribution
Agreement with B&N Education on July 14, 2015 and several
other ancillary agreements on August 2, 2015. These agreements govern the relationship between the parties after the
separation and allocate between the parties various assets,
liabilities, rights and obligations following the separation, including inventory purchases, employee beneﬁts,
intellectual property, information technology, insurance
and tax-related assets and liabilities. The agreements also
describe the Company’s future commitments to provide
B&N Education with certain transition services following
the Spin-Oﬀ. These agreements include the following:
• a Separation and Distribution Agreement that sets
forth the Company’s and B&N Education’s agreements
regarding the principal actions that both parties took in
connection with the Spin-Oﬀ and aspects of this relationship following the Spin-Oﬀ. The term of the agreement is perpetual after the Distribution date;
• a Transition Services Agreement, pursuant to which
the Company agreed to provide B&N Education with
speciﬁed services for a limited time to help ensure an
orderly transition following the Spin-Oﬀ. The Transition
Services Agreement speciﬁes the calculation of B&N
Education costs for these services. The agreement will
expire and services under it will cease no later than two

• a Tax Matters Agreement governs the respective rights,
responsibilities and obligations of the Company and
B&N Education after the Spin-Oﬀ with respect to all
tax matters (including tax liabilities, tax attributes, tax
returns and tax contests). The agreement will expire after
two years following the Spin-Oﬀ date;
• an Employee Matters Agreement with B&N Education,
addressing employment, compensation and beneﬁts
matters, including the allocation and treatment of assets
and liabilities arising out of employee compensation and
beneﬁts programs, in which B&N Education employees participated prior to the Spin-Oﬀ. The agreement
will expire and services under it will cease when B&N
Education no longer requires such services; and
• a Trademark License Agreement, pursuant to which the
Company grants B&N Education an exclusive license in
certain licensed trademarks and a non-exclusive license
in other licensed trademarks. The term of the agreement
is perpetual after the Spin-Oﬀ date.
Summary of Transactions with Barnes & Noble Education,
Inc.

During the 52 weeks ended April 28, 2018, the Company
charged B&N Education $25,930 for purchases of inventory
and direct costs incurred under the agreements discussed
above.
As of April 28, 2018, amounts due from B&N Education for
book purchases and direct costs incurred under the agreements discussed above were $7,849.
1 8 . CERTAIN REL ATION SHIPS AN D REL ATED
TRAN SACTION S

The Company believes that the transactions and agreements discussed below (including renewals of any existing agreements) between the Company and related third
parties are at least as favorable to the Company as could
have been entered into with unrelated parties at the time
they were entered into. The Audit Committee of the Board
of Directors utilizes procedures in evaluating the terms and
provisions of proposed related party transactions or agreements in accordance with the ﬁduciary duties of directors
under Delaware law. The Company’s related party transaction procedures contemplate Audit Committee review and
approval of all new agreements, transactions or courses
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of dealing with related parties, including any modiﬁcations, waivers or amendments to existing related party
transactions. The Company tests to ensure that the terms
of related party transactions are at least as favorable to
the Company as could have been obtained from unrelated
parties at the time of the transaction. The Audit Committee
considers, at a minimum, the nature of the relationship
between the Company and the related party, the history of
the transaction (in the case of modiﬁcations, waivers or
amendments), the terms of the proposed transaction, the
Company’s rationale for entering the transaction and the
terms of comparable transactions with unrelated third parties. In addition, management and internal audit annually
analyze all existing related party agreements and transactions and review them with the Audit Committee.
In ﬁscal 2010, the Company entered into an Aircraft Time
Sharing Agreement with LR Enterprises Management LLC
(LR Enterprises), which is owned by Leonard Riggio and
Louise Riggio, pursuant to which LR Enterprises granted
the Company the right to use a jet aircraft owned by it on a
time-sharing basis in accordance with, and subject to the
reimbursement of certain operating costs and expenses as
provided in, the Federal Aviation Regulations (FAR). Such
operating costs were $185, $153 and $63 during ﬁscal 2018,
ﬁscal 2017 and ﬁscal 2016, respectively. LR Enterprises is
solely responsible for the physical and technical operation of the aircraft, aircraft maintenance and the cost of
maintaining aircraft liability insurance, other than insurance obtained for the speciﬁc ﬂight as requested by the
Company, as provided in the FAR.
The Company has leases for two locations for its corporate
oﬃces with related parties: the ﬁrst location is leased from
an entity, in which Leonard Riggio has a majority interest,
under a lease expiring in 2023, and the second location
is leased from an entity, in which Leonard Riggio has a
minority interest, under a lease expiring in 2023. Both
locations were rented at an aggregate annual rent, including real estate taxes, of approximately $10,503, $9,637
and $7,784 during ﬁscal 2018, ﬁscal 2017 and ﬁscal 2016,
respectively.
The Company leased an oﬃce/warehouse from a partnership, in which Leonard Riggio had a 50% interest, pursuant
to a lease terminated eﬀective December 30, 2015. The
space was rented at an annual rent of $456 during ﬁscal
2016 through the date of termination. Net of subtenant
income, the Company paid rent of $179 during ﬁscal 2016
through the date of termination.

Kimberley A. Van Der Zon is a member of the Company’s
Board of Directors. Ms. Van Der Zon leads the Global Board
Practice at Egon Zehnder (Egon), a global board advisory,
executive search and leadership consulting ﬁrm, which
she joined in 1999. She had served as Partner of Egon from
2005 to April 2018. The Company had retained Egon to
provide recruiting consultation for certain executive positions. Total fees paid to Egon were $253 and $64 during
ﬁscal 2018 and ﬁscal 2017, respectively.
On February 27, 2017, B&N Education purchased MBS
Textbook Exchange, Inc. (MBS), which was then privatelyheld and majority-owned by aﬃliates of Leonard Riggio
(the MBS Purchase). MBS is a new and used textbook
wholesaler, which also sells textbooks online and provides bookstore systems and distant learning distribution
services. Following the MBS Purchase, Leonard Riggio, his
aﬃliates and other members of the Riggio family ceased to
have any ownership interest in MBS.
The Company entered into an agreement with MBS in
2009, which had a term of ten years and contained restrictive covenants limiting the ability of the Company to
become a used textbook wholesaler and placing certain
limitations on MBS’s business activities. The Company
also entered into an agreement with MBS in ﬁscal 2011,
pursuant to which MBS agreed to purchase at the end of a
given semester certain agreed upon textbooks, which the
Company shall have rented to students during such semester. Total sales to MBS under this program were $0 and $2
for ﬁscal 2017 prior to the MBS Purchase and ﬁscal 2016,
respectively. Total outstanding amounts payable to MBS for
all arrangements, net of any amounts due, were $480 for
ﬁscal 2017.
The Company purchases new and used textbooks directly
from MBS. Total purchases were $8,328 and $7,092 for ﬁscal 2017 prior to the MBS Purchase and ﬁscal 2016, respectively. MBS sells used books through the Barnes & Noble
dealer network. The Company earned a commission of $198
and $268 on the MBS used book sales in ﬁscal 2017 prior to
the MBS Purchase and ﬁscal 2016, respectively. In addition, Barnes & Noble hosts pages on its website, through
which Barnes & Noble customers are able to sell used books
directly to MBS. The Company is paid a ﬁxed commission
on the price paid by MBS to the customer. Total commissions paid to the Company under this arrangement were
$47 for ﬁscal 2017 prior to the MBS Purchase.
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In ﬁscal 2010, the Company entered into an agreement
with TXTB.com LLC (TXTB), a subsidiary of MBS, pursuant
to which the marketplace program on the Barnes & Noble
website was made available through the TXTB website. The
Company receives a fee from third-party sellers for sales
of marketplace items sold on the TXTB website and, upon
receipt of such fee, the Company remits a separate fee to
TXTB for those sales. In ﬁscal 2011, the Company entered
into an agreement with TXTB, pursuant to which the
Company became the exclusive provider of trade books to
TXTB customers through the TXTB website. TXTB receives
a commission from the Company on each purchase by a
TXTB customer. In ﬁscal 2013, the Company also entered
into an agreement with MBS Direct, a division of MBS, pursuant to which the marketplace program on the Barnes &
Noble website was made available through the MBS Direct
website. The Company receives a fee from third-party sellers for sales of marketplace items sold on the MBS Direct
website and, upon receipt of such fee, the Company remits
a separate fee to MBS Direct for those sales. Total commissions paid to TXTB and MBS Direct under these arrangements were $645 and $515 during ﬁscal 2017 prior to the
MBS Purchase and ﬁscal 2016, respectively. Outstanding
amounts payable to TXTB and MBS Direct were $5 and $0
for ﬁscal 2017 prior to the MBS Purchase and ﬁscal 2016,
respectively.
The Company was provided with national freight distribution and trucking services by Argix Direct Inc. (Argix), a
company in which a brother of Leonard Riggio owned a
20% interest. The contracted relationship between Argix
and the Company has terminated due to Argix exiting
the industry during ﬁscal 2016. The Company paid Argix
$19,102 for such services during ﬁscal 2016 through the
date of termination.
19. D I VI D E N D S

The Company paid a dividend to common stockholders in
the amount of $43,638 and $43,887 during ﬁscal 2018 and
ﬁscal 2017, respectively.
20. SE VE RA N CE

On February 13, 2018, the Company announced that it has
implemented a new labor model for its stores that has
resulted in the elimination of certain store positions. The
new model will allow stores to adjust staﬀ up or down based
on the needs of the business, increase store productivity
and streamline store operations. Current year also included

home oﬃce reductions as part of the Company’s strategic
initiatives. The Company recorded a charge of $16,212 for
aggregate employee-related severance costs in connection with these actions within selling and administrative
expenses during ﬁscal 2018.
2 1 . EBOOK SETTL EMEN T

The Company provided credits to eligible customers resulting from the settlement reached with Apple Inc. (Apple)
in an antitrust lawsuit ﬁled by various State Attorneys
General and private class plaintiﬀs regarding the price of
digital books. The Company’s customers were entitled to
$95,707 in total credits as a result of the settlement, which
was funded by Apple. If a customer’s credit was not used to
make a purchase by June 24, 2017, the entire credit would
have expired. The program concluded on July 1, 2017,
through which date the Company’s customers had activated
$60,397 in credits, of which $56,472 were redeemed. No
balances were due from the Apple settlement fund as of
April 28, 2018 related to this portion of the program.
On September 7, 2017, the court approved redistribution
of remaining funds from the Apple settlement. Customers
who redeemed some or all of their credits from the ﬁrst
distribution that concluded on July 1, 2017 were eligible to
receive additional credits in October 2017. The Company’s
customers were entitled to $14,815 in total credits as a
result of the redistribution, which were funded by Apple.
This program concluded on April 20, 2018, through which
date the Company’s customers had activated $10,851 in
credits, of which $10,249 were redeemed. Total receivables
from the Apple settlement fund were $452 and $2,478 as of
April 28, 2018 and April 29, 2017, respectively.
2 2 . CEO DEPARTURE

On October 26, 2016, the Company entered into a release
agreement (the Release Agreement) with its former Chief
Executive Oﬃcer, Ronald D. Boire. Under the Release
Agreement, Mr. Boire and the Company agreed to release
claims against each other in connection with Mr. Boire’s
termination of employment in exchange for a cash payment
contemplated by his employment agreement. In connection with the execution of the Release Agreement, Mr. Boire
also agreed to forfeit all equity awards that were granted to
him by the Company.
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The cash payment in connection with the Release
Agreement totaled $4,826. The Company has previously
recognized $1,933 in expense relating to the equity awards
granted to Mr. Boire during his employment. Taking into
account the reversal of those expenses, the Company
recorded a net charge related to the cash payment to Mr.
Boire in connection with the Release Agreement of $2,892
within selling and administrative expenses during ﬁscal
2017.
23. RE SI G N AT I O N C H A R G E

On August 2, 2015, Michael P. Huseby resigned from the
Company’s Board of Directors and as Chief Executive
Oﬃcer of the Company, which was contingent upon the
successful separation of B&N Education. In connection
with his termination of employment, he received severance
payments based on the terms of his employment agreement
with the Company, eﬀective as of January 7, 2014. Under the
terms of his employment agreement, upon a resignation for

“Good Reason”, Mr. Huseby was entitled to receive lumpsum severance equal to two times the sum of (a) annual
base salary, (b) the average annual incentive compensation
paid to the named executive oﬃcer with respect to the
preceding two completed years and (c) the cost of beneﬁts. In addition, Mr. Huseby was entitled to accelerated
vesting of the equity-based awards granted pursuant to his
employment agreement. As a result, Mr. Huseby received
a severance payment equal to $7,742 and additionally was
entitled to 300,000 shares of the Company’s common stock
pursuant to the accelerated vesting of the equity-based
awards, which were settled for cash based on the closing
price of the Company’s common stock on the record date
of the Spin-Oﬀ in an amount equal to $8,022. The net
cash payments related to Mr. Huseby’s resignation totaled
$15,764 during the second quarter of ﬁscal 2016. Mr.
Huseby’s 300,000 shares have been ratably expensed from
the initial grant date, thereby reducing the total resignation
charge to $10,510, which was recorded within selling and
administrative expenses during ﬁscal 2016.

24. SE L E CT E D Q U A R T E R LY FIN A NC IA L INF O R MATION (UN AUDITED)

A summary of quarterly ﬁnancial information for ﬁscal 2018 and ﬁscal 2017 is as follows:

Fiscal 2018 Quarterly Period Ended On

July 29,
2017

October 28,
2017

January 27,
2018

April 28,
2018

Fiscal Year
2018

Sales

$853,316

791,117

1,231,771

786,076

$ 3,662,280

253,481

228,695

400,026

229,001

1,111,203

Net loss

Gross proﬁt

$ (10,778)

(30,094)

(63,536)

(21,072)

$ (125,480)

Basic loss per common share

$

(0.15)

(0.41)

(0.87)

(0.29)

$ (1.73)

Diluted loss per common share

$

(0.15)

(0.41)

(0.87)

(0.29)

$ (1.73)

Fiscal 2017 Quarterly Period Ended On

July 30,
2016

Sales
Gross proﬁt
Net income (loss)

October 29,
2016

January 28,
2017

April 29,
2017

Fiscal Year
2017

$913,882

858,548

277,539

255,375

1,300,908

821,220

$ 3,894,558

436,801

242,487

1,212,202

$ (14,416)

(20,409)

70,276

(13,428)

$ 22,023

Basic income (loss) per common share

$

(0.20)

(0.29)

0.97

(0.19)

$ 0.30

Diluted income (loss) per common share

$

(0.20)

(0.29)

0.96

(0.19)

$ 0.30

25. SU B SE Q U E N T E V E NT S

Dividends to Stockholders

On June 13, 2018, the Company announced its Board of Directors declared a quarterly cash dividend of $0.15 per share,
payable on July 27, 2018 to stockholders of record at the close of business on July 6, 2018.
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R EPORT OF IN DEPEN DEN T R EGISTERED P U B LI C A C C O U N T I N G FI R M
The Board of Directors and Shareholders of Barnes &
Noble, Inc.
Opinion on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance
sheets of Barnes & Noble, Inc. (the “Company”) as of
April 28, 2018 and April 29, 2017, the related consolidated
statements of operations, comprehensive income (loss),
changes in shareholders’ equity and cash ﬂows for each
of the three years in the period ended April 28, 2018, and
the related notes and the ﬁnancial statement schedules
listed in the Index at Item 15(a) (collectively referred to as
the “consolidated ﬁnancial statements”). In our opinion,
the consolidated ﬁnancial statements present fairly, in all
material respects, the ﬁnancial position of the Company
at April 28, 2018 and April 29, 2017, and the results of its
operations and its cash ﬂows for each of the three years in
the period ended April 28, 2018, in conformity with U.S.
generally accepted accounting principles.
We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of
the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United
States) (PCAOB), the Company’s internal control over
ﬁnancial reporting as of April 28, 2018, based on criteria
established in Internal Control-Integrated Framework
issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations
of the Treadway Commission (2013 framework), and
our report dated June 21, 2018 expressed an unqualiﬁed
opinion thereon.
Basis for Opinion

These ﬁnancial statements are the responsibility of the
Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express
an opinion on the Company’s ﬁnancial statements based
on our audits. We are a public accounting ﬁrm registered
with the PCAOB and are required to be independent with
respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal
securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of
the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards
of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the ﬁnancial statements are free of material
misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. Our audits
included performing procedures to assess the risks of
material misstatement of the ﬁnancial statements, whether
due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that
respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and
disclosures in the ﬁnancial statements. Our audits also
included evaluating the accounting principles used and
signiﬁcant estimates made by management, as well as
evaluating the overall presentation of the ﬁnancial statements. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable
basis for our opinion.
Ernst & Young LLP

We have served as the Company’s auditor since 2012.
New York, NY
June 21, 2018
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R E PORT OF IND EPEN DEN T R EGISTERED P U B LI C A C C O U N T I N G FI R M
The Board of Directors and Shareholders of Barnes &
Noble, Inc.
Opinion on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

We have audited Barnes & Noble, Inc.’s internal control over ﬁnancial reporting as of April 28, 2018, based
on criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated
Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission (2013 framework) (the COSO criteria). In our opinion, Barnes & Noble,
Inc. (the Company) maintained, in all material respects,
eﬀective internal control over ﬁnancial reporting as of
April 28, 2018, based on the COSO criteria.
We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of
the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United
States) (PCAOB), the 2018 consolidated balance sheets of
the Company as of April 28, 2018 and April 29, 2017, the
related consolidated statements of operations, comprehensive income (loss), changes in shareholders’ equity and
cash ﬂows for each of the three years in the period ended
April 28, 2018, and the related notes and the ﬁnancial
statement schedules listed in the Index at Item 15(a), and
our report dated June 21, 2018 expressed an unqualiﬁed
opinion thereon.
Basis for Opinion

The Company’s management is responsible for maintaining eﬀective internal control over ﬁnancial reporting and
for its assessment of the eﬀectiveness of internal control
over ﬁnancial reporting included in the accompanying
Management’s Annual Report on Internal Control over
Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to express an
opinion on the Company’s internal control over ﬁnancial
reporting based on our audit. We are a public accounting
ﬁrm registered with the PCAOB and are required to be
independent with respect to the Company in accordance
with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable
rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange
Commission and the PCAOB.
We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards
of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether eﬀective internal control over ﬁnancial reporting
was maintained in all material respects.
Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal
control over ﬁnancial reporting, assessing the risk that a
material weakness exists, testing and evaluating the design

and operating eﬀectiveness of internal control based on the
assessed risk, and performing such other procedures as we
considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that
our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.
Deﬁnition and Limitations of Internal Control Over Financial
Reporting

A company’s internal control over ﬁnancial reporting is a
process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of ﬁnancial reporting and the preparation
of ﬁnancial statements for external purposes in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s
internal control over ﬁnancial reporting includes those
policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance
of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly
reﬂect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the
company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of
ﬁnancial statements in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures
of the company are being made only in accordance with
authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding
prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition,
use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a
material eﬀect on the ﬁnancial statements.
Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over
ﬁnancial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of eﬀectiveness
to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may
become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or
that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.
Ernst & Young LLP

New York, NY
June 21, 2018
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M ANAGEM ENT’S RES P ON SIBILITY FO R C O N S O LI D AT E D FI N A N C I A L S TAT E ME N T S
The management of Barnes & Noble, Inc. is responsible
for the contents of the Consolidated Financial Statements,
which are prepared in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.
The Consolidated Financial Statements necessarily include
amounts based on judgments and estimates. Financial
information elsewhere in the Annual Report is consistent
with that in the Consolidated Financial Statements.
The Company maintains a comprehensive accounting
system, which includes controls designed to provide reasonable assurance as to the integrity and reliability of the
ﬁnancial records and the protection of assets. An internal
audit staﬀ is employed to regularly test and evaluate both
internal accounting controls and operating procedures,
including compliance with the Company’s statement of
policy regarding ethical and lawful conduct. The Audit
Committee of the Board of Directors composed of directors who are not members of management, meets regularly
with management, the independent registered public
accountants and the internal auditors to ensure that their
respective responsibilities are properly discharged. Ernst
& Young LLP and the Internal Audit Department of the
Company have full and free independent access to the Audit
Committee. The role of Ernst & Young LLP, an independent
registered public accounting ﬁrm, is to provide an objective examination of the Consolidated Financial Statements
and the underlying transactions in accordance with the
standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight
Board. The report of Ernst & Young LLP accompanies the
Consolidated Financial Statements.

OTHER IN F ORMATION

The Company has included the Section 302 certiﬁcations
of the Chief Executive Oﬃcer and the Chief Financial
Oﬃcer of the Company as Exhibits 31.1 and 31.2 to its
Annual Report on Form 10-K for ﬁscal 2018 ﬁled with the
Securities and Exchange Commission, and the Company
will submit to the New York Stock Exchange a certiﬁcate of
the Chief Executive Oﬃcer of the Company certifying that
he is not aware of any violation by the Company of New York
Stock Exchange corporate governance listing standards.
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S H A REHOLDER IN FOR MATION
BARN E S & N O B L E , IN C .
BOA RD O F D I RE CT O R S

B A R N E S & NO B L E , IN C.
E X E C U T IV E O FF IC ERS

COMMON STOCK PRICE RAN GE AN D
DIVIDEN D IN F ORMATION

Leonard Riggio

Leonard Riggio

Chairman
Barnes & Noble, Inc.

Chairman

George Campbell, Jr.

Chief Financial Oﬃcer

The Company’s common stock is traded on the New York
Stock Exchange (NYSE) under the symbol BKS. The following table sets forth, for the quarterly periods indicated, the
high and low sales prices of the common stock on the NYSE
Composite Tape.

President Emeritus
The Cooper Union for the
Advancement of Science
and Art

Allen W. Lindstrom
Mary Ellen Keating

Senior Vice President of
Corporate Communications
and Public Aﬀairs

HIGH

LOW

First Quarter

$ 8.70

$ 6.25

Vice President and Chief
Merchandising Oﬃcer

Second Quarter

$ 8.30

$ 6.60

Third Quarter

$ 8.00

$ 4.83

President Emeritus
Tulane University

Carl Hauch

Fourth Quarter

$ 5.80

$ 4.10

Vice President, Stores

FISCAL YEAR 2017

William Dillard, II

Bradley A. Feuer

First Quarter

$13.31

$10.25

Chairman and Chief
Executive Oﬃcer
Dillard’s, Inc.

Vice President, General
Counsel and Corporate
Secretary

Second Quarter

$13.63

$10.15

Third Quarter

$13.20

$ 9.40

Frederic D. Argir

Fourth Quarter

$10.95

$ 8.45

Al Ferrara

Mark D. Carleton

Chief Financial Oﬃcer
Liberty Media
Scott S. Cowen

Timothy Mantel

Certiﬁed Public Accountant,
Retired Partner
BDO USA, LLP

Vice President and Chief
Digital Oﬃcer

Paul Guenther

Vice President and Chief
Information Oﬃcer

Former President
PaineWebber Group, Inc.
Patricia L. Higgins

Former President and Chief
Executive Oﬃcer
Switch & Data Facilities
Company, Inc.
Kimberley Van Der Zon

Senior Advisor, Global Board
and CEO Practices
Egon Zehnder

William E. Wood

Peter M. Herpich

Vice President, Corporate
Controller and Principal
Accounting Oﬃcer
Michelle Smith

Vice President of Human
Resources

FISCAL YEAR 2018

As of June 30, 2018 there were 72,793,646 shares of
common stock outstanding held by 1,644 shareholders
of record, which includes 140,840 shares of unvested
restricted stock that have voting rights and are held by
members of the Board of Directors and the Company’s
employees.
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C O RPORATE IN F ORMATION
Corporate Headquarters:

Stock Performance Chart

Barnes & Noble, Inc.
122 Fifth Avenue
New York, New York 10011
(212) 633-3300

The Stock Price Performance Chart below compares the
cumulative stockholder return of the Company with that
of the S&P 500 Index and the Dow Jones US Specialty
Retailers Index over the ﬁve ﬁscal year period beginning
April 27, 2013. The comparison assumes $100 was invested
on April 27, 2013 in shares of our common stock and in
each of the indices shown, and assumes that all of the
dividends were reinvested.

Common Stock:

New York Stock Exchange, Symbol: BKS
Transfer Agent and Registrar:

Computershare
P.O. 505000
Louisville, KY 40233
Stockholder Inquiries: (866) 209-1207

Comparison of 5-Year Total Return Among Barnes & Noble, Inc.,
S&P 500 Stock Index and Dow Jones US Specialty Retailers Index

$200

Website: www.computershare.com/investor
Counsel:

$150

Cravath, Swaine & Moore LLP, New York, New York
$100

Independent Public Accountants:

Ernst & Young LLP, New York, New York

$50

Stockholder Services:

Inquiries from our stockholders and potential investors are
always welcome.
General ﬁnancial information can be obtained by visiting
the Company’s Corporate Website:
www.barnesandnobleinc.com.
You can obtain copies of our Annual Reports, Form 10-K
and 10-Q documents and other ﬁnancial information, free
of charge, on the “For Investors” section of the Company’s
Corporate Website: www.barnesandnobleinc.com.
All other inquiries should be directed to:

Investor Relations Department, Barnes & Noble, Inc.
122 Fifth Avenue, New York, New York 10011
Phone: (212) 633-3489

$0
4/27/2013

5/3/2014

Barnes & Noble, Inc.

5/2/2015

4/30/2016

S&P 500 Stock Index

4/29/2017

4/28/2018

Dow Jones US Speciality
Retailers Index
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BARNES & NOB L E BES TSELL ERS 20 18
TOP 1 0 H A RD CO VE R
FICT I O N

TOP 10 HARDCOVER
N O N-F IC T IO N

T OP 1 0 PAPERBACK
NON -F ICTION

TOP 1 0 PAPERBACK
F ICTION

Origin

Fire and Fury

You Are a Badass

Dan Brown
Knopf Doubleday
Publishing Group

Michael Wolﬀ
Henry Holt & Co.

Jen Sincero
Running Press Book
Publishers

The Sun and Her
Flowers

TOP 1 0 JUVENI LE
Wonder

The Rooster Bar

The Subtle Art of Not
Giving a F*ck

John Grisham
Knopf Doubleday
Publishing Group

Mark Manson
HarperCollins
Publishers

Camino Island

Leonardo da Vinci

John Grisham
Knopf Doubleday
Publishing Group

Walter Isaacson
Simon & Schuster

Rand McNally Road
Atlas

Rand McNally
Rand McNally
The Ofﬁcial SAT Study
Guide

Rupi Kaur
Andrews McMeel
Publishing
Milk and Honey

Rupi Kaur
Andrews McMeel
Publishing
It

The College Board
College Board

Stephen King
Scribner

Into the Water

Obama: An Intimate
Portrait

The Glass Castle

The Woman in Cabin 10

Paula Hawkins
Penguin Publishing
Group

Pete Souza
Little, Brown and
Company

Jeannette Walls
Scribner

Ruth Ware
Gallery/Scout Press

The 5 Love Languages

The Handmaid’s Tale

A Gentleman in
Moscow

Grant

Gary Chapman
Moody Publishers

Margaret Atwood
Knopf Doubleday
Publishing Group

Amor Towles
Penguin Publishing
Group
A Column of Fire

Ken Follett
Penguin Publishing
Group
The Midnight Line

Lee Child
Random House
Publishing Group
End Game

David Baldacci
Grand Central
Publishing
The Woman in the
Window

A. J. Finn
HarperCollins
Publishers
The People vs. Alex
Cross

James Patterson
Grand Central
Publishing

Ron Chernow
Penguin Publishing
Group
What Happened

Hillary Rodham Clinton
Simon & Schuster
Astrophysics for People
in a Hurry

Neil deGrasse Tyson
W. W. Norton &
Company
Killing England

Bill O’Reilly and Martin
Dugard
Henry Holt & Co.
Hillbilly Elegy

J. D. Vance
HarperCollins
Publishers
A Higher Loyalty

James Comey
Flatiron Books

The Ofﬁcial ACT Prep
Guide

Ready Player One

ACT
Wiley

Ernest Cline
Crown/Archetype

What to Expect When
You’re Expecting

The Alchemist

Heidi Murkoﬀ and
Sharon Mazel
Workman Publishing
Company, Inc.
How to Win Friends and
Inﬂuence People

Dale Carnegie
Gallery Books

J. K. Rowling
Scholastic
The Getaway

Jeﬀ Kinney
ABRAMS
Harry Potter and the
Prisoner of Azkaban

J. K. Rowling
Scholastic
Good Night Stories for
Rebel Girls

Elena Favilli
Timbuktu Labs, Inc.
Oh, the Places You’ll
Go!

Dr. Seuss
Random House
Children’s Books
A Wrinkle in Time

Lilac Girls

The Dark Prophecy

Martha Hall Kelly
Random House
Publishing Group

Rick Riordan
Disney Press

All the Light We Cannot
See

Nicola Yoon
Random House
Children’s Books

Anthony Doerr
Scribner

Erik Larson
Knopf Doubleday
Publishing Group

Fahrenheit 451

Robert Greene
Penguin Publishing
Group

Harry Potter and the
Sorcerer’s Stone

Paulo Coelho
HarperCollins
Publishers

The Devil in the
White City

The 48 Laws of Power

R. J. Palacio
Random House
Children’s Books

Ray Bradbury
Simon & Schuster

Madeleine L’Engle
Square Fish

Everything, Everything

Turtles All the Way
Down

John Green
Penguin Young Readers
Group
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AWA R D W I N N E R S
TOP 1 0 N O O K
BO O KS

SLEEPERS

T HE PUL ITZER
P RIZE

One of Us Is Lying
Origin

Dan Brown
Knopf Doubleday
Publishing Group
The Rooster Bar

John Grisham
Knopf Doubleday
Publishing Group
Camino Island

John Grisham
Random House
Publishing Group

Karen M. McManus
Random House
Children’s Books
The Plant Paradox

Steven R. Gundry
HarperCollins
Publishers
Magpie Murders

Anthony Horowitz
HarperCollins
Publishers

The Midnight Line

The Women in the
Castle

Lee Child
Random House
Publishing Group

Jessica Shattuck
HarperCollins
Publishers

16th Seduction

Why Buddhism is True

James Patterson and
Maxine Paetro
Little, Brown and
Company

Robert Wright
Simon & Schuster

Fire and Fury

Michael Wolﬀ
Henry Holt & Co.
End Game

David Baldacci
Grand Central
Publishing
Two Kinds of Truth

Michael Connelly
Little, Brown and
Company
Before We Were Yours

Lisa Wingate
Random House
Publishing Group
The People vs. Alex
Cross

James Patterson
Little, Brown and
Company

The Wife Between Us

Greer Hendricks and
Sarah Pekkanen
St. Martin’s Press
Code Girls

Liza Mundy
Hachette Books
Educated

Tara Westover
Random House
Publishing Group
I’ve Loved You Since
Forever

Hoda Kotb
HarperCollins
Publishers
Children of Blood and
Bone

Tomi Adeyemi
Henry Holt & Co.

THE N ATION AL
BOOK CRITICS
CIRCL E AWARDS

Less

THE MAN BOOKER
PRIZE F OR F I CTI ON
Lincoln in the Bardo

Improvement

Andrew Sean Greer
Little, Brown and
Company
Fiction

Joan Silber
Counterpoint Press
Fiction

The Gulf

Prairie Fires

Jack E. Davis
Liveright Publishing
Corporations
History

Caroline Fraser
Henry Holt & Co.
Biography
Nine Continents

Matthew Cordell
Feiwel and Friends

Half-light

Xiaolu Guo
Grove
Autobiography

THE N EW BERY
MEDAL

Frank Bidart
Farrar, Straus and
Giroux
Poetry
Prairie Fires

Caroline Fraser
Henry Holt & Co.
Biography or
Autobiography
Locking Up Our Own

James Forman Jr.
Farrar, Straus and
Giroux
General Nonﬁction
Cost of Living

Martyna Majok
Theatre
Communications Group
Drama

You Play The Girl

Carina Chocano
Houghton Miﬄin
Harcourt
Criticism
The Evangelicals

Frances FitzGerald
Simon & Schuster
General Nonﬁction
Whereas

Layli Long Soldier
Graywolf Press
Poetry

George Saunders
Random House
Publishing Group
THE CAL DECOTT
MEDAL
Wolf in the Snow

Hello, Universe

Erin Entrada Kelly
HarperCollins
Publishers
THE CORETTA
SCOTT KIN G
AUTHOR AWARD
Piecing Me Together

Renée Watson
Bloomsbury USA
THE HUGO AWARD

Her Body and Other
Parties

The Obelisk Gate

Carmen Maria Machado
Graywolf Press
John Leonard Prize

N. K. Jemisin
Orbit
Novel

THE DISCOVER
AWARDS

THE EDGAR AWARD

Sing, Unburied, Sing

Jesmyn Ward
Scribner
Fiction

Sorry to Disrupt the
Peace

T HE N ATION AL
BOOK AWARDS

The Future Is History

Masha Gessen
Penguin Publishing
Group
Nonﬁction
Half-light

Frank Bidart
Farrar, Straus and
Giroux
Poetry
Far From the Tree

Robin Benway
HarperCollins
Publishers
Young People’s Literature

Bluebird, Bluebird

Patty Yumi Cottrell
McSweeney’s
Publishing
Fiction
Nomadland

Jessica Bruder
W. W. Norton &
Company
Nonﬁction

Attica Locke
Little, Brown and
Company
Novel
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